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China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the “Company” or “Modern Dairy”) was established
in September 2005, specializing in dairy farming and milk production with headquarters
located in the Economic and Technological Development Zone in Ma’anshan City, Anhui
Province. Modern Dairy (stock code: 01117-HK) was successfully listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange on 26 November 2010, making itself the world’s first company listed using
dairy farming resources. The Company is the largest dairy farming company and raw milk
producer in China in term of herd size and supply of raw milk. The Company initiated the
production model of “zero-distance integration of forage grass planting, cow breeding and
milk processing within two hours” which is the first and only enterprise at present in China that
qualified with SGS certification. Up to early of 2018, the Company has been awarded with the
gold price for five consecutive years at Monde Selection, which is generally regarded as “Nobel
Prize in food quality” in the food industry.
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HIGHLIGHTS
e

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2017 amounted
to approximately RMB4,784 million, representing a slight
decrease of approximately 1.6% (2016: RMB4,862 million).

Sales volume of raw milk (totalling external and internal sales)
amounted to approximately 1.15 million tons, representing a
year-on-year 13.8% increase.

Reduced in the cash cost of raw milk to RMB2.43/kg for the
year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: RMB2.53/kg), as a
result of effective cost control of the Group’s farms.

Increased in the average annual milk yield to 9.8 tons
per milkable cow for the year ended 31 December 2017,
representing an uplift of 0.4 tons or 4.3% (2016: 9.4 tons per
milkable cow), attributable to the efficient operation of dairy
farming.

Subsequent to the reporting period, pure milk of the Group
was, for the fifth consecutive year, awarded the gold prize of
Monde Selection, a honor generally regarded as “Nobel Prize”
in the food and beverage industry, signifying the Group’s
products have already been well recognized globally.

Disposal of interest in milk production business units to
Mengniu Group to form joint venture was approved by
shareholders in early of 2018. By leveraging on Mengniu’s
Group’s solid distribution network and marketing team, the
Group could focus on upstream dairy farm business with
secure robust income while strategically exploit new products.

Launch of “Fresh” ([##7&]), the Group’s new pure milk
product which made its debut in July 2017, is well recognized
by the retail market. In late 2017, “Fresh” has been awarded
the title of “Official Milk of the 2018 FIFA World Cup™,
marking a big leap forward made by Modern Dairy onto the
international stage.

Synergies with Mengniu Group are emerging along with the
completion of the mandatory cash offer by Mengniu which
increased its interest in the Company. Positive synergistic
effect was reflected on areas of procurement, financing, sales
and marketing, production capacity and brand development.
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CEO’S STATEMENT

BRAREE

“Lay a solid foundation,
integrate innovation and
start with a better self

FEEE BSAN

HEEIFRIE C L&

Ms. GAO Lina
BEHzt

Chief Executive Officer
A
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CEQ’s Statement AFKEE

In 2017, the domestic dairy farming industry was still confronted
with severe challenges, even though raw milk prices had already
bottomed out and now rebounced. As a pioneer in large-scale
farming in mainland China and the world’s first listed company
with dairy farming resources, the Group initiated the production
model of “zero-distance integration of forage grass planting, cow
breeding and milk processing within two hours”. Large-scale farms
in upstream and modern processing plants in downstream formed
linkages to realise the organic integration and zero-distance and
seamless connection between primary, secondary and tertiary
industry.

The Group's milk quality having achieved international dairy
standards has won a widespread recognition worldwide.
In March 2018, at Monde Selection, which is generally regarded as
“Nobel Prize” in food quality in food industry, the Group’s pure milk
product was awarded with gold prize for five years consecutively,
reaching a record high in the world’s pure milk category. The room-
temperature yogurt of the Group was awarded with silver prize for
the first time in 2017 at the same event, which symbolised the milk
quality of the Group had been consistently ahead of the world-class
standards. On 20 June 2017, the Group became the first and only
enterprise in China that qualified with SGS certification, indicating
that our innovative production model of “integration of forage
grass planting, cow breeding and milk processing” has passed the
stringent inspection conducted by an international authoritative
inspection institution and achieved the world-class standards. On
5 July 2017, the Group was awarded “Health Leader Award” for
Seven-Star Convention Alliance Award, proving that the Group’s
products and enterprise quality have been well recognised.

In December 2017, Ms. Gao Lina, the executive Director and
CEO of the Group, was awarded with “China Financing Grand
Prize — Award for Best Business Leader of The Year”. The award
aimed at recognising the outstanding management personnel in
the industry, and was also a recognition to the operation model
of the Group. In December 2017, the Group was named “the
Most Socially Responsible Listed Company in 2017 Golden
Hong Kong Stock Awards” which was selected by a committee
of experts, and accompanied with corresponding public voting
weights, demonstrating that the Group has upheld the concept of
environmental protection development and proactively fulfills its
corporate social responsibilities to build up its initial aspiration of
manufacturing good milk with the craftsmanship spirit in China.
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Since Mengniu completed the mandatory cash offer for the Group
in March 2017, business collaboration between the Group and
Mengniu had been further fortified. Mengniu owns 60.76% of the
issued share capital of the Group as at the date of this report. A
closer cooperation with Mengniu, a leading enterprise dairy industry
in mainland China, will not only lay a solid base for the Group’s
sale of high quality raw milk, but also help deliver our brand milk
with “purity, genuineness, freshness and vitality” to thousands of
families by leveraging on Mengniu’s all-rounded sales networks.
On 11 July 2017, the “Fresh” room-temperature pure milk, which
is jointly launched by the Group and Mengniu, made its debut. Its
innovative design with the silver "refrigerator" concept symbolized
keeping milk fresh as a refrigerator does and highlighted the
unique advantages of "only two hours from milking to processing”
of the Group. Afterward, the “Fresh” became the title sponsor in
a popular internet variety talk show named Rock & Roast, which
brought huge attention to the brand via web-based marketing and
promotion events continuously. On the Valentine's Day in 2018, the
Group launched a European style yogurt “L’ Amour”, for which we
mix Modern Dairy’s high-quality milk sources with finely selected
European imports of bacteria, and from milking to processing
it takes less than two hours. We provided consumers with dual
tastes of true love rose and romantic cranberry. The expansion of
downstream brands helped the Group develop its market, enhance
its brand awareness and create more development opportunities.
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CEQ’'s Statement A& REE

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the operation standard of dairy industry in China
is constantly improving, and fast industry transformation and
consumption and production upgrades have brought great
potential for the development of dairy industry. The consumption
of dairy products is expected to enter into a new stage due to the
wealth effect and mounting consumption stimulated by the uplift of
national economy and the gradual shattering of binary economic
structure. The central government in recent years has successively
promulgated a number of policies to strengthen its supports and
guidances to dairy industry. At the beginning of 2017, the National
Dairy Industry Development Plan (2016-2020) (“Plan”) jointly
promulgated by the Ministry of Agriculture, National Development
and Reform Commission, Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology, Ministry of Commerce and China Food and Drug
Administration was officially released. The Plan outlined eleven
tasks including “Developing Standardized Dairy Farming in Large-
scale”, “Accelerating Industrial Integration”, “Building Domestic
Dairy Brands” and etc. As the largest dairy farming company and
raw milk supplier in China, the Group believes that a sound and
sustainable development of dairy industry is rooted on an effective
link and synergistic collaboration of each element within the industry
chain. Through the ever-created green and cyclic economy model
of zero-distance integration of forage grass planting, cow breeding
and milk processing and only two hours from milking to processing,
the Group is committed to establishing a national brand and a
world-class modern farming enterprise. The Group will capitalise on
the opportunity, ride on the trend and continue to stand out in the
historic opportunity of the dairy industry's transformation.

Stepping into 2018, with the supply and demand of raw milk
reaching equilibrium in China, the price of raw milk is expected
to pick up modestly, and the Group’s profit margin would be
significantly improved. The Group commits to building a world
class and most sophisticated farms, producing the best quality
milk and focusing our devotion, profession and endeavour into
the development of China’s dairy industry, so as to provide the
most nutritious milk for consumers and maximize the value for
shareholders of the Company.
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The Group will resolutely adhere to the basic principle of quality first,
promote scientific breeding and feeding technologies proactively,
increase milk yield and quality, enhance competitiveness,
and achieve transformation from product to brand and from
manufacturing to creation.

As a Chinese saying goes, “The majestic pass and endless odyssey
were clad in iron. Conquering them and beginning a new journey
we carry on”. Looking back on 2017, despite the complicated
conditions, the Group completed its epic self-transformation.
As the Chinese always believe “Achievement of success lies
in great determination and completion of achievement, in hard
work”. Looking ahead to 2018, the Group will always strive for a
sustainable and healthy development, continue to leverage on its
own milk resources and advanced management advantages, and
take the lead in transformation and upgrade in dairy industry.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express our gratitude to all our staff for their dedicated service
and contribution over the year, and also extend our thanks to our
shareholders, customers and business partners for their trust and
support.

GAO Lina
Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 26 March 2018
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AWARDS AND SIGNIFICANT EVENTS
RIER KB

Award Summary for 2017

2017FERER
ERERE REEE BRI Date of Remark
(#/8) (HX) (h30) award Name of award Awarding body e
201838  [HREMAE tRRmmE Mar-18 Gold Prize of “Monde Monde Selection
qERE |28 JERE Selection” (Room-
(ERE) temperature pure milk)
2017564  [HARGmE tRRmmE Jun-17 Gold Prize of “Monde Monde Selection
JERE |28k JERE Selection” (Room-
(EREM) temperature pure milk)
2017568  [tRAMRETNE tRRmmE Jun-17 Silver Prize of “Monde Monde Selection
gl JERE Selection” (Room-
(EREED) temperature yogurt)
2017%66R  [BENI-BtE HIBRALET Jun-17 Production mode of Swiss SGS certification
EEAESGSHRE  SGSRE “integration of planting,
breeding and processing”
recognized by SGS
201767H  [RERSIER FRETHERM Ju-17 Health Leader Award The 6th China Seven-Star
EEtE% Convention Alliance Award
2017108 2017HERS FRESHE Oct-17 The Advertiser Award of ~ China Advertising
RERES TR The Greatwall Award of Association
China 2017
2017511 RIERmEEIH RIEER A& Nov-17 Gold Prize of Brand Creative International
&% Innovation Innovation Festival
2017128 2017 BRE HBHEELHERE  Dec-17 Attitude Boldness Award ~ NetEase Attitude
EIRAEREE of NetEase Attitude Marketing Award
PR Marketing Award 2017
0175128 FERELEER  REREAR Dec-17 Best Business Leader of ~ China Financing Grand
The Year Prize
2017512 HEMEEMAE EER Dec-17 Award for the Most Golden Hong Kong Stock
iVACIYN: Social Responsible Listed

J J
AWARD AWARD

Company

OLD GOLD GC
AWARD AWARD AWARD

g
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Awards and Significant Events #8188 & K=

Significant Events for 2017

2017TFERERLER
Date Events
HE =
February 2017

20 February 2017

14 February 2017

2017524
20172 A20H

20172 14H

March 2017
21 March 2017
201743 A
201793 H21H

May 2017
29 May 2017

201755A4
201745H29H

Mr. Wang Yang, the Vice Premier of the State Council by then, Mr. Lu Weifung, the Vice-
governor of Heilongjiang Province and Mr. Song Xibin, the Mayor of Harbin conducted site
visit and research to Shuangcheng Farm of Modern Dairy. Our management, Mr. Han Chunlin,
accompanied them on the visit.

Mengniu made a conditional mandatory cash offer to acquire the entire issued shares of the
Company.

RERKREAIETIFEE  REIAIEARGBESLEL  BREETHRRBEALEF 171
R AREERBS B E AN BEMCESHBREARRZE -
STRMBRIFRFMEREBHRBAR R 2D HITRMD

Conditional mandatory cash offer made by Mengniu completed.

STRMMERTRBIER S BTN

Pure milk of Modern Dairy won the gold prize of Monde Selection, renowned as “Nobel Prize”
in the food industry, for the fourth consecutive year, whereas the yogurt of Modern Dairy was
awarded with the silver prize for the first time. They represented that the quality of Modern Dairy
milk is now able to meet the high requirement on evaluation benchmark of international food
continuously.

B AN TR EERRE HAME 2 BO[ RARREFEAR] DI - AH
BARM R E RSB AR - BRBRRUEFDORE DR T AR RRTE
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Awards and Significant Events #8188 & KE:0

Date Events

B =4

June 2017

16 June 2017 Hosted by China Dairy Association, the 8th Dairy Conference of China & 2017 China Dairy

Exhibition was convened in Nanjing International Expo Center. As one of the top 20 enterprises
in China dairy industry, Modern Dairy attended the exhibition and shared advanced models with
high-quality products such as pure milk, which won the international gold prize for the fourth
consecutive year.

20 June 2017 On 20 June, Modern Dairy’s production mode of “integration of planting, breeding and
processing” officially passed the Swiss SGS certification, becoming the first and only enterprise
in China whose integration production model passed SGS certification.
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Awards and Significant Events #8188 & K=

Events

=4

July 2017
5 July 2017

11 July 2017

20 July 2017

27 July 2017

2017578
201747 H5H

2017F7H11H

201747 H20H
20177 H27H

August 2017
9 August 2017

201748AH
201798 A9H

China Seven-Star Convention Alliance held an award ceremony of the 6th China Seven-Star
Convention Alliance Award in Beijing. Modern Dairy was award with “Health Leader Award”.

The press conference of Modern Dairy winning the world gold prize for four consecutive years
and achievement reports of high-quality dairy was convened in Beijing. “Fresh”, the new
products of Modern Dairy, made its debut in the press conference.

“Quality Report of China Dairy Industry (2017)” revealed that the leading enterprises of dairy
industry in China such as Modern Dairy had an outstanding performance.

D20 Summit for Dairy Industry of China 2017 was convened in Qigihar, Heilongjiang. Yu
Kangzhen, the Vice Minister of Agriculture, Mr. Gao Hongbin, the chairman of China Dairy
Association and Mr. Sun Meijun, the Director of Safety Control of the China Food and Drug
Administration, attended the summit. Ms. Gao Lina, attended the summit and gave a speech in
relation to “milking to processing within two hours”.

HTERMEFECEANBBZENE NETERMEF L ERBERABNIL REERT B
AR @S| BER TR -
ARBENEREER S REFLIXNRRENEEMSEILRAR  RARET R EHEIEE
fog EER=MA

(PEIMEEERE2017)EM - HEWRALRESFTFRPFAELERRARS -

2017 BIED0BEEREIERREM AN REMIBETRE  PEPEHEEES
BE ERRGEREEEEARAMAEEEAEREBESTEEHLESS - SERFLLHRE
SR B 2/ S BN RN T IR RORE -

Delivery for Modern Dairy’s “Fresh” pure milk was made for the first time, with package adopting
the innovative design concept of fridge, keeping milk fresh by “milking to processing within two
hours”.

RAMEIERE AT NEE  BRERAEAFREKETE  BAIMENEIMTRF2/ 6 IH
EFPREE -

Innovative Integration of Planting, Breeding AFPEEMNT —E{iEX

and Processing

] Collect milk E iking t
from various Clad o r 2H0urs p:gg‘eg‘s'inéng o
farms JNEE .
- BIEHSRI | ) ! NG mmmIzER

v 244ours 1

>CMD’s integration of Planting, Breeding and > By BEN T EERasE:  BomraEE
Processing, reduce the two heat treatments and maximize TE BARENRE T HHFHOEENENERAD

milk’s bioactive substances and nutrients.

>The only domestic enterprise with integration mode of Planting, > @R —t— - eaut BBSCSREHney
Breeding and Processing recognized by SGS
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Awards and Significant Events #8188 & KE:0

Date Events

B =4

September 2017

September 2017 Modern Dairy successfully raised funds of three-year syndicated loan amounting to USD300

27 September 2017

2017594
20174 9A
20179 H27H

October 2017
19 October 2017

24 October 2017
20175104
201710 A19H

201710 A24H
November 2017
14 November 2017
25 November 2017
2017F118
201711 A14H
2017911 A25H

December 2017

2017412 A

million.

As the designated dairy product of “the Belt and Road” Ecological Agriculture and Food
Safety Forum, Modern Dairy’s “Fresh” pure milk was introduced at the 9th “the Belt and Road”
Ecological Agriculture and Food Safety Forum of Euro-Asia Economic Forum 2017.

BRBERNBHEIBRTIFHREER
RRBERBATDER —F R EREXERR
FNEI—F—RILERERRRLEWERME -

T 2B M5 TE FLaa R 201 7B 50 48 5 v 18

The documentary “China Revealed”, the third season of “China’s Mega Projects IlI” of CCTV
focused on large-scale breeding and “integrated production model with zero distance” practiced
by leading companies in the industry represented by Modern Dairy.

Modern Dairy’s “Fresh” won “The Advertiser Award of The Greatwall Award of China 2017”.
CCTVA A (BRTIE)E= TERLEENREL
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The chairman of Monde Selection visited Bengbu Farm of Modern Dairy.
The work of “Package Design of Modern Dairy’s Fresh” was awarded with Gold Prize of Brand
Innovation at Creative International Innovation Festival 2017.
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“Fresh”, a room-temperature pure milk, has been awarded the title of “Official Milk of the 2018
FIFA World Cup™”, marking a big leap forward made by Modern Dairy onto the international
stage.
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Xian Yu White Milk
of the company
Modern Farming (Group) Co., Ltd

has been granted a
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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INDUSTRY OVERVIEW: RECOVERED FROM
COLD WINTER

After the Chinese Lunar New Year in 2017, as demand for raw
milk from major dairy enterprises plunged, surplus of raw milk in
the market led to a continuous decrease in raw milk price. For
each summer as a seasonal effect, raw milk production decreases
due to the heat stress of cows caused by the high temperature
and rainy weather throughout the country. The upstream dairy
industry suffered from distressed business environment, with small-
scale farms’ withdrawal from the market and large-scale farms’
decreasing operation profitability.

In the second half of 2017, International Farm Comparison Network
(IFCN) announced at the 18th IFCN Dairy Conference held in Kyle,
Germany that the second global dairy crisis since 2013 has come
to an end and the global milk price was entering a new cycle
in 2018. The supply and demand of raw milk gradually struck
the balance in the second half of 2017 as a result of decline in
domestic dairy herd size. The oversupply situation was eased and
the domestic raw milk price rebounded significantly in the second
half of 2017 comparing with the first half of 2017.

Since dairy industry is an important indicator of a country’s
agricultural modernization level, it is strategically significant to
develop, expand and rejuvenate the industry so as to achieve a
moderately prosperous society. In view of this, the relevant state
departments have taken a series of supportive policies: in early
2017, the “National Development Planning for Dairy Industry (2016-
2020)” jointly formulated by the Ministry of Agriculture, the National
Development and Reform Commission, the Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology, the Ministry of Commerce, and the
Food and Drug Administration was officially promulgated, putting
forward eleven major tasks such as “ Developing Standardized
Dairy Farming in Large-scale”, “Accelerating Industrial Integration”
and “Building Domestic Dairy Brands”; in June, the Dairy Association
of China held the 8th Dairy Conference of China & the 2017 China
Dairy Exhibition; in July, D20 Summit of the Dairy Industry of China
2017 which was themed “Building Brands and Revitalizing Dairy
Industry”, was held; The Dairy Association of China and Milk and
Dairy Products Quality Supervision Inspection and Test Center of
Ministry of Agriculture jointly released “ Quality Report of China
Dairy Industry (2017)”; on 1 January 2018, the most stringent
registration system for infant milk powder formula was officially
implemented. The introduction of these series of policies marked
the state’s determination to lead the reform, reshape the layout in
the dairy industry and become a strong dairy nation.
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With the ongoing upgrades of domestic consumption in the first and
second tier cities, the breaking of urban-rural dualistic structure,
and the wealth effect in the third and fourth tier cities, the domestic
consumption for high-quality dairy products is ready for further
improvements which pose a great potential for the dairy industry.
Currently, China’s dairy industry is under transformation. Only large-
scale farms with intensive, detailed and scientific operation can
fulfill the growing demand for high-quality raw milk. The integration
of upstream and lower stream business helps to build a win-win
situation and has become the trend of dairy industry.

After a three-year low, the international raw milk price has
rebounded in second half of 2017, with domestic supply and
demand reaching equilibrium by the end of 2017. Raw milk price
has entered into a upward trend cycle and the industry is heading
towards a brand-new spring of hope and revival.

BUSINESS REVIEW: FREE FROM BURDEN
AND STRENGTHEN COORDINATION,

FOCUS ON UPSTREAM WITH EXISTING
ADVANTAGES

In 2017, revolution, cooperation and transformation were the three
key words of the Group. During the year, the Group was primarily
engaged in two businesses: (i) dairy farming business, which mainly
involves the production and sales of raw milk to customers for
processing into dairy products; and (ii) the business of branded
liquid milk which mainly involves the production and sales of liquid
milk product. In June 2017, the Group has preliminary entered
into a supply and processing framework agreement with Mengniu
Group, pursuant to which the Group sell the branded liquid milk
products to Mengniu Group by the way of cost plus 3%, and
Mengniu Group would be responsible for the sales and distribution
of the Group’s brand milk products. In January 2018, the Group
announced that Modern Farming (Group) Co., Ltd., the Company’s
subsidiary (“Modern Farming”) and Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy
(Group) Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”) entered into
two share transfer agreements, pursuant to which Modern Farming
agreed to sell, and Inner Mongolia Mengniu agreed to acquire
50% of Modern Dairy (Feidong) Co., Ltd. (“Feidong”) and Modern
Dairy (Bengbu) Co., Ltd. (“Bengbu”) which are attributed to two
milk production business units. Feidong and Bengbu will cease to
be subsidiaries of the Company upon completion of the Disposal
which was approved by shareholders of the Company in March
2018.

For the reporting period, the Group has continued in striving for
high standards on raw milk quality and won the market trust by
our high-end products with “purity, genuineness, freshness and
vitality”, the integration of “planting — farming — processing” and the
advanced production model of two-hour milking to processing. The
Group also adheres to the principle of prioritized safety, proactively
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develops and implements modern scientific breeding and feeding
know-how. On cost aspect, the Group has lowered operating costs
by refining management, improving nutrients, and taking measures
to economize expenditure. On income aspect, the Group boosted
core income by optimizing the herd portfolio, scientific farming
and improving the unit production output. Both cost reduction and
unit production dually led the Group’s core business to achieve
sustainable and healthy development.

On 21 March 2017, the Mengniu Group completed a mandatory
cash offer acquisition towards the Group and Mengniu Group owns
60.76% of issued share capital of the Company up to the date of
this report. The synergy between the Group and Mengniu Group
was further strengthened after Mengniu Group has increased
its stake in the Company. As Mengniu is a leading enterprise in
dairy industry in mainland China with solid distribution network,
strengthening the cooperation with Mengniu will not only provide
the Group with stable sale of high-quality raw milk but also helps
to deliver our branded milk of “purity, genuineness, freshness and
vitality” to the mass retail market.

In 2017, the Group has undergone a series of revolutions. Unit
production and cost reduction were implemented and improved
simultaneously in the upstream business. For the lower stream
business, the Group took proactive changes, which strengthened
the synergies with Mengniu Group. After getting rid of the historical
burden, the Group will leverage its existing advantages in resource
and re-focus on its upper stream dairy farming business. As for
the lower stream business, the Group will closely cooperate with
Mengniu to enhance our brand competitiveness.
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In July 2017, “Fresh”, the room-temperature pure milk jointly
developed by the Group and Mengniu Group made its debut. The
packaging of “Fresh” adopts the innovative design concept of
silver/white “fridge”, symbolizing a refrigerator-like freshness, and
highlighting the Group’s unique feature of “two-hour milking to
processing”. “Fresh” sponsored the popular internet entertainment
show “ROCK & ROAST”, and the brand got high exposure in the
internet medias.

On the Valentine’s Day in 2018, the Group launched its European-
style yogurt “L’Amour” which adopts the Company’s high-quality
milk sources with finely selected Europe imported bacteria, which
finishes milking to processing in two hours. It offers consumers
with two combined flavors, Love Rose and Romantic Cranberry.
The Group believes that the series of initiatives will help strengthen
its core competitiveness, reduce operating costs and improve
efficiency, pave the way to maximize the Group’s value.
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As a pioneer in the domestic large-scale dairy farming, the Group
created the production model of “Integration of Planting, Breeding
and Processing, Zero Distance and Two Hours”. With efficient
interaction between large scale farms coupled with advanced milk
processing plant, the Group could achieve organic integration and
seamless connection with zero distance among primary, secondary
and tertiary industry. The Group’s milk quality has consistently
met stringent requirements of international food rating standards,
and thus has won a widespread recognition. On 29 May 2017, at
Monde Selection, which is generally regarded as “Nobel Prize” in
the food industry, the Group’s pure milk was awarded the Gold
Prize for the fourth consecutive year, while the room-temperature
yogurt was also awarded the silver prize on the same event. The
awards of such honor fully prove that the quality of the Group’s raw
milk has been well recognised globally by worldwide authorities and
is well up to international top-notch level. At the D20 Summit held in
July 2017, Modern Dairy has become the focus again and attracted
the interests of both CCTV and News Network. In October 2017,
story about Modern Dairy was broadcasted in the documentary
“China Revealed”, the third season of “China’s Mega Projects”,
introducing large-scale breeding and “integrated production model
with zero distance” in detail.

Subsequent to the reporting year, the Group’s pure milk was
awarded the Gold Prize at the Monde Selection for the fifth
consecutive year creating a new pure milk award-winning record
within the industry.

On 20 June 2017, the Group became the first and only enterprise
in the China with integrated production model recognized by SGS,
a world-leading inspection, verification, testing and certification
company, demonstrating the Group’s innovative “Integration
production model” has passed the stringent inspection performed
by the international authoritative inspection institutions.
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OUR DAIRY FARMS

We are the largest dairy farming company and the largest producer
of raw milk in mainland China in terms of herd size and volume of
production. As at 31 December 2017, the Group operates a total
of 26 dairy farms (within herd size each close to or over 10,000
dairy cows) in mainland China with 233,058 dairy cows in total.
As a nationwide farm, we are endowed with unique geographical
advantages that our farms are adjacent to various processing
plants of dairy products and abundant supply of feed. For the
year ended 31 December 2017, the dairy farming business of the
Group recorded external sales revenue of RMB4,119.2 million,
representing 86.11% of the total revenue of the Group. Total
external sales volume of raw milk amounted to 1,075,538 tons.
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Our financial performance are directly affected by the milk yield per
milkable cow. In general, as milk yield per milkable cow improves,
the unit cash costs of production of milk decreases. Milk yield per
milkable cow is affected by a number of factors, including a cow’s
stage of lactation, breed, genetics and feed mix. For the year ended
31 December 2017, we have recorded an average annual milk yield
of 9.8 tons per milkable cow, representing an increase of 0.4 tons
from 9.4 tons per milkable cow of last year. Cash costs of milk
decreased to RMB2.43/kg this year from RMB2.53/kg of last year.
Proportion of milkable cows increased to 54.4% for the current year
from 52.0% of last year.
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The cash EBITDA" increased to RMB1,081.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: RMB840.4 million). As a
result of an increase of milk yield from milkable cow, the Group’s
cash EBITDA margin increased to 22.61% for the year ended 31
December 2017 (2016: 17.28%).

Since the decade-old melamine incident, the industry has been
highly attentive to milk quality and safety. After a decade of
industrial upgrading, the Quality Report of China Dairy Industry
(2017) which was released in 2017, pointed out that the quality of
domestic dairy products has increased significantly. As supply-
side reform gradually deepens and, continuous upgrading in the
demand-side consumption catalyse in an increasing demand
for quality milk in the market. The improvement in both quality
and quantity of dairy products and the sound and sustainable
development of the dairy industry are based on the effective link
and synergetic development of every sector in the entire industry
chain. The green development and sustainable economy model of
“Integration of Planting, Breeding and Processing, Zero Distance
and Two Hours Within Milking to Processing” first created by the
Group for its upper stream development, along with the strong and
complementary cooperation between our lower stream brands and
Mengniu Group, have high degree of consistency with the core
philosophy of the “Thirteenth Five-year” Plan for the dairy industry
and conforms to the historical trend of industrial upgrading and
development.

Along with the recovery in milk price and the decline in domestic
dairy herd size, the supply and demand of raw milk in mainland
China has achieved equilibrium by the end of 2017. Some experts
estimated that the price of domestic raw milk will show a moderate
increase in 2018, which indicates that the upper stream farming
industry is recovering from depression. Being the largest dairy
farming enterprise in mainland China, the Group will follow the
trend, increase unit production output, reduce operation cost,
optimize herd structure and improve quality in the upper stream,
and, for lower stream development, seek for cooperation, establish
brands and inject more impetus. Based on our existing upper
stream strengths, we will improve performance through a large-
scale, standardized and integrated breeding model, and regard high
standard, high positioning and high starting point as our corporate
orientations so as to provide consumers with quality dairy products.

Note 1:

Cash EBITDA is defined as loss before finance costs and tax after
having added back: i) depreciation for property plant and equipment;
i) amortization; iii) other gains and losses, net; and iv) loss arising from
changes in fair value less costs to sell of dairy cows.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS HBHEE
Herd Size BEAE
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
e s RDE—RF
- = = +-A=+—H
Head Head
58 Bl
Dairy cows L4
Milkable cows KL 126,839 119,286
Heifers and calves ANSTe=y s YN 106,219 109,914
Total number of dairy cows R 233,058 229,200

As at 31 December 2017, we are the largest dairy farming company
in terms of herd size as well as the largest raw milk supplier in
mainland China. The current herd size of the Group was 233,058
head of dairy cows compared to 229,200 head of dairy cows as at
31 December 2016.

Milk Yield

As of the year ended 31 December 2017, we recorded an average
annual milk yield of 9.8 tons per milkable cow, representing an
increase of 4.26% as compared to 9.4 tons as of the year ended
31 December 2016. Such results are attributable to effective herd
management, genetic quality improvement of our cows through
generations and increase in the number of cows reaching the peak
stage of lactation.
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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
Revenue WA

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the consolidated THRABIEHEZE-_ZE—+ER_ZFT—~FE+=-A8
revenue of our two operating segments for the years ended 31 =+—HIFFEMERED S HWABBMADHT -
December 2017 and 2016, respectively:

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z-tF+-A=+-HLFE

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE_Z-AE+-A=+-HLEE

External NEE External Internal
Sales Sales Subtotal Sales Sales Subtotal
IEpEE REEE et MEpsEE REEE I
Sl G RMBYO00 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETTE ARETE ARSTT BUNSSUENG: SoEUN:S: & o
Sales of raw milk business FRMEEEK 4,119,192 280,166 4,399,358 3,383,567 604,476 3,988,043
Sales of liquid milk products business TRE I RS E £ 664,609 - 664,609 1,478,744 - 1478744
Consolidated revenue AHRA 4,783,801 280,166 5,063,967 4,862,311 604,476 5,466,787

AEBMHRAREREIBI%EBRE_T—tF+=
A=+ —HLEFENARK4L7838EHETL(ZF
—NF: AR¥48623E8T) c TERTEHB
ERENTHRENTE -

The Group’s revenue slightly decreased by 1.61% to RMB4,783.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: RMB4,862.3
million), mainly due to the impact of business transition of branded
milk in the market.

BEARENNRAPOHERA  HEERT
HERER TR -

The following table sets forth the details of sales revenue, sales
volume and average selling price (“ASP”) of our raw milk for the
periods indicated:

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-S-—tE+-A=t-HLFE

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-Z-AET-A=t-ALEE

Sales Sales Sales Sales
revenue volume ASP revenue volume ASP
HEWA HEE THER HEWA HEE THER
RMB’000 tons  RMB/ton RMB'000 tons RMBYton
ARETR B AEET/H NS M ARET/
Raw milk [REH
External sales MEPEE 4,119,192 1,075,538 3,830 3,383,567 855,353 3,956
Internal sales AEEE 280,166 73,235 3,826 604,476 154,501 3912
Subtotal 1N 4,399,358 1,148,773 3,830 3988043 1,009,854 3,949
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Dairy farming business

Sales revenue of raw milk for the year ended 31 December
2017 (as an aggregate of external and internal sale) increased
by 10.32% from RMB3,988.0 million for the same period of
last year to RMB4,399.4 million.

External sales of raw milk has recorded an 21.74% increase
from last reporting year of RMB3,383.6 million to current
reporting year of RMB4,119.2 million.

Although ASP of raw milk decreased by 3.04% from
RMB3.95/kg for the year ended 31 December 2016 to
RMB3.83/kg for the year ended 31 December 2017, our
sales volume increased by 13.76% from 1.010 million tons
for the same period of last year to 1.149 million tons as at 31
December 2017, mainly due to the increase in annual milk
yield per cow and number of milkable cows.

Liquid milk products business

The business model of downstream business has undergone
repositioning. Starting from mid-2017, the Group started to
sell its liquid milk products by way of cost plus 3% to Mengniu
Group. As result of rebuilding the pricing mechanism, revenue
from our liquid milk products business decreased by 55.06%
from RMB1,478.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2016 to RMB664.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2017. For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2017,
the revenue from liquid milk products business accounted
for 30.41% and 13.89% of the combined revenue for the
respective year.

Total sales volume of our liquid milk decreased by 50.38%
from 150,313 tons for the year ended 31 December 2016 to
74,584 tons for the year ended 31 December 2017.

A EBEER
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BERADEHEBARE-_S—"F+=
AZ+—RILFEMN3.955T, AT REEE
E-F—+F+-A=+—HIHFER3I.83
TR BRIRES.04% o ERBRFIMEE
HEFRPENI0IOEBEEREHE-F
—tF+ A=+ —BHIEFENI114088
ME - R T713.76% - TERANFHEPF
WFEDNE EF RIS BEIE AT -

WREINE mER
THEBNEBENCETENEN - =
T FFREMSR - AEBFRIE BN
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EHEEZ—+FE+A=t+—RILEEY
74,5840 o



Annual Report 2017 —2—+&&% & 25

Management Discussion and Analysis BB RN DT

COST OF SALES BEFORE RAW MILK FAIR
VALUE ADJUSTMENTS

The Group’s cost of sales before raw milk fair value adjustments
primarily consisted of cost of dairy farming and cost of liquid milk
products. The following table sets forth the breakdown of the cost
of sales of our products for the years indicated:

JFCRHE A B 5 B A AV 85 B A AR

AEENRHNAFEARMBEEXNATERRE
P RERARREDEMKA - TRETIRNE
B R PR B E RO SHEE AR BRAR -

R A ERERA R HER A

Cost of sales before raw milk fair value adjustments

e Dairy farming business: o I 4EBBEEK
For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2017 31 December 2016
BZE-Z-+f BE-2—F
+ZA=+-HLEE +-RA=T-HI%E
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
ARETR Bk ARETTL BOl
Feed cost SRR R 2,262,827 74.7% 2,083,737 75.4%
Labor cost BT 206,420 6.8% 180,377 6.5%
Utilities NEES S 70,257 2.3% 60,357 2.2%
Depreciation E 239,264 7.9% 203,325 7.4%
Other costs of farms EHREMEY 252,440 8.3% 235,434 8.5%
Subtotal of cost of sales RRIATFERZAM
before raw milk fair value MERBEREERA
adjustments of the dairy INat
farming business 3,031,208 100% 2,763,230 100%
Inter-segment cost bR AR (202,257) (424,201)
Cost of external sales FRIAFERAZAR
before raw milk fair value N EBERINLHEE
adjustments of the dairy B AR
farming business 2,828,951 2,339,029

BE_Z—tHF+-_A=+—RHIFENE
SRR AN (S 5 PO BB SR 40 5 B A B8 3 5 A
AEDAEFHARK2,083.7AETEMNE
AR¥2,262.8B 87T - B1E8/R8.60% - T2
EHRREL A BE ML IR -

Total feed cost (before eliminating cost of sales in relation to
internal supply of raw milk) for the year ended 31 December
2017 increased by 8.60% to RMB2,262.8 million from
RMB2,083.7 million of last year, mainly due to the increase in
number of milkable cows.

FIEF - FAPIE h # B WE R A ) O AR RS (4 85
A BB RFL A ARRE SH E A AR ) (BRI &
SN BEFHARB2BTREZRE
“EEFT AT RLEFENARE
2,4307C © BB R414% T ERHNEHE

Meanwhile, the cost (excluding depreciation) per ton of raw
milk sold (before eliminating cost of sales in relation to internal
supply of raw milk) decreased by 4.14% from RMB2,535 of
last year to RMB2,430 for the year ended 31 December 2017,
mainly due to an increase in annual milk yield per cow.

AFNFEPHEN LT -
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e Liquid milk products business o REPERER
For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2017 31 December 2016
BZE-Z-+f BE-Z—RF
+ZA=+-HLEE +-A=+—-HLEE
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
ARETT Bt ARETTL Btk
Raw materials [EA R 481,927 79.7% 908,193 82.6%
Labor cost BTHAR 31,632 5.2% 52,613 4.8%
Depreciation E 41,307 6.8% 55,743 51%
Utilities NEEEER 17,928 3.0% 32,544 3.0%
Other processing costs HE TR 31,835 5.3% 50,034 4.5%
Subtotal of cost of sales ERIAATEAZAH
before raw milk fair value RENMERERHENA
adjustments of the liquid milk /Nt
products business 604,629 100% 1,099,127 100%
Inter-segment cost RE#N (80,623) (180,029)
Cost of external sales [RR A FERZRR
before raw milk fair value R ERERINPHE
adjustments of the liquid milk B
products business 524,006 919,098

In respect of the sales volume of liquid milk, the raw
material cost for the year ended 31 December 2017 (before
eliminating cost of sales in relation to internal supply of raw
milk) decreased by 46.94% from RMB908.2 million of last
year to RMB481.9 million, mainly because total sales volume
of our liquid milk decreased by 50.38% from 150,313 tons
for the year ended 31 December 2016 to 74,584 tons for the
year ended 31 December 2017.

Cash cost (excluding depreciation) per ton of liquid milk sold
(before eliminating cost of sales in relation to internal supply of
raw milk) increased from RMB6,941 for the same period last
year to RMB7,553 for the year ended 31 December 2017,
representing an increase of 8.82% on a year-on-year basis.

RREEEENS  BEZT—tF =
A=+—RHIEFEMRERM B A (5 A5
FERDHEEERN AR ) HEFHARE
908.2HETLHREARKI81.9BETT © K8
546.94% - TE R AR KN IRAED 425
EERHE_T—A"F+-A=Zt+—HUIEHF
E89150,313MAfRK50.38% & E —T—+
F+-—A=Z+—HILFEHT74,5840 o

BRAEHOSERENDIESRA(KRITE
AN ST 58 A B R R Y 4 R B S R AR AT )
HEFREMARECMITHREZEE -
E—+tF+ A=+ BHLEFENARE
7,5537C + A% 08.82% ©




GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN
The following table sets forth the breakdown of gross profit and
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EFNRERN=E

gross profit margin before raw milk fair value adjustments of two A

operating segments for the years indicated:

TREGE ST HMERS D BRI RFERMY

N EFBATHERNREFRBADIN

For the year ended
31 December 2016
HE-Z—RF
TZA=T—-HLEEE
Gross
Gross profit Profit margin
£ EFI%
RMB’000
ARETTT
Dairy farming business A BEEYR
Before elimination HHA 1,368,150 31.10% 1,224,813 30.71%
After elimination Fafilta 1,290,241 31.32% 1,044,538 30.87%
Liquid milk products business REENE R
Before elimination EREiYeD) 59,980 9.02% 379,617 25.67%
After elimination HiHE 140,603 21.16% 559,646 37.85%
Dairy farming business o  HA4EEEL
Gross profit of our dairy farming business before raw milk fair IFBEEEBNEADAFEEFAZANEF

value adjustments (before eliminating cost of sales in relation
to internal supply of raw milk) increased by 11.71% from
RMB1,224.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to
RMB1,368.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2017,
mainly due to the increase in sales volume of raw milk.

Gross profit margin of our dairy farming business before raw
milk fair value adjustments (before eliminating cost of sales
in relation to internal supply of raw milk) increased by 0.39%
from 30.71% for the year ended 31 December 2016 to
31.10% for the year ended 31 December 2017, primarily due
to, due to the increase in annual milk yield per cow.

Liquid milk products business

Gross profit of our liquid milk products business (before
eliminating cost of sales in relation to internal supply of raw
milk) decreased by 84.2% from RMB379.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2016 to RMB60.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2017. The aforesaid decrease was
mainly due to the decrease in sales volume and price of our
branded milk.

Gross profit margin of our liquid milk products business
(before eliminating cost of sales in relation to internal supply
of raw milk) decreased by 16.65% from 25.67% for the year
ended 31 December 2016 to 9.02% for the year ended 31
December 2017, mainly because sales model was changed
to cost plus 3%.

(YA RN EEEEEKAR) B
HE-_Z—R"E+-_A=t+—HILEEHD
AREE1 224 8FE TN 7T1%EEHEZ
T—tF+_A=+—HIEFEHARE
1,3682HEL - TERHARERNEEH
SEINFTEL -

FEBEESNERD AT ERAENENEX
(HEANBRE D EREESKAR) 8
HE-_Z—RXE+_A=1+—"HIEFEHN
30.71%E JN0.39% EHE — T — t¢+_
A=+—BLFEH31.10% ° ERR
EE?WWEEWJ%E@L%%& o

TREENE MER
R BE I EE S ZE TS HY B (5 88 PO S0 R R 4
WEFE%EWMUDEE&_; NE+ =
A=+—BLFEMARKEI79.6BE LM%
K84 2% EHE-_E—+F+_-_A=+—H
FFEEMARKEE00EET - FHiEETE
EHRBRMBETHEEEE RS ERIER
@(o

BENEREBHDEF R (HEAIL R
MHERBEHEENA) BEE T — X~
F+ A=+ —BILEFEMN2567%[EIK
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IEFER02% @ TEREERAEB AKX K
JNAK3%FTEL ©
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Losses arising from changes in fair value less costs to
sell of dairy cows

As at 31 December 2017, the biological assets of the Group
were valued at RMB7,751.1 million (As at 31 December 2016:
RMB7,603.0 million) by an independent qualified professional
valuer, Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory
Limited. Losses arising from changes in the fair value of dairy cows
less costs to sell dairy cows were RMB868.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017 (For the year ended 31 December 2016:
RMB1,058.9 million), representing a decrease of 18.00% year-on-
year, mainly due to low death and culling rate of dairy cows and the
decrease in capital inputs to heifers and calves.

Gains arising on initial recognition of raw milk at fair
value less costs to sell at the point of harvest

Our gains arising on initial recognition of raw milk at fair value
less costs to sell at the point of harvest increased by 9.95% from
RMB1,116.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to
RMB1,228.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2017, mainly
due to the increase in sales volume of our raw milk.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) required that raw
milk harvested was initially measured at fair value less costs to sell,
and the difference between the fair value less costs to sell and the
actual costs incurred was charged to profit or loss.

Other income

For the year ended 31 December 2017, other income amounted
to RMB51.8 million (2016: RMB69.9 million). Other income mainly
consisted of government grants and interest income, of which
interest income for the year ended 31 December 2017 amounted to
RMB8.2 million (2016: RMB15.3 million), and government grants for
the year ended 31 December 2017 amounted to RMB37.6 million
(2016: RMB52.0 million). Government grants mainly consisted
of subsidies for agricultural projects such as “Grain to Fodder”,
“Environmental Protection and Safety” and “Digitalized Breeding”.

AFDFESDRIAFHERNFELENER

R_ZE—tF+_A=+—8 cEENEYPE
EEBYALGKRBELGHEMPEMITOETEHR
BHERAATEAARE77S1ABET(RZ
T-XNE+_A=+—H8: ARB7603.068
T) BEZE—+F+_A=+—HILFE A
SRFEEHRIAFRERATEENEEASA
R¥8e8IEBT(HE—_T—~RE+_-_A=1+—
HIEEE : AR®1,0589BET) © RLLEIE
18.00% - T B R AR ILFAERBER/NILF K
IINFRYE AR AR FTER o
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A& EREE-_Z—+HF+-_A=+—HIHF
ERBWMABARBS2EEL(ZZ—RF : A
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OPERATING EXPENSES REmx

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 December 31 December
2017 2016
e ot HECT-RHF
=== +ZA=+—H

LFE IEFE

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARBTF T

Selling and distribution costs SHE R HKA 372,602 786,929
Administrative expenses 1TERBA 356,486 274,210
Total operating expenses A g L 729,088 1,061,139

Our operating expenses decreased from RMB1,061.1 million for the HRFIMNELHTHBEE - F+_A=+—
year ended 31 December 2016 to RMB729.1 million for the year HIEFEMARB10611EBEBTTREHE_Z

ended 31 December 2017, of which: —tF T+ A=t —HIEFEMNARKET20158
JC o He
Selling and distribution costs HER 7 HR AR

For the For the year

year ended ended

31 December 31 December
2017 2016
e o BEZDTZ—RHF
UV ELRCN +- A=+~

LFE ILFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
Farm segment H5 2B
Transportation costs BB 149,779 114,299
Liquid milk segment W
Transportation, loading and unloading costs & &) %< 1 & 43,301 108,841
Staff remuneration B T 3 40,044 22,340
Publicity expenses EEE 92,514 507,731
Others HAh, 44,644 32,317
Business tax and surcharge BER S KM 2,320 1,401

Total selling and distribution costs HER DHER AL 372,602 786,929
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Selling and distribution costs mainly consisted of, among other
things, transportation costs for sales of raw milk, transportation
costs for sales of liquid milk products, salaries of sales personnel
and daily expenses.

The amount of raw milk transportation costs included in selling and
distribution costs increased to RMB149.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2017 from RMB114.3 million for the corresponding
period of last year, mainly attributable to an increase in the sales
volume of raw milk.

The amount of liquid milk marketing and promotion expenses
included in selling and distribution costs decreased significantly
to RMB92.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2017 from
RMB507.7 million for the corresponding period of last year, mainly
because our downstream business sales model of selling liquid milk
products to Mengniu Group changed to a new calculation of cost
plus 3% in mid-2017 and that Mengniu Group bore the marketing
and selling fees.

Administrative expenses

The Company recorded RMB356.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2017 (2016: RMB274.2 million), representing an
increase of 30.01%.

Administrative expenses mainly included, remuneration of
management staff (including equity-based share option expenses)
and depreciation charges of office building, staff quarters and
facilities, of which remuneration of management staff (excluding
equity-based share option expenses) increased from RMB103.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to RMB127.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, equity-based share
option expenses included in administrative expenses amounted
to RMB96.3 million, as compared to RMB43.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2016, representing an increase of 123.43%.
[t was mainly due to a one-off amortization of the remaining
unamortized value of options after the staff members’ acceptance
of the offer made by Mengniu in respect of their options during the
period.

HERDHERATEBRRNEENERER
RENHENERERLEEABTENBER
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HipWz e g8
BE_Z—+F+-_A=+—HILFE  Htlk
s REEMEENEBERAARESBIABEL(Z
T—REF BB FRARKI1256BET) - X2
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WEeMBEMEENAFEEE(Mm)FRSE -
Hith ozt M BT IRAARANT

Other gains and losses

For the year ended 31 December 2017, losses arising from other
gains and losses amounted to RMB531.1 million (2016: net gain
of RMB125.6 million) mainly consisting of, impairment loss from
receivables, net amount of foreign exchange losses, impairment
provision for fixed assets, impairment loss on goodwill and net loss
(gain) of fair value arising from financial liabilities measured at fair
value through profit or loss (FVTPL). The breakdown of other gains

and losses is as follows:

For the For the year
year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
emelas | HECT-REF
szl =N - — A=+—H
IHEE IEFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARKETTT
Other gains and losses: Hith 3 R EsiE
Fair value gain from contingent SAREN AT EKE
considerations - (228,540)
Loss from settlement of Modified HEBRIERTREBEE
Considerations 15,361 -
Loss (gains) arising on deemed disposal of ~ R{EHE —REBL QAT EAR
an associate &8 (e ) 239 (1,462)
Net foreign exchange (gain) loss HNE (Wezm ) B HEF 58 (10,199) 11,424
Loss from disposal of inventories HEFERE 5,134 -
Loss from disposal of property, HEME - BEREEBR
plant and equipment 11,268 7,257
Loss arising from closure of a dairy farm: BB —FrE UG FrE £ R EE
Impairment loss of property, W - BB MEEREEE
plant and equipment - 69,061
Write-down of inventories to WRTEEERFE
net realisable value = 9,701
- 78,762
Impairment loss of trade receivables RN E B ERFORERE 495,271 1,589
Impairment loss of other receivables E At USRI R 18 110 -
Impairment loss of AFS equity investment [t K& AR ER R 12,021 -
Impairment loss of goodwill AEREEE - 16,955
Fair value loss (gain) on foreign HNER BB A FEEE (E)
currency forward 1,949 (11,236)
Gains on derecognition of financial liabilities HEUHMER &R A E ks (57) (303)
531,097 (125,554)
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The Group discontinued its cooperation with other major
distributors as a result of the handover of the liquid milk business
to Mengniu Group during the reporting year. The Group anticipated
the repayment of the trade receivable due from these distributors
would be delayed and the amount of repayment of trade receivables
may not be fully recovered. After taking into account of the present
value of future collection and the security of 318,697,354 ordinary
shares of the Company held by certain individuals who used to be
the non-controlling equity holders of Modern Farming (Anhui) Dairy
Product Sales Co., Ltd., an impairment loss of RMB488.5 million
was recognised in respect of the Group’s trade receivables due
from these distributors.

Other expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the other expenses
amounted to RMB20.4 million (2016: RMB94.3 million), mainly
consisting of, among other things, losses from sales of milk powder
and expenditure of donations.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, losses from sales of milk
powder amounted to RMB9.1 million (2016: RMB72.0 million),
mainly because during early 2017, some of the raw milk was
dehydrated into milk powder which was partly used for feeding
calves, and the remaining was sold to third parties, resulting in a
loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, expenditure of donations
amounted to RMB1.7 million (2016: RMB8.5 million) mainly because
we actively communicated with stakeholders around our farms
and included their expectations and demands into our operation
strategy. While devoting to the pursuit of our own development, we
managed to win the trust, understanding and support of community
residents. Besides, we proactively contributed to the local
communities and devoted to public charity and volunteer activities
for the benefit of the society.

RAERED  AREDEKCSHFSTEEE
B AEBRIFEEMEESERENAE A%
EEHZEDIHEHPNERNERE SRR ESTE
BiE mMEKEZEFRNEESTRTRE2EHK
B o TR RMEFIEBHRBEKSE TYE AEAK
E(ZH I RIBEAR AT ZIFERESIZEA
#5318,697,354 8 NN A L BAR IR IR - NEER
JERZE D HmMERE S RAIERRESEA
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Finance costs

Finance costs decreased from RMB368.6 million of last reporting
year to RMB328.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2017,
mainly due to fair value gains on interest rate swap of RMB31.7
million arising from the interest rate of a syndicated loan of principal
amount USD300 million locked for the period.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company

Taking into account of all the above factors, loss attributable to
owners of the Company amounted to RMB975.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2017, compared with loss of RMB742.1
million for the corresponding period of last year.

Basic loss per Share was RMB16.19 cents (2016: RMB13.99 cents
per Share).

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing ratio

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the amount of net cash
generated from operating activities of the Group was RMB500.9
million, compared with RMB1,137.3 million for the corresponding
period of last year.

The Group’s total equity as at 31 December 2017 was RMB7,088.4
million (As at 31 December 2016: RMB7,122.9 million). Its debt-to-
equity ratio (total amount of bank loans, bonds and notes over total
equity) was 104.75% (As at 31 December 2016: 95.56%).

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s available and unutilized
bank financing facilities were approximately RMB6,306.5 million (As
at 31 December 2016: RMB6,709.3 million). In the opinion of the
Group’s management, the working capital available to the Group
was sufficient to meet its present needs.

BB X
ST mEFMAREIS6EELREEZHE
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Interest-bearing borrowings BEER
As at 31 December 2017, the total interest-bearing debt was R-ZE—+F+_A=+—H BLBBEHLEAL
RMB?7,425.2 million. AREE7 425 2BH8 7T °
Details are set out as below: PRV ¢
As at
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
—E—tF ZE-RF
TEA=T B Bagey:i=hl=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFIT
Bank borrowings IRITER 3,477,257 3,885,825
Short-term debentures MHES - 799,425
Medium-term notes T HIZE R 1,798,380 1,796,605
Corporate bonds NEfES 1,045,761 249,020
Other borrowing Hib 1,103,799 75,489
7,425,197 6,806,364
Carrying value repayable: FEEEEREE :
Within one year —ELR 3,866,949 4,116,277
Between one and two years —E 1,364,676 1,367,902
Between two and five years —ERF 2,193,572 1,322,185

7,425,197 6,806,364
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Bank borrowings

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the effective annual interest
rate of bank borrowings varied from 0.9% to 6.4% (2016: from 1.9%
t0 6.4%).

The table below sets forth the short-term and long-term bank
borrowings as at 31 December 2017:

|ITHER
BHE-Z—+&+-_A=1+—RHILEER  #17T
ERNBEBRFEFRERB0.9%E6.4%( —F—~
F 1 1.9%%E6.4%) °

TRIER —_T—tF+-_A=T—BNEHK
REBRITHER :

31 December

31 December

2017 2016
—B—tF ZERF
ap=zl=s sl +—A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Bank borrowings IRITER 3,477,257 3,885,825
Unsecured borrowings EEAER 2,603,229 2,000,736
Secured borrowings BEIFER 12,500 404,589
Guaranteed borrowings EERERK 861,528 1,480,500
3,477,257 3,885,825

Carrying amount repayable: JEEEREE
Within one year —FE AR 1,564,228 3,278,325
Between one and two years —FEWF 516,000 133,000
Between two and five years MEERF 1,397,029 474,500
3,477,257 3,885,825

The guaranteed borrowings were guaranteed by group entities
within the Group.

Short-term debentures, medium-term notes and
corporate bonds

On 28 March 2017, the Group issued the first tranche of corporate
bonds of an aggregate principal amount of RMB800 million, bearing
fixed interest rate 5.49% per annum, which maturity of three years.

For the movements of short-term debentures, medium-term notes
and corporate bonds, please refer to Note 27, 28 and 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EREREFRAAEENIEEEBRHEER -

EHES - PRRBROAFES

R-ZE—+F=A-+N\H KAEEHETT it
NEMES - AeBEAARESET  3FH - BT
FFR 55.49% °

BREHES  PHREERARESNHEHERN
A MBHAME27 - 2829
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Other borrowing

In June 2016, the Group entered into a financing agreement
with Far Eastern Leasing Co., Ltd, pursuant to which the Group
transferred the legal title of certain equipment to Far Eastern Leasing
Co., Ltd at a net consideration of RMB96,250,000. The Group was
obligated to pay quarterly instalment of RMB11,325,000 from July
2016 to July 2018 and the remaining balance of RMB6,913,000
shall be paid in October 2018. Upon the maturity of the lease, the
Group shall be entitled to purchase back the equipment at cash
consideration of RMB100. Despite the arrangement was associated
with the legal form of a lease, the arrangement was accounted as
collateralised borrowings by the Group at amortized cost using
effective interest method in accordance with the substance of the
arrangement.

In May 2017, the Group entered into two entrusted loan
agreements with Mengniu Group and Agricultural Bank of China
(“ABC”), pursuant to which, Mengniu Group agreed to offer
borrowing facilities of RMB1,500,000,000 to the Group through
ABC. The borrowing facilities will mature in May 2020 and bear
interest at fixed rates determined with reference to the benchmark
interest rate of People’s Bank of China. During the reporting
year, the Group withdrew borrowings of RMB1,105,400,000 and
repaid RMB40,000,000 under the agreements. The outstanding
borrowings at 31 December 2017 will be due within one year and
bear interest at rates ranged from 4.00% to 4.35% per annum. The
breakdown of principal amount is as follows:

H A&

RZZ—RFRH - KREEEFar Eastern Leasing
Co., LIdRTMZ @ E Wik - Bt - NREEDUFR(E
AR #096,250,000 7t [AFar Eastern Leasing Co.,
LidSiE s TREBENEZEER - AEEBEREER
TE-RNFtAE-Z- \FLtAXNEZTSH
FIEAREA11,325,00070 ¢ M F R4S R A REE
6,913,000 BN ZE—\F+AZM - REEE
BN - AEEAENESREARKI100TEE
B BRELTHSAREERERR  NEERE
ZHEEHADEAERN S AR E NG LB
ABR B IRIERR o

RZE—+tFRA AEEERFEERPE
BERTRTDIUMBZTERME - &
It B4 EEREEBEITRAS B HERE
& AR #1,500,000,0007C - fERBEBA_ZF
—ZEFRAARHRATLERRARBITEENERE
TErE - RRERFE  ALEEREFE DS
IREE AR #1,105,400,000 7T & &8 AR
40,000,000 c RZZE—+E+=-A=+—H
KREZEFER —FREEBPIIZFFEL00% 2
4.35%%M 8 o ANERRMEMT ¢

31 December

2016
S ANCS
+=-A=+—8
RMB’000
ARBFT
Principal amount payable: EEERSE
Within one year —FR
— Collateralised borrowing —BHEMER 38,399 38,527
— Borrowings from Mengniu Group — R4 KEEBER 1,065,400 -
1,103,799 38,527
Within a period of more than one year but il —F BB E RN T A H R
not more than two years
— Collateralised borrowing —EEIRER - 36,962
1,103,799 75,489
Less: Amounts due within one year (shown & : FA—% R E|8IH) 28
under current liabilities) (IR REBEET) 1,103,799 38,527
Amounts due after one year R—F 2 & B8R FRIE - 36,962
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Improve unit production output and raw milk quality by
continuous adoption of modern and scientific breeding
and feeding techniques

We keep improving our operation efficiency and average annual
milk yield. At present, our average annual milk yield per milkable
cow is among the highest of all dairy companies in the China. We
believe that the unit production and raw milk quality of our milkable
cows will continue to rise as we improve the genetic mix of our herd
across generations and increase the ratio of milkable cows to total
herd size. In addition, we commit to research and development
to reduce the heat damage to room-temperature milk and further
reduce the content of furosine in milk, subject to eligibility of various
indicators such as microorganisms in the products.

Continue to enhance feed nutrients and optimize the
feed mix by persistent research on feed composition
We will continue to collaborate with local farmers and agricultural
research institutions in pursuing research and planting high quality
feed suitable for our milkable cows. Moreover, according to the
locations of our farms, we will collaborate with local farmers of
particular regions to jointly build a customized and efficient feed
supply chain with the objective to reduce transportation cost of
feed and to ensure the quality, nutrition content and stable supply
of feed.

Measures to tackle heat stress

Heat stress of dairy cow becomes a seasonal problem due to high
temperature in summer. The yield of each milkable cow is generally
slightly lowered by the heat stress. To alleviate the impact of heat
stress, the Group has launched alleviation measures to tackle
heat stress by deploying resources on modification of cowshed
and equipping cowshed with efficient ventilation system, such as
powerful fans. The Group will keep improving and constantly review
the effectiveness of heat stress alleviation measures.

Save for disclosed in this report, during the year under review, there
was no material change in the structure of the Group.

BEARDBEANEZENEENRAERMES T
SEENRRNRE

B TERELEXNY - BT TFHFEESE -
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IKHE o HFIEE - BBMR —RE—HKNPTE
HEA  E—FRERARBFEZFEALA - &
PMPFEEMRMNMERBFERT - 1t
Sh - EREREMMMAEMERRIERABIOAIER
T RPAEREERPOBEERRE - E4
TIREAR S ERIRE—PRE -

BEETEANELIWE BEARSTHFHE
HeEERBLERES

B eREEZS R P MERMNEEBESEN
% MEEEARMDTOEERR ot R
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FHERRARREASRE - EERKODMIZER
HEE -

R BB AV IR T

HREFRR BEAHITHNFECK R —(E
FHEME - BERIFTNEE —REIHEHN
FEBA TR RERABATROTE A%
BRETEESE  RABRARTSE  5lES
MBRRGRME  MBNOER - AEEARE
B o 7N S S T AR X A A AR BURR R R B O
XK o

SRABMERBEESN ROBEFE  AEBERBL
BREEMERNES -



China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. FE RN EZEREGR LT

Management Discussion and Analysis BBzt &k 2

On 25 January 2017, pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement
dated 16 June 2016 in relation to the acquisition of Modern Farming
(Anhui) Dairy Product Sales Co., Ltd (“Modern Farming (Anhui)”)
and poll results of the general meeting held by the Company on 1
August 2016, the Group allotted and issued 338,602,205 ordinary
shares of the Company to the wholly-owned entities of the seller.

On 6 February 2017, pursuant to the supplemental deed dated 12
December 2016 entered into by the Company and Success Dairy |l
Limited (the “Investor”), pursuant to the share purchase agreement
dated 6 July 2015 in relation to the acquisition of 82% of the issued
share capital of the issued share capital in Asia Dairy Holdings
and Asia Dairy Holdings Il and a conditional investor option notice
received on 28 December 2016 from the Investor, the Group
allotted and issued 488,036,618 ordinary shares as consideration
shares accordingly.

As at 31 December 2017, the number of issued ordinary shares of
the Company were 6,131,406,706 Shares.

On 25 January 2017, the Group completed the acquisition of the
remaining 45% equity interest in Modern Farming (Anhui) from five
independent individuals, and Modern Farming (Anhui) is owned
as to 45% by the Company and 55% by Modern Farming. The
acquisition was approved by the Shareholders of the Company on
1 August 2016.

On 4 January 2017, Mengniu announced the acquisition of
965,465,750 additional Shares, representing approximately 15.75%
of the total issued share capital of the Company upon completion
of the relevant share purchase agreement, for a consideration of
approximately HK$1.9 billion. When the transaction was completed,
Mengniu beneficially held approximately 37.7% of the total issued
share capital of the Company, which then triggered a conditional
mandatory cash offer (the “Offer”) to acquire all the issued Shares
in the Company. Mengniu acquired the entire issued Shares in
the Company at HK$1.94 per Share on 14 February 2017 (except
the Shares already owned or agreed to be acquired by Mengniu)
and canceled all outstanding share options of the Company. Upon
completion of the Offer on 21 March 2017, Mengniu held a total of
3,755,769,412 shares of the Company, equivalent to approximately
61.25% of the then issued share capital of the Company.

As at 31 December 2017, Mengniu holds a total of 3,725,769,412
Shares, equivalent to approximately 60.76% of the issued share
capital of the Company.

R-ZZ—+F—A-+HH  ARBREBRE-
E—RFNA+TAABEBWRERRKEZR)
mHEERAR([BERBME(ZR))NEER
FENRARN_E—RENA—HNBRRSREL
R REEBIE KRBT T AR R]338,602,2050% F
BRERMEE T EERANRAR -

RZZE—EF=HNB - BEBEARRFHSuccess
Dairy Il Limited([ & & ) B AT —XRF+=
A+TZHBR#HARE - REBHA-T—AFt
B 7~ B A @Y iEAsia Dairy Holdings & Asia Dairy
Holdings 1B Z 1T AN 2 B 31 TR ZN82% 2 fx 17 B8
BER#EAR - —AF+Z AT N \BKEHEK
BEBHINARGREERERN  AEEEM
fif 5% 2 5577488,036,61 8% L @R ERR D ©

RZE—+F+-A=+—"8  KARND T
LEMEE A6,131,406,7060% °

R-ZE—+F—A-+HR  AEETKERR
BIANTHRBEBRABE (LR BT 46%K4E - M
BRBE(RB) AR RER45% M BB E
(RE)HEBS% - BRAKBR T —R"ENA—
B RRIBCRALE -

—E—+F—ANB  F4EHAL19ESBITIE
BN A F1965,465,750 ik 10 - HHE R B BB
WEERE ARG N BT ALELN15.75% °
RHTEKE  EFERFEARARRDEITRA
HREEHBT. 7% @ BB EMEEFIHERSELN([E
HDBERRBZHEEITZRG - ZE—tF
ZATIEA RFUSE1.94BTREARRE
HEBETRMOD (REEHEAR KR EWEN KRG K
SN REFEHANRIAA MAITENERE RZ=F
—tHF A+ —BBHEKE  KEFE L
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On 22 January 2018, Modern Farming and Inner Mongolia Mengniu
entered into two share transfer agreements, pursuant to which
Modern Farming agreed to sell, and Inner Mongolia Mengniu
agreed to acquire 50% equity of Feidong and Bengbu at an
aggregate cash consideration of RMB56.04 million (the “Disposal”)
and an unaudited gain of approximately RMB7,126 is expected to
be recorded. The Disposal was approved by the shareholders of
the Company at the extraordinary general meeting held on 2 March
2018. The Company believe that the Disposal did provide a good
opportunity for the Group to focus on the operation of dairy farms
and supply of raw milk in the China.

As at 31 December 2017, buildings and equipment and biological
assets with carrying value of RMB93.9 million (as at 31 December
2016: RMB241.5 million) and RMB1,154.2 million (as at 31
December 2016: RMB2,729.9 million) were pledged as security for
the Group’s borrowings.

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2017 and 2016.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s capital commitments
in relation to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment
amounted to RMB41.9 million (as at 31 December 2016:
RMB134.3 million).

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has operating lease
commitments in relation to the operating leased property, plant and
equipment and leased land of RMB11.9 million (as at 31 December
2016: RMB20.7 million).

The Group continued to closely manage financial risks to safeguard
the interest of the shareholders of the Company. The Group applied
its cash flows generated from operations and bank loans to satisfy
its operational and investment needs.

The Group’s management considered that the Group had limited
foreign currency exposure in respect of its operations since our
business was mainly conducted in the China. Sales and purchases
were mainly denominated in Renminbi and the foreign currency risk
associated with concentrated feed and livestock farming facilities
was not material. The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
performing regular reviews of the Group’s net foreign exchange
exposures and may enter into currency forward contracts, when
necessary. During the year, a interest rate swap had been made by
the Group to mitigate the foreign currency risk of the Group’s bank
loan denominated in US$.
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As at 31 December 2017, the Group had approximately 5,097
employees (as at 31 December 2016: 6,051) in mainland China and
Hong Kong. Total staff costs for the year ended 31 December 2017
(including staff compensation capitalized to biological assets) were
approximately RMB478.8 million (for the year ended 31 December
2016: RMB449.4 million).

The Group values recruiting, training and retaining quality
personnel. We recruit qualified employees from local universities,
vocational schools and other technical schools, and we provide
these employees with various pre-employment and on-the-job
training. The Group also offers remuneration at competitive rates
with the aim of retaining quality personnel.

The quality of China’s dairy products has been upgraded up to
international standard, coupled with the increasing per capita
income of consumers and the enhanced demand for food quality,
it is expected that much room for development will be available
in China’s high-end dairy market. In addition, the “National
Development Play for Dairy Industry (2016-2020)” issued by the
central government of China affirms the strategic positioning of
the development of the dairy industry and highlights that the dairy
industry is indispensable for a healthy China and a strong nation.
The play aims to achieve substantial results in the supply-side
structural reform of the dairy industry by 2020.

Dairy industry in China is constantly improving, the industrial
transformation, consumption and production upgrade have
speeded up. The oversupply of raw milk had been almost shaken
off worldwide while the supply-demand approached equilibrium
with the scale down of global dairy herd size as result of low milk
price in the past three years. It provides a solid base for a healthy
recovery of dairy industry.

Stepping into 2018, with the supply and demand of raw milk
reaching equilibrium, the prices of raw milk is expected to pick up
at a modest pace, and the Group’s profit margin can be improved.
In the future, the Group will continue to adhere to the principle
of providing high quality raw milk and maintain its competitive
advantages in each category index, so as to strengthen its leading
position in the industry.
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Ms. GAO Lina, aged 61, is an executive Director, Chief Executive
Officer and Deputy Chairman of the Company. Ms. Gao is one of
the founders of the Group and is currently also a director of Modern
Farming. Ms. Gao has significant experience in cross-border
trading, resource integration and administrative management. Prior
to joining the Group in August 2005, Ms. Gao was the general
manager of Taian Foreign General Trade Corporation between
October 1993 and June 2005. Ms. Gao was the director general
of Taian Municipal Taian Promotion Bureau between October 2003
and June 2005. Ms. Gao developed her experience in managing
dairy farms since joining the Group and was appointed as an
executive Director of the Company on 14 November 2008.

Ms. Gao was awarded “Taian City Excellent Entrepreneur in
Reforming and Enterprising Endeavours” in 2004. Ms. Gao was
awarded the “Scientific and Technological Progress Award (Class 1
of Promotion Category)” by the Ministry of Education of the China
in January 2013, and Ms. Gao was granted the honour of Top 10
Business Leaders in China Economy at the 2014 China Economic
Summit Forum & The 12th Annual Meeting of China Economic
Characters. Ms. Gao was awarded Best CEO in “Institutional
Investors — Survey Report on All Asian Management Team 2016”
and “2017 China Finance Grand Prix - Best Corporate Leader of
the Year”.
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Mr. HAN Chunlin, aged 45, is an executive Director and the Chief
Operation Officer of the Company. Mr. Han is also a director of
Modern Farming and Helingeer Modern Farming Co., Ltd. Mr.
Han has more than 15 years of experience in food and beverage
industry in the China. Prior to joining the Group in September 2008
and his appointment as an executive Director of the Company
on 14 November 2008, Mr. Han worked as the marketing vice
general manager of Nowara Shinnosuke (Fujian) Food Industry
Company from February 2006 to July 2008. From January 1999 to
September 2004, Mr. Han served at the liquid milk department of
Inner Mongolia Mengniu as marketing manager. Prior to that, Mr.
Han was a branch-plant manager at the Milk Powder Department
of Inner Mongolia Yili Industrial Group Company Limited from July
1994 to January 1999. Mr. Han received a bachelor’'s degree in
biology from Inner Mongolia University in China in July 1994.

Mr. LU Minfang, aged 49, was appointed as an non-executive
Director and chairman of the board of Directors of the Company
in March 2017. Mr. Lu is currently the executive director and chief
executive officer of Mengniu and is a member of the strategy and
development committee of Mengniu. Mengniu is the controlling
shareholder of the Company. Mr. Lu is also the chairman and a
non-executive director of Yashili International Holdings Ltd (stock
code: 1230.HK) (“Yashili”), a subsidiary of Mengniu. He was the
executive director and chief executive officer of Yashili before his
appointment as chairman of the board of directors of Yashili. Mr.
Lu has been the vice president (Greater China) of Danone Early
Life Nutrition Greater China and has been with the Danone Group
and Dumex Baby Food Co. Ltd. for over 10 years. During his
tenure at the Danone Group, Mr. Lu demonstrated strong strategic
business and market planning capabilities. With strong leadership,
management skills and in-depth knowledge of markets, Mr. Lu
contributed significantly to the success of the Danone Group’s
baby nutrition business in China. Prior to joining the Danone Group,
Mr. Lu spent nine years with Johnson & Johnson (China) Company
Limited and approximately 4 years with General Electric Company
(China). Mr. Lu has over 18 years of experience in sales and
marketing and has been serving in general manager or executive
level roles for over seven years. Mr. Lu has extensive experience
in the management of fast moving consumer products and dairy
companies and has an excellent grasp and the in-depth knowledge
of the China market. Mr. Lu obtained his bachelor’'s degree from
Fudan University in Shanghai.
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Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul, aged 44, is a non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Wolhardt joined the Group in July
2008 and was appointed as a non-executive Director of the
Company on 30 July 2008, and has been involved in the corporate
development and strategic planning of the Group. Mr. Wolhardt
was the Chairman of the Company from 17 September 2012 to
28 June 2013. Mr. Wolhardt is currently the chief executive officer
of DCP Advisors Limited since January 2017. Mr. Wolhardt was
a partner of KKR Asia Limited up to January 2017. Mr. Wolhardt
has been actively involved in advising on investments in Yageo
Corporation, a company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange
(stock code: 2327), Tianrui Group Cement Company Limited and
International Far Eastern Leasing Company Limited since he joined
KKR Asia Limited in 2006. Mr. Wolhardt is also an independent
non-executive director of Mengniu and a non-executive director of
COFCO Meat Holdings Limited (Stock code: 1610). Mr. Wolhardt
was an independent non-executive director of China Cord Blood
Corporation, a company listed on New York Stock Exchange
(Stock code: CO) from April 2012 to May 2015. Mr. Wolhardt is a
certified public accountant and certified management accountant.
Mr. Wolhardt received a bachelor degree in accounting from the
University of lllinois (Urbana-Champaign) in 1995.
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Mr. ZHANG Ping, aged 53, joined the Group as a non-executive
Director of the Company in March 2016. Mr. Zhang is the chief
financial officer of Mengniu. Mr. Zhang holds several directorships
in certain subsidiaries of Mengniu including the director of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu, Inner Mongolia Mengniu Danone Dairy Co., Ltd.,
Shijiazhuang Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. and Aspen Ventures Co.,
Ltd. Mr. Zhang also takes the position of non-executive director in
Yashili since 27 April 2015. Mr. Zhang postgraduated from Beijing
Information Science and Technology University with master degree
in management engineering, and has over 24 years of experience
in the industry of fast-moving consumer goods, specializing in the
management of operation, finance and audit as well as risk control.
He successively worked as manager of internal audit and system
development, finance director in Swire Beverages Co., Ltd, general
manager of its bottler manufacturing company and chief executive
officer in Coca-Cola Bottler Manufacturing Holdings Limited.

Mr. WEN Yongping, aged 43, was appointed as an non-
executive Director of the Company in March 2017. Mr. Wen is the
vice president of Mengniu and the general manager of the milk
sources business department of Mengniu. Mr. Wen graduated
from Inner Mongolia Agricultural University and obtained a Master
Degree of Food Engineering. Mr. Wen once served as the general
manager of production direction centre, operations assistant vice
president, milk sources vice president in Mengniu Group, and he
is experienced in production operational management and milk
sources management.
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Mr. LEE Kong Wai Conway, aged 63, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lee graduated from
Kingston University (formerly known as Kingston Polytechnic)
in London with a bachelor’s degree in business studies in July
1980 and further obtained his post graduate diploma in business
at Curtin University of Technology in Australia in February 1988.
Mr. Lee has over 30 years of experience in public accounting and
auditing, corporate finance, merger and acquisition and initial
public offerings. From September 1980 to September 2009, Mr.
Lee served as a partner of Ernst & Young and held key leadership
positions in the development of his firm in China. Mr. Lee is
currently an independent non-executive director of West China
Cement Limited (stock code: 2233), Chaowei Power Holdings
Limited (stock code: 951), GOME Electrical Appliances Holding
Limited (stock code: 493), Tibet 5100 Water Resources Holdings
Ltd (stock code: 1115), NVC Lighting Holding Limited (stock code:
2222), Yashili International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1230),
GCL New Energy Holdings Limited (stock code: 451), WH Group
Limited (stock code: 288), China Rundong Auto Group Limited
(stock code: 1365), companies listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock
Exchange”), Guotai Junan Securities Limited Co., Ltd (stock code:
2611), a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and
Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Lee was a non-executive director
and the deputy chairman of Merry Garden Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code:
1237) until 30 September 2015. Mr. Lee was the independent non-
executive director of CITIC Securities Company Limited, a company
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 6030) and
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600030) until May 2016.
Mr. Lee is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales, The Chartered Accountants, Australia and New
Zealand, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Macau
Society of Certified Practising Accountants. Mr. Lee was a member
of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of Hunan
Province from 2008 to 31 December 2017.
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Mr. LI Shengli, aged 52, is an independent non-executive Director
of the Company. Mr. Li graduated from Shihezi Agricultural College
with a bachelor degree in animal husbandry and veterinary science
in July 1987. He then obtained his doctorate degree in animal
nutrition science from China Agricultural University in July 1996.
Since 2003, Mr. Li has been with China Agricultural University,
working at various times as an assistant professor and professor.
Mr. Li is currently vice-director (Animal Nutrition) of the State Key
Laboratories, director of the Sino-US Dairy Research Center of
China Agricultural University, director of the Sino-Dutch Dairy
Development Center, chief scientist in national dairy products
industry technology system, a specialist to the China School Milk
Programme and a specialist in the Cattle and Poultry Research
Centre of Beijing Sanyuan Breeding Technology Co,. Ltd. Mr.
Li is a specialist to the Working Committee of National Dairy
Herd Improvement Programme (DHI) of the Dairy Association of
China and the chairman of China Institute of Animal Husbandry
and Veterinary Cattle Chapter. In 2007, Mr. Li obtained a patent
on Rubeili (ZLfEF), a type of high-energy and high-protein
supplementary feed for dairy cows. Mr. Li was awarded the second
prize and a prize of the Beijing Science and Technology Award in
2000 and 2007 respectively, and was recognized by the Beijing
Municipal Government as “Top 10 Scientists with Contribution to
the Economic Development in Rural Villages of Beijing” in 2009 and
received the first prize for advancement in science and technology
awarded by the Education Department in 2012 and the first
prize for Chinese Agricultural Science awarded by the Ministry of
Agriculture in 2013 and the second prize of National Scientific and
Technological Progress Award in 2014.

Mr. KANG Yan, aged 42, is an independent non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Kang graduated from the Renmin
University of China in 1998. Mr. Kang is a qualified practicing
attorney in China and is currently a partner of Fangda Partners. Mr.
Kang joined Beijing Commerce & Finance Law Offices in 2002 and
was promoted as a partner in 2008. Mr. Kang has over 10 years of
experience in legal corporate advisory on mergers and acquisitions
and initial public offerings.
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Mr. CHEN Hongbo, aged 40, is the deputy president of the
Group. Mr. Chen joined the Group in September 2008 and has
been responsible for equipment operation since then. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Chen was with Mengniu from May 2002 to
September 2008 during which period Mr. Chen was in charge of
operation several factories of Inner Mongolia Mengniu and worked
as the manager of the Mengniu (Wuhan) Frealth Dairy Co., Ltd.
Mr. Chen worked for Inner Mongolia Yili Industrial Group Co., Ltd.
as an equipment supervisor from July 1996 to May 2002. Mr.
Chen obtained a master degree in light industry technology and
engineering from Hubei University of Technology in September
2010.

Mr. DONG Xianli, aged 53, Mr. Dong joined the Group as chief
financial officer of the Group in December 2016. Mr. Dong has
extensive experience in financial management with accountant
and valuation qualifications in the People’s Republic of China. Mr.
Dong graduated from Beijing Forestry University with a bachelor
degree in soil and water conservation in July 1985 and from Inner
Mongolia University of Technology with a master degree in project
management in January 2010. Prior to joining the Company, Mr.
Dong was the assistant vice president of Mengniu. During his
tenure of service with Mengniu Group for more than 12 years, Mr.
Dong has developed strong expertise in financial management in
milk industry and was primarily responsible for risk management,
internal audit and project investment of Mengniu Group, including
holding various senior managerial positions and directorships in
certain subsidiaries of Mengniu.

Mr. HAI Tao, aged 48, is the assistant to the chief executive
officer of the Group. Mr. Hai joined the Group in October 2008 and
has since been responsible for the planning and management of
the farm. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Hai worked as a deputy
general manager for Shenzhen True Color Industrial Co., Ltd.
from August 2001 to September 2008. Mr. Hai was the customer
representative for the Beijing region of Shanghai Sangon Biological
Engineering Technology & Services Company between September
1998 and June 2001. Mr. Hai served as a member of the epidemic
division of the Daxing Anling Hygiene and Prevention Quarantine of
Disease from August 1994 to May 1998. Mr. Hai graduated from
Inner Mongolia University in July 1994, majoring in biology.

Annual Report 2017 —Z&— tF£3§

REEERE

AR 4 » 4058 RAKEMEIEE - BRE
ER-_ZEENFAAMAREEY B —BEAR
REGEELIE - MAXEER  REEE_FTT
“HFRAEZTT N\FAAREERRESY - A
BEARGRFBERELETIFE  THERSF
(RWE)RZRIAEERABNKIE - RELH
—hAhAARFLAEC 77f¢£H%W?EW%
EFNEXKERNDARARRBES - R4t
%:%-?iﬂﬁ%ﬁﬂI%KEﬁ%mﬂiﬁ
Bt R T2 247 -

BRELRE S35 ERERN T RFT-A
MAREELERAKREERNBE EXLER
i AR MBI M & 56 MR MR EED - 2R
BERHTERABLELR EXER-NN\LF

T ABBIEMERSB KT RIFEESR T2 -
YR -F-—EF-ARBAKEIXAZHEAE
BEEBLTEM - RIMAKRRFR - ELXLEE
STERER - EREERFTEEERER12
FHR  EPRTEVBERTHEREENE
EHB - IZAETEENAREE  NEE
AANEREE  BRERTETHEBAREES
TEAEEERALESR -

E%ﬁ'ﬁi 485% © RASENEEIE - BRE

REZZZNFTAMAREEY B —BHEEER
iﬁ%ﬁ?ﬂ%ﬁ RIMAREER - BEER-TE
—FENAETZEN\FNLAEERICKEEXE
RABMEIRKE - BRER-NAANFALAE
“EE-FRARCELEET AT ERMRS
REAMIEREETEPREK  BELETR— AT
FNRE-NANANFRARAKEZEHOLEED
RUERBRITHEBEIE - BRER—NANAEFL
AZERARHABNENBHE -



China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. FE RN EZEREGR LT

Biographies of Directors and Senior Management E£ K&

Mr. WANG Chun Jiang, aged 35, is the assistant to chief
executive officer of the Group. Mr. Wang joined the Group in May
2009 and has since been responsible for cattle breeding. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Wang worked for Inner Mongolia Mengniu
AustAsian Model Dairy Farm Co., Ltd. from August 2004 to May
2009, and has served as head of farms since March 2008. Mr.
Wang graduated from Inner Mongolia Agricultural University in July
2004, and has graduated with a postgraduate course for student
under employment at Inner Mongolia Agricultural University in
December 2013.

Mr. ZHAO Zunyang, aged 39, is the assistant to chief executive
officer of the Group and head of the nutrition center. Mr. Zhao
joined the Group in April 2010 and was responsible for the
production management for two years in the Group’s ranches.
From April 2013, Mr. Zhao was in charge of the nutrition of the
herd. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhao had work experiences in
the dairy industry at state-owned enterprises, foreign companies
and American ranches. Mr. Zhao obtained a bachelor’s degree in
animal husbandry from China Agricultural University in July 2000
and a master’s degree in animal nutrition from China Agricultural
University in June 2003. In May 2008, he was awarded a master’s
degree from Virginia Polytechnic Institute University in cow nutrition
professional doctorate.

Mr. YANG Wenhai, aged 44, is the assistant to chief executive
officer of the Group. Mr. Yang joined the Group in July 2017 and
has been responsible for procurement and party work of the Group
since then. Prior to joining the Group, from July 1996 to June 2017,
Mr. Yang worked at COFCO QOil of China National Cereals, Oils and
Foodstuffs Corporation including, the deputy general manager of
the packaging and marketing department of COFCO OQil, general
manager of COFCO Cereals And QOils Industry (Chaohu) Co., Ltd.,
general manager and deputy general manager of the oil marketing
department of the Nantong Branch of Chinese Vegetable QOil
Company and the manager of the operation department of eastern
China region for the soybean and oil department of the Chinese
Vegetable Oil Company. Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree in
grain and oil storage from Zhengzhou Grain Institute in July 1996
and a master’s degree in business administration from Renmin
University of China in July 2002.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China
Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and the management
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are
committed to upholding a high standard of corporate governance
to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholder(s)”) and the Company as a whole.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report
(“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”). The Company has, throughout the year ended
31 December 2017 and up to the date of this report, complied with
the code provisions set out in the CG Code except for the deviation
from code provisions A.6.7.

Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code provides that non-executive
Directors should attend general meetings and develop a balanced
understanding of the views of the Shareholders. One non-executive
Directors and one independent non — executive Director were not
able to attend the annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the Company
held on 30 June 2017 (“AGM 2016”) due to other business
engagements.

The Company is headed by the Board which assumes the
responsibility for leadership and control and be collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing
and supervising the Company’s affairs. The Board is accountable
to the Shareholders for managing the Company in a responsible
and effective manner. Every Director is committed to act in the
best interest of the Company and to contribute their expertise
and knowledge to the Company. The Board decides on overall
strategies and monitors the Group’s performance on behalf of the
Shareholders.

The Board determines the objectives, strategies and policies of the
Group. In addition, the Board monitors and controls operating and
financial performance in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives.
The day-to-day management of the Group’s business is delegated
to the chief executive officer and the management of the Group
under the supervision of the executive Directors of the Company.
In addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to
the board committees of the Company (the “Board Committees”).
Matters reserved for the Board and Board Committees are those
affecting the Group’s overall strategic policies, financial objectives,
dividend policy, changes in accounting policies, material acquisition
and disposal of assets, investments and other significant matters.
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As at 31 December 2017, the Board comprised nine Directors,
including two executive Directors, namely Ms. Gao Lina, Mr. Han
Chunlin, four non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lu Minfang, Mr.
Wolhardt Julian Juul, Mr. Zhang Ping and Mr. Wen Yongping, and
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li Shengli,
Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway, and Mr. Kang Yan. The Chairman of
the Board is Mr. Lu Minfang. Ms. Gao Lina is the deputy Chairman
of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group. Mr. Han
Chunlin is the Chief Operation Officer of the Group.

The biographical details of the Board members are set out in the
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 41 to
48 of this annual report.

All Directors are aware of their collective and individual
responsibilities to the Shareholders and have exercised their duties
of care, skill and diligence. Comprehensive directors and officers
liability insurance coverage is in place to provide protection to the
Company, the Directors and senior management.

The non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors give the Board the benefit of their skills, expertise, varied
background and experiences. Through active participation in Board
meetings and serving on various Board Committees, the non-
executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors
bring in independent judgment and make valuable contributions to
the effective direction and strategic decision making of the Group.

Each of the non-executive Directors is appointed for a specific term
of 3 years, subject to retirement by rotation under the articles of
association of the Company (“Articles of Association”).

Each of the independent non-executive Directors is appointed for
a specific term of 3 years, subject to retirement by rotation under
the Articles of Association. Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway, one of
the independent non-executive Directors, has the appropriate
accounting or related financial management expertise as required
under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The Board has received
from each independent non-executive Director a written annual
confirmation of their independence and is satisfied with their
independence in accordance with the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all independent non-executive Directors meet
the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The number of independent non-executive Directors of the
Company is three and represents at least one-third of the Board as
required under Rule 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules.
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The Board is responsible for determining the policies for corporate
governance of the Company and performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(@)  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(c)  toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors;

(e) to review the existing share option scheme and share award
scheme of the Company; and

(f)  to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules.

During the year, the Board has fulfilled the corporate governance
functions by reviewing the Company’s corporate governance
practices.

The Chairman is responsible for ensuring that the Board is
functioning properly, with good corporate governance practices and
procedures. He also steers the Board and the Company towards
its corporate goals. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for
the effective implementation of the overall strategies and initiatives
adopted by the Board as well as the daily operation of the Group.
For the current reporting year, the Chairman of the Board is Mr. Lu
Minfang (since 29 March 2017) and Mr. Yu Xubo (up to 29 March
2017), each an non-executive Director. The Chief Executive Officer
of the Company is Ms. Gao Lina, an executive Director.

With the support of the Chief Executive Officer and the Company
Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are
properly briefed on issues brought up at Board meetings and that
they receive adequate and reliable information in relation to matters
discussed at Board meetings and also other affairs of the Group
on a monthly basis in order to enable the Directors to assess the
Group’s performance, position and prospects in sufficient details.
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BOARD PROCEDURES
During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Board has
held eleven meetings to discuss the overall strategy as well as
the operations and financial performance of the Group. The
Directors participated in person or through electronic means of
communication. Details of the Directors’ attendance at the Board
and Board Committee meetings and the AGM 2016 are set out as

follows:

Name of Director

Executive Directors

Ms. GAO Lina (Deputy Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. HAN Chunlin

Non-executive Directors
Mr. LU Minfang (Chairman)
(appointed on 29 March 2017)

Mr. YU Xubo (resigned on
29 March 2017)
Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul

Mr. Zhang Ping

Mr. WEN Yongping (appointed on

29 March 2017)

Mr. HUI Chi Kin, Max (resigned on

29 March 2017
Mr. SUN Yugang (resigned on
29 March 2017

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LI Shengli
Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway
Mr. KANG Yan

Mr. ZOU Fei (resigned on
29 March 2017)
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General
Meeting

it
AFAE

01

1/
NA
iR
NA
ki

7
N/A
Oyl

General
Meeting

e
TN

N/A
Tih
N/A
Tih

N/A
TR
N/A
TR
N/A
TR
N/A
TR
N/A
Bl
N/A
TR
N/A
TR

N/A
T
N/A
T
N/A
T
N/A
T

EEgRF
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BRABER - EEAHRY LEBETFBAT A
g EENFEEY EEZERGHAR-D
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Number of Board meetings,
Board Committee meetings and General meetings attended/held
LE/BESEeH ESZEEEHRRRAENY

Annual Extraordinary

Strategy and

Development

Nomination ~ Committee
Committee ~ BHRER
R#zEe z88

Audit  Remuneration
Committee ~ Committee
EhZEE  HMZES

N/A N/A N/A N/A
A1 ol TER TEA Mg
N/A N/A N/A N/A

A1 ol TER TEA Mg

N/A N/A NA N/A

78 iR TER TER TNER

N/A N/A N/A N/A

2 ol TER TEA Mg

N/A N/A

/11 111 11 T@R Byilii
N/A N/A N/A

1411 ailid 11 TR Mg
N/A N/A N/A

8 17 ail TEA il

NA N/A N/A

Wl 111 TR TR TNER

N/A N/A N/A N/A

ol ol TER TEA Mg

N/A

il

N/A

MNER

N/A N/A

A1 ol 202 17 TR
N/A N/A

A1 202 TER 17 TR
NA N/A

1A il 1 17 TER
N/A N/A

10 111 11 TER Byilii




The Board and each Director have separate and independent
access to the Company’s senior management for information and
may make inquiries if necessary. Directors of the Company who
considers it necessary to seek independent professional advice in
order to perform his/her duties as a Director of the Company may
convene, or request the Company Secretary to convene, a meeting
of the Board to approve the consultation of independent legal or
other professional advisor for advice at Company’s expenses.
For regular Board meetings, an agenda and accompanying board
papers of the meeting are sent to all Directors before the proposed
date of a meeting. Additional Board meetings, if necessary, are
arranged and held as and when required. During the reporting year
review, the Chairman met with the non-executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
executive Directors to exchange views on matters concerning the
business development, management and corporate governance of
the Group.

Every Director is entitled to access the advice and services of
the Company Secretary with a view to ensuring that the Board
procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations, are complied
with. All minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open
for inspection by any Director during normal office hours with
reasonable advance notice.
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In accordance with the CG Code and the Articles of Association,
all Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
are subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.
Each Director has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years. The Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at each AGM of the
Company in accordance with article 17.18 of the Articles of
Association. Directors appointed as an addition to the Board or to
fill a casual vacancy on the Board will be subject to re-election by
the Shareholders at the next following AGM or the next following
general meeting of the Company respectively after the appointment.
Also, when an independent non-executive Director proposed for
re-election has served the Company for more than nine years, his
or her re-election will be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved at the AGM.

The Board has adopted diversity policy, which sets out the
approach to diversity of Board members. In determining the
Board’s composition, the Company considers a range of diversity
elements, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and education background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. All appointments of the Board will be made based
on merit and objective criteria while taking into full account of the
interest of Board’s diversity.

As at date of this report, the Board comprises nine Directors
with both gender, three of which are independent non-executive
Directors, thereby promoting critical review and control of the
management process. The Board is also characterised by
significant diversity, whether considered in terms of gender,
nationality, professional background and skills.
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According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the board remains informed and relevant. The
Company shall be responsible for arranging suitable training for
all Directors at the Company’s expense. The Group continuously
updates the Directors on the latest development regarding the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements, to
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ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate 53| » LA EE{%Ei\ BTMAEBE I KE  EE R
governance practices. For newly appointed Director a induction & 8H R
package will be given to ensure that he has a proper understanding
of the operations, business and governance policies of the Group.
A summary of training received by the Directors during the year RIEBESRIEHMNLE  EENHE-_Z—+F
ended to 31 December 2017 according to the records provided by +—=A=+—HItFEMREHEIEM@MT -
the Directors is as follows:
Executive Directors BITES
Ms. GAO Lina =B+ A B
Mr. HAN Chunlin BWEREMEL A B
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. LU Minfang (Chairman) ESBRSTE(ER)
(appointed on 29 March 2017) (RZE—tF=HA=Z+NLBEZE) A, B,C
Mr. YU Xubo ThEREE
(resigned on 29 March 2017) (R=—Z—+F=A -+ NLBET) A B
Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul WOLHARDT Julian Juul 5t4& A B C
Mr. ZHANG Ping RFEEAE A, B
Mr. WEN Yongping oK A
(appointed on 29 March 2017) (RZE—tEF=HZ+NLBEZE) A, B
Mr. HUI Chi Kin, Max (resigned on 29 March 2017) fFEBAEE(R_Z—+tF = A -+ L HEIT) A B
Mr. SUN Yugang FEEMI ST E
(resigned 29 March 2017) (R=—Z—+F=ZA -+ NBET) A, B
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHTES
Mr. LI Shengli ey b A B
Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway FAREE AB,C
Mr. KANG Yan FRERSEAE A B
Mr. ZOU Fei ML
(resigned on 29 March 2017) (RZE—tF =A==+ NLBEE) A, B

A: Reading materials, journals and updates relating to the business and
industry development

B: Reading materials relevant to the latest development of the Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirement

C: Attending or delivering seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

A HEBREBRITEER
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In order to oversee particular aspects of the Group, the Board has
established a Remuneration Committee, an Audit Committee a
Nomination Committee and a Strategy and Development Committee
with the defined terms of reference in line with the CG Code. The
terms of reference are published on the respective websites of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Company. The Board
Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and are able to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances upon request. Details of these Board
committees including their composition, major responsibilities and
functions and work performed are as follows:

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Li Shengli
and other members are Mr. Zhang Ping and Mr. Kang Yan.
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by an independent
non-executive Director and the majority being independent
non-executive Directors of the Company. Mr. Zou Fei and Mr.
Wolhardt Julian Juul ceased to be members of the Remuneration
Committee on 29 March 2017.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for the remuneration for all the Directors and senior
management of the Group, and make recommendations of the
remuneration for all the executive Directors, non-executive Directors
and the senior management packages to the Board.

The Company’s emolument policy is to ensure that the
remuneration offered to employees including executive Directors
and senior management of the Group is based on the skills,
knowledge, responsibilities and involvement in the Company’s
and the Group’s affairs. The remuneration packages are also
determined by reference to the Company’s performance and
profitability, remuneration level in the industry and the prevailing
market conditions. The emolument policy for independent non-
executive Directors, mainly comprising Directors’ fees, is subject
to annual assessment with reference to the market standard.
Individual Directors and senior management would not be involved
in deciding their own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee
has been provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed, discussed and approved the remuneration
for the executive Directors and senior management of the Group,
reviewed the remuneration policy and made recommendation to the
Board for the remuneration for the non-executive Directors for its
approval. Remuneration Committee has also reviewed the existing
share award scheme and share option scheme.
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BE - AERTES  FRTEERERERE
BzHMmESSREES

ARRZHFHHKEERRAREES (BERASEHR
TEFRRRAEERE ) REZHFMIERERE
M BERZEAQRBRAEEEHMETE
HIAEAM2RARB ZEERBIIR - 7%
FBKFARZE R TSR METE - BILIFRTT
EE7FMBR(I2REEFERR)E2RTS
BREGFETHE - EHNEERSREEETS
SEERAHFMZETE - FMEE S ERMtR
WERBITHRE -

BE_Z—+F+A=+—HILFE  FME
Be®El awlkitEXAXEBERTEELSRE
BEZHME REHFMNEE  UMERATESZ
FHRE=SRHEHBEERURESEL - HFWE
B & ERIR R f A SR AT 8] KB A iR & o



The remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2017 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (RMB)

el (AR¥T)
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Number of persons

BEAB

0-1,000,000

1,000,001-2,000,000
2,000,001-3,000,000
3,000,001-4,000,000
4,000,001-5,000,000
5,000,001-6,000,000
6,000,001-7,000,000

—_ A 0O =N O =

The above remuneration included equity-based payment in relation
to the cancellation of outstanding options of the Company during
the mandatory cash offer by Mengniu which was completed on 21
March 2017.

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 10 and 11 to
the financial statements.

Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2017, the Audit Committee comprised two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lee Kong Wai,
Conway and Mr. Kang Yan and one non-executive Director, Mr.
Wolhardt Julian Juul. Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway and Mr. Wolhardt
Julian Juul posses the relevant professional qualifications required
under the Listing rules. The Chairman of the Audit Committee is
Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway. Mr. Hui Chi Kin Max and Mr. Zou Fei
ceased to be members of the Audit Committee on 29 March 2017.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to oversee
the Group’s financial reporting system, risk management system
and internal control procedures, and to review and monitor
the external auditors’ independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with the applicable
standard. The Audit Committee has been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31
December 2017. Major work completed by the Audit Committee
during the year includes:

° reviewed the Group’s annual report, interim financial
information and annual financial statements;

° reviewed significant accounting and audit issues;

° reviewed the external auditor’s qualifications, independence
and performance;

° reviewed the external auditor’'s management letter and the
management’s response;

° reported to the Board on matters relating to the Audit
Committee under the CG Code;

° assisted the Board to evaluate on the effectiveness of financial
reporting procedures and internal control system;

° reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s
systems of internal control and risk management and the
effectiveness of the internal audit function; and

° reviewed/continuing connected transactions entered into by
the Group or subsisting during the year.

The Nomination Committee comprised two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway and Mr.
Kang Yan, and one non-executive Director Mr. Lu Minfang. The
Chairman of Nomination Committee is Mr. Lu Minfang (since
29 March 2017) Mr. Kang Yan was the chairman of Nomination
Committee up to 29 March 2017.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy; identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships; assess the independence of
independent non-executive directors; and make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of directors
and succession planning for directors, in particular the chairman
and the chief executive. The Nomination Committee has been
provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties.
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During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Nomination
Committee reviewed and recommended the structure, size and
composition (including skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board. It reviewed the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors. It also made recommendations to the Board
on retiring Directors for re-election at the AGM 2016.

The Company has established a Strategy and Development
Committee on 11 December 2014. As at 31 December 2017,
the Strategy and Development Committee comprised executive
Director, Ms. Gao Lina, two non-executive Director, Mr. Wolhardt
Julian Juul and Mr. Wen Yongping and one independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Li Shengli. The Strategy and Development
Committee is chaired by Ms. Gao Lina. Mr. Zou Fei ceased to be
a member of the Strategy and Development Committee on 29
March 2017. Mr. Li Shengli was the Chairman of the Strategy and
Development Committee up to 29 March 2017.

The principal duties of the Strategy and Development Committee
include drawing up long-term development strategies and
significant investments on financing plans of the Company,
proposing significant capital investment for operation projects, and
conducting studies and making recommendations on important
matters that would affect the development of the Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board
process, as well as communication among Board members, with
Shareholders and management. All Directors have access to the
advice and service of the Company Secretary to ensure that board
procedures, all applicable rules and regulations are followed.
The Company Secretary complied with the professional training
requirement with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the year
under review.

The Group’s external auditors are Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. The
Audit Committee is responsible for the appointment of external
auditors and reviewing the non-audit services (including any
potential conflict of interest) performed by the external auditors.
The amount of fees charged by the auditor generally depends on
the scope and volume of the auditor’s work. For the year ended 31
December 2017, the remuneration to the auditor of the Company
were approximately RMB2.7 million (2016: RMB4.4 million) for audit
services and RMBO0.15 million (2016: RMBO0.6 million) for non-audit
services.
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the
financial statements that give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group. Meanwhile, the Directors are responsible for
ensuring that appropriate accounting policies are selected and
applied consistently; and that judgments and estimates made
are prudent and reasonable. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2017, the requirements of
the International Financial Reporting Standards, International
Accounting Standards and Interpretations (collectively “IFRSs”)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the
applicable laws were complied with.

The Board was not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon
the Group’s ability to continue as going concern. The Board has
prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of external auditors of the Company
are disclosed in “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 121 to
129 of this annual report.

Pursuant to code provision C.1.2 of the CG Code, the management
of the Company should provide all members with monthly updates
giving a fair and understandable assessment of the Company’s
performance, financial position and prospects in sufficient detail to
enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge his
duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules. Monthly
updates such as condensed monthly managements accounts and
updated information have been provided to all members of the
Board for the year under review.

During the year, there is no significant change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

The Board is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control system of the Group. The
scope of the review is determined and recommended by the Audit
Committee. The review covers all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions. Such review also considers the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of the staff of the Company in relation
to its accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget. Risk management and internal control
review reports are circulated to the Audit Committee members and
the Board in accordance with the approved scope.
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During the year under review, the Group has complied with Code
Provision C.2 of the CG Code by establishing appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems. The major
features of the risk management and internal control systems are
set out as below:

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

° Identification: |dentify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

° Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

o Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitoring of the
residual risks.

The Board together with senior management monitor and assess
risk regularly, boost related management standards and evaluate
investment projects. Based on the risk assessments conducted for
the year under review, no significant risk was identified.

The Company has in place an internal control system. The
framework of the system enables the Group to achieve objectives
regarding effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability
of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. The components of the framework are shown as follow:

° Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

° Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should
be managed.

° Control Activities: Action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried out.

° Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

° Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present and
functioning.
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With aim to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and
implements an inside information policy and procedures. Certain
reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure
that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure
requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

° The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality.

° Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group
enters into significant negotiations.

° The executive Directors are designated persons who speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with external
parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted for the year under
review, no significant control deficiency was identified.

The Audit Committee is satisfied that the risk management system
and internal control system maintained by the Group is sufficient to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the Group’s
assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or
disposition, and that transactions are properly authorized and
proper accounting records are properly maintained.

Internal audit is an independent function reporting to the Audit
Committee and senior management of the Group. It provides an
independent and objective assurance to safeguard the Group’s
operations. It effectuates a systematic and disciplined approach to
evaluate and improve the Group’s process on risk management,
internal control and governance. The risk based audit plans ensure
that high risk areas of the Group’s operations and resources are
specifically attended to Ad hoc reviews are conducted on areas of
concern where necessary.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviews the adequacy
of resources, training programmes, budget, qualifications and
experience of the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
staff in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee and the Board review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and fulffill
the requirement of the CG Code regarding risk management and
internal control systems in general. During the reporting year, the
internal audit department has conduct audit at different farms of the
Group and reported to the senior management.
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The senior management has reviewed the risk management
and internal control system of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2017 and considered them to be effective and adequate.

The Group will continue to enhance the system to cope with the
changes in the business environment.

The Company discloses relevant information to Shareholders
through the Company’s annual report and financial statements,
the interim report, as well as the AGM. The section under “CEQO’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of the
annual report facilitate the Shareholders’ understanding of the
Company’s activities. The AGM allows the Directors to meet and
communicate with the Shareholders. The Company’s financial
statements and each of the required disclosure of information are
dispatched within the prescribed period imposed by laws and
regulations.

To manage its relationship with the investment community, the
Group meets regularly with the press and financial analysts and
participates frequently in other conferences and presentations.

To further promote effective communication, the corporate website
is maintained to disseminate Company announcements and other
relevant financial and non-financial information electronically on a
timely basis.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the issued
share capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings may require an extraordinary general meeting
by a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary
either via personal delivery or mail (Attn: Board of Directors/
Company Secretary, at Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower,
262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong) or via email
(info@moderndairyir.com). The Board shall proceed duly within
21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition to convene a
general meeting to be held within a further 21 days.
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Shareholders may send their enquiries requiring the Board’s
attention to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
office address at Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262
Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The Company
Secretary forwards communications relating to matters within the
Board’s purview to the Board.

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to
the operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be
discussed at general meetings. Proposals shall be sent to the
Board pursuant to the following address via personal delivery, mail
or courier to: Attention: Shareholder Communication, Board of
Directors, Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester
Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Board may, in its sole discretion, consider if such proposals
are appropriate and shall be put forward to the Shareholders for
approval at next annual general meeting or at an extraordinary
general meeting to be convened by the Board, as appropriate.

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, all votes of the
Shareholders at the AGM must be taken by poll. The chairman
of the meeting will therefore demand a poll for every resolution
put to the vote of the AGM pursuant to article 14.6 of the Articles
of Association. The relevant details of the proposed resolutions,
including biographies of each Director standing for re-election, will
be included in the circular to Shareholders dispatched together
with the annual report. The Company will announce the results of
the poll in the manner prescribed under Rule 13.39(5) of the Listing
Rules.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
all Directors confirmed they have complied with the required
standard set out in the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors adopted by the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2017.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company adopts a proactive policy in promoting investor
relations and communications. When the Company announces its
interim and annual results, management will normally meets with
institutional investors, financial analysts and financial media, provide
briefings on the business progress and recent developments of
the Company. The Company has regularly participated in investor
summits and conferences to enhance communication with the
investment community. Investors are welcomed to send their
enquiries to our investor relation at info@moderndairyir.com or
browse the Company’s website (http://www.moderndairyir.com) for
latest update information of the Group.

On behalf of the Board
GAO Lina
Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2018
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The Board presents its report together with the audited financial
statements of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2017.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are (i) production and sale
of raw milk to customers for processing into dairy products; and
(i) production and sale of liquid milk products. There were no
significant change in the nature of the Group’s principal activities
during the year.

The particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 43 to the
financial statements.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 and
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at that date
are set out in the financial statements and the notes on pages 130
to 273.

Details of the movement in the share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2017, except that the trustee of
the share award scheme adopted on 9 September 2016 (“Share
Award Scheme”), pursuant to the rules of the Share Award
Scheme, purchased on the open market a total of 450,000 shares
of the Company at a consideration of approximately HK$803,000
(equivalent to RMB713,000) on 31 March 2017. As at 13 December
2017, the trustee of the Share Award Scheme has purchased
from the open market with aggregate 35,969,000 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 0.59% of the issued share
capital of the Company.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 130. The movements in reserves
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 133.

No interim dividend was paid during the year (2016: nil), and the
Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend (2016:
nil) in respect of the year 2017.

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
reporting year amounted to approximately RMB1.73 million (2016:
RMB8.46 million).
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A review of the Group’s business, a discussion on the Group’s
future business development and possible risks and uncertainties
that the Group may be facing, and an analysis of the Group’s
performance using financial key performance indicators for year
ended 31 December 2017 are provided in the CEO’s Statement
on pages 5 to 9 and the Management Discussion and Analysis on
pages 15 to 40 of this annual report. These discussions form part
of this report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are shown in note 36 to the financial statements.

Other than financial performance, the Group believes that a high
standard of corporate social responsibility is essential for building
up a good corporate and social relationship and motivating
staff and creating a sustainable return to the Group. We are
committed to contributing to the sustainability of the environment
and community in which we conduct business and where our
stakeholders live.

As a responsible business participant, the Group strictly
endeavoured to comply with laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopted effective environmental
technologies to ensure our products meet the required standards
and ethics in respect of environment protection.

The employees of the Group are one of the most important assets
and stakeholders of the Group and their contribution and support
are values at all times. The Group regularly reviews compensation
and benefits policies accordingly to industry benchmark as well
as the individual performance of employees. Other fringe benefits,
mandatory provident fund, share options and share award scheme
are provided to retain loyal employees with the aim to form a
professional staff and management team that can bring the Group
to different levels of success.

The Company adopts an open, fair and impartial procurement
policies, and takes the lead in formulating industry standards as a
win-win approach for a healthy development of the dairy industry.
The quality and safety of feed are always our primary consideration.
We have established long-term cooperation relationship with
a number of suppliers, and strived to ensure that they are in
compliance with our undertaking on quality and ethics. We require
the suppliers to observe our undertaking on integrity. We have
stringent requirements in supplier selection and that they must
satisfy the qualification requirements in quality, safety, nutrients,
historical record and overall performance etc. and pass our
constant examination and evaluation before becoming our qualified
suppliers.
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To provide high quality products and services to customers are
always our mission. Customers’ need and demand are always
our top consideration. With the increase of income and the
popularization of health concepts, the demand of dairy products
is increasingly augmented with a growing tendency for diversified
products. We keeps improving our customer service system and
makes regular investigation on the satisfaction of consumers to
proactively understand their demand. Besides, we have opened
hotline to receive complaints and suggestions from consumers and
communicate with them.

In addition, we, together with Mengniu Group expands the
sales network and increases sale forms, setting up outlets in
large supermarkets, By doing so, we hope to gradually develop
customers, deliver our fresh milk products in time, and meet
consumers’ demand.

The Group’s main operations are carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in the mainland China while the Company itself is listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Group’s operations are
regulated by Hong Kong and mainland China laws. During the year
ended 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this report, the
Board was not aware of any non-compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company.
Please refer to the discussions in this report and the “Corporate
Governance Report” for further details on the Group’s compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations.

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association (the “Articles
of Association”), every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all loss or liabilities (to
the fullest extent permitted by the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands) which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution
of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The
Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company.

The remuneration of each Director is determined with reference to
the duties, responsibilities, performance of the Directors, the results
of the Group and the prevailing market rate.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 10 to

the financial statements.

Details of the corporate governance practice of the Company are
set out on pages 49 to 65 of this annual report.
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During the reporting year, the Company issued 826,638,823
ordinary shares in the Company (2016: Nil) fully paid.

Details of the movement of share capital are set out in note 32.

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 133 and note 45 to the financial
statements. The Company’s distributable reserves, calculated in
accordance with the Companies Law of Cayman Islands, amounted
to approximately RMB6,019.5 million as at 31 December 2017
(2016: RMB4,472.0 million).

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 274 to
276.

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

Particulars of bank and other loans of the Group as at 31 December
2017 are set out in notes 26, 27, 28, 29 and 30 to the financial
statements.

The turnover attributable to the Group’s primary customers.
Mengniu Group, accounted for approximately 74.09% (2016:
48.33%) of the Group’s total turnover for the year ended 31
December 2017. The Group’s five largest customers contributed in
aggregate 88.35% (2016: 69.65%) of the Group’s total turnover for
the year ended 31 December 2017.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the five largest suppliers
of the Group in aggregate represented 12.37% (2016: 12.71%) of
the Group’s total purchases. Purchases from the largest supplier
accounted for approximately 3.40% (2016: 4.24%) of the Group’s
total purchases.

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” and the interest in Mengniu of Mr. Lu
Minfang, Mr. Zhang Ping and Mr. Wen Yongping as disclosed in
the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures”
below of this report, none of the Directors or any of their associates
or any shareholder (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the Group’s top five largest customers and
suppliers.
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The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2017 and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Ms. GAO Lina (Deputy Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. HAN Chunlin (Chief Operation Officer)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. LU Minfang (Chairman)
(appointed on 29 March 2017)
Mr. YU Xubo (Chairman)
(resigned on 29 March 2017)
Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul
Mr. ZHANG Ping
Mr. WEN Yongping
(appointed on 29 March 2017)
Mr. HUI Chi Kin, Max
(resigned on 29 March 2017)
Mr. SUN Yugang
(resigned on 29 March 2017)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LI Shengli
Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway
Mr. KANG Yan
Mr. ZOU Fei
(resigned on 29 March 2017)

In accordance with Article 17.18 of the Articles of Association of
the Company, Ms. Gao Lina, Mr. Zhang Ping and Mr. Kang Yan will
retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM as at the date of this report.

The Company considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent pursuant to the criteria set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and that a confirmation of independence has
been received from each of them.

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on pages
41 to 48.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the AGM
has a service contract which is not determinable by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.
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Related Parties Transaction

None of the “Related Parties Transactions” as disclosed in note 42
to the consolidated financial statements for the year under review
constituted discloseable non-exempted connected transaction or
non-exempted continuing connected transaction under the Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At 31 December 2017, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company and their
respective associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) were
as follows:

Nature of interest

EENtE

Name of Director

Exps

Ms. GAO Lina® Interest in controlled corporation
[=S)3 e REHLEBE R

Beneficial owner
EmFEA

Mr. HAN Chunlin
BEMEL

Beneficial owner

BESRAEA

(1) Ms. Gao holds approximately 49.12% of the interests in Jinmu
Holdings Co Ltd. (“Jinmu”). Ms. Gao is deemed to be interested in
the 221,581,733 shares in the Company held by Jinmu under the
SFO.

(2)  This represent legal and beneficial interest of 4,800,000 shares in the
Company, 4,001,000 award shares granted on 24 April 2017 but not
yet vested under the Share Award Scheme, and 29,276,916 share
options in underlying shares of the pre-IPO management options (the
“Management Options”) granted by the Company.

(8)  These represent 1,975,000 award shares granted on 24 April 2017
but not yet vested under the Share Award Scheme, and 21,653,916
share options in underlying shares of the Management Options
granted by the Company.
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Approximate

Number of percentage of

Shares or shareholding
underlying Shares interest
I3 AR AR 10 B B RESNE DL
221,581,733 3.61%
38,077,916@ 0.62%
23,628,916@ 0.39%

(1) &% =L#AJnmu Holdings Co Ltd.([Jinmul) 49
49.12%#E % o IRIEFFH LRGN - &2 T#iR
ARJinmuBTi221,581,733 A R EIRRMD PR

r» ¢

fEm ©

(2)  i=384,800,0008FZ B mFEMALQEMRG « BRI
BPDEBFEHEA S —ENA -+ AR
B4 A 57 B #94,001,000/% 2 EIAZ 1+ AR ANA ]
FIREER AREEEREERE(ETRERE
A ) B0 AERAA D 7R 29,276,91617 BE AR HE -

(B EMRERBEROEBFEIER=2Z—tFHNMNA
Z -+ E LA K 5B 91,975,000 % 42 E) i
B RARRMEHEREEREMNERERG S
21,653,916/ BEARAE -
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Interest in Associated Corporation

Name of Director

EEne

Name of associated corporation

HBEE BB

Mr. Lu Minfang
B8t

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
PRERFIEERAF

Mr. Zhang Ping
RFEE

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
PERFIEERAF

Mr. Wen Yongping
B IEE

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
FRERFIEBRAA

Note: Mr. Lu Minfang, Mr Zhang Ping and Mr. Wen Yongping are non-
executive Directors of the Company. Mr. Lu Minfang is an executive
director and chief executive officer of Mengniu. Mr. ZHANG Ping
is a chief financial officer of Mengniu. Mr. WEN Yongping is the
assistant vice president of Mengniu and the general manager of the
milk sources business department of Mengniu. As at the date of
this report, Mengniu holds 60.76% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, none of
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company and their
respective associates had any interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) as recorded in the register of the Company required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

As disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis — Acquisition by Mengniu”, Mengniu announced and
acquired, upon the completion of the Offer, additional shares in the
Company. Mr. Zhang Ping was a chief financial officer of Mengniu
and a director of the Company at the time of the transaction.

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which
the Company, its fellow subsidiaries, its subsidiaries or its holding
company was a party, and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or any time during the year.

AR L E Ay

Approximate
percentage of
shareholdings

Number of shares interest
IR0 8B IR BRBEE
1,029,100 0.03%

277,740 0.01%

234,500 0.01%

Hret - EBUREE - RIFPEERBKFEEHRER
AHERTES - EERAEERRTORITE
FHREH - RTEERTRFTNERUBE < )BX
FEERTFTMERERTFDHRELERRL
B RARERY  RFERFBERRFDEHITHA
60.76% °
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The Director named in the paragraphs below have interests in
businesses, which are considered to compete or likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during
the reporting year.

During the year under review, Mr. Lu Minfang is an executive
director and chief executive officer of Mengniu. Mr. ZHANG Ping
is a chief financial officer of Mengniu. Mr. WEN Yongping is the
assistant vice president of Mengniu and the general manager of
the milk sources business department of Mengniu. Mengniu is a
substantial shareholder of the Company and is engaged in the dairy
industry.

All of them hold interest in Mengniu as at 31 December 2017 as
disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Position in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” above.

The above-mentioned competing business is managed by separate
entities with independent management and administration. The
Directors are of the view that the Group is capable of carrying on
its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from, the
businesses of these entities. When making decisions, the relevant
Director, in performance of his duty as Director, have acted and will
continue to act in the best interests of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their respective
associates had any interest in any company or business which
competes or may compete with the business of the Group during
the year.

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company and
the Group were entered into or existed during the reporting year.
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PRE-IPO MANAGEMENT OPTIONS BRAAHRENEEEHBRE

The Company granted Management Options to Ms. Gao Lina, ARAFMSERLT « BEMGEEREEM L+
Mr. Han Chunlin and Mr. Sun Yugang. The following Management & H &R EHEARIE o« LA TN AER S RITHEHNEIE
Options were outstanding during the period: [E R -

Number of underlying shares of the Company which may be
issued pursuant to the Management Options

REEEERRETVERTNF2TERROBE

As at As at

1 January Granted Exercised Cancelled 31 December

2017 during during during 2017

Name of grantee Date of grant R-Z—tF the period the period the period? RZ-ZT—tf

REARR REBH —A—H HBARE BRTRE BREHE? +-A=t+-A

Ms. GAO Lina 31 October 2010 29,276,916 - - - 29,276,916
BRI —2-TF+A=1-H

Mr. HAN Chunlin 31 October 2010 21,653,916 - - - 21,653,916
BEiLE “T-TFHAST-A

Mr. SUN Yugang” 31 October 2010 9,142,924 - - (9,142,924) -
BERIEED “Z-ZE+A=1-H

60,073,756 - - (9,142,924) 50,930,832

Note (1) SUN Yugang has resigned as non-executive director of the  MfzE(1) BEMR -ZE—+E=F -+ ABELARA
Company on 29 March 2017, ENITES ©

Note (2) The option holders accepted the mandatory cash offer (the “Offers”)  [izE(2) BARIEREREAZNSFR _T—LtF=A

by Mengniu which was completed on 21 March 2017 and the Z+—HERREGERSZHTEL]) - m
options were cancelled. ZEBRER S -

These options are exercisable at the exercise price HK$0.86 per ZEEREAINAAR LA T —TF+—
share during the period commencing from the listing date of the A —+/XB)EEHEZ&R T BHR10FHMIRTEE
Company (26 November 2010) until 10 years from the date of  &=AXM1H0.8678 LITHE -

grant.

The number of shares in the Company to be issued upon the W_ZT—+F+—-A=+—H8 ' A{TEHKITHE
exercise of the outstanding options is 50,930,832 shares, ®EREMEITHARR ARG EE £50,930,832
representing 0.83% of the issued share capital of the Company as % ' {52 A E 34T A0.83% °

at 31 December 2017.
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SHARE OPTIONS BRAE

() Share Option Scheme adopted on 17 November ) R=EB——F+—-—BA+tHEHVER
2011 (“Share Option Scheme I”) RESTEI([ BB ERTEI)
The Company unconditionally adopted a share option scheme ARARRZE——F+— A+ REKG
on 17 November 2011. The following share options were PN —IBAEARFEET 2] o TR BERR R 2T~
outstanding under the Share Option Scheme | during the H B IR RE A B A R E T -
period:

Number of shares of the Company which may be issued pursuant to

the Share Options Scheme |
BEERETBITERTHALRRAHE
As at As at

1 January Granted Exercised Cancelled 31 December
Name or category 2017 during during during
of participant R-Z—tF the period the period  the period® MWZ=ZF—+t% Option period
SRATHERER —A-H BRERH BRTRE BRE#EY +ZA=+-0 BREDR
Directors
Bz
Ms. GAO Lina 2,879,600 - - (2,879,600) - 12.12.2012-30.6.2020
BERxt
Mr. HAN Chunlin 1,900,667 - - (1,900,667) - 12.12.2012-30.6.2020
BEMEE
Mr. SUN Yugang 1,922,066 - - (1,922,066) - 12.12.2012-30.6.2020
FHERItE
Subtotal 6,702,333 - - (6,702,333) -
INEt
Other employees
HitfEE
In aggregate 20,620,982 - - (20,620,982) - 12.12.2012-30.6.2020
At
Total 27,323,315 - - (27,323,315) -
st

Notes: 5T -

1) All the share options above were granted on 12 December 1) e FMERESIR _ZE——F+_8
2012 and the exercise price is HK$2.89 per share. The closing + BB RITEEAEEFR2.8048 T &
price of the shares in the Company on the date of grant is NN EFEE BENETE ATIX1.98
HK$1.98 per share. I o

2) The share options above represent personal interest held by 2) LR EEAABESLRETEAER
the relevant Directors and employee as beneficial owners. A ANIFAEBEAREDS -

3) All the outstanding share options were cancelled when the 3) BT MARTEOERERN LRERESS

above optionholders accepted the Offers. NN B AR T8 o
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(I) Share Option Scheme adopted on 5 June 2014 () R=E-—NEXAAARMNBRES
(“Share Option Scheme I1”) E([iBRAESTEI)
The Company unconditionally adopted a share option scheme RARR T —ME XA R B EEERR—
on 5 June 2014. The movement of Share Option Scheme I TERERRREET 2 - BEAREST 2NN 2 & &)
during the period is set out as below: Ry -

Number of shares of the Company which may be issued pursuant to

the Share Options Scheme |l
RERBRETENTRERTRARARDEE
As at As at
1 January Granted Exercised Cancelled 31 December
Name or category 2017 during during during 2017
of participant R-B-—+& the period the period  the period® R=Z—+%£ Option period
SHEATHARER —A—H AR HRTHE HATHY +-“A=1+—-0 BRESR
Directors
2
Ms. GAO Lina 8,779,823 - - (8,779,823) - 6.6.2014-29.4.2022
B s
Mr. HAN Chunlin 6,500,000 - - (6,500,000) - 6.6.2014-29.4.2022
BENEE
Mr. SUN Yugang 5,000,000 - - (5,000,000) - 6.6.2014-29.4.2022
REBSE
Subtotal 20,279,823 - - (20,279,823) -
e
Other employees
Hitgg
In aggregate 61,074,811 - - (61,074,811) - 6.6.2014-29.4.2022
A
Total 81,354,634 - - (81,354,634) -
Fos
Notes: M3 -
1) All the share options above were granted on 6 June 2014,17 1) A LERESN T —NFEANRE
June 2015 and 9 September 2016 and the exercise prices ZE-RFANATEEEZZE—RFNA
are HK$3.38 per share, HK$2.83 per share and HK$1.52 per NBEEE - 1TEES R AFRI.38E T
share, respectively. The closing prices of the shares in the FRR2.838 T R BAR1.527 T - AAFR
Company on 6 June 2014, 17 June 2015 and 9 September BRZZE—WFENANE ZTE—RFAX
2016 are HK$3.38, HK$2.72 and HK$1.52, respectively. A+tBER=ZZFE—X"FNLANAHKTE
SR B3.388TT » 2.728 T & 1.528TT °
2)  The share options above represent personal interest held by 2) LilEREEEAFAEEREEEAER
the relevant Directors and employees as beneficial owners. BEASBOEARER -
3) Al the outstanding share options were cancelled when the 3)  FTAMAITERBREN ERERE

above optionholders accepted the Offers made by Mengniu. ANERSEER M2 RS HTEH o
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() Share Option Scheme adopted on 30 September (m R-FB-—RFAA=THERMANBRE

2016 (“Share Option Scheme III”) sHEI([EIRESTEIN )

The Company unconditionally adopted a share option scheme AARRZE—RFNA=+THEIEHEEN
on 30 September 2016. The movement of Share Option —IERERRREET 2 - BEARAEET EINN BN 2 &
Scheme Ill during the period is set out as below: BRHNOT :

Number of shares of the Company which may be issued pursuant to

the Share Options Scheme llI
BREBRESENTERTAAARGHE
As at As at

1 January Granted Forfeited Cancelled 31 December
Name or category 2017 during during during 2017
of participant R-Z—tF the period the period  the period® MRZ=Z—+tf Option period
SRATHERER —HA—H BARH HRRK HMAEEY +=A=+-0 BREDR
Directors
g2
Ms. GAO Lina 12,000,000 - - (12,000,000 - 8.11.2016-31.12.2023
=EMZt
Mr. HAN Chunlin 6,000,000 - - (6,000,000) - 8.11.2016-31.12.2023
BEMEE
Subtotal 18,000,000 - - (18,000,000) -
gt
Other employees
HitfES
In aggregate 128,650,000 - (150,000)  (128,500,000) - 8.11.2016-31.12.2023
At
Total 146,650,000 - (150,000)  (146,500,000) -
o

Notes: ffsx -

1) The share options above were granted on 8 November 2016 1) FELHBEBRER-_Z—X"F+—ANBE
and the exercise prices are HK$1.71 per share. The closing H o ITEEBAERI7TIETT - XRTKRGD
prices of the shares in the Company on 8 November 2016 are RZE—RNE+—ANBHKTEAER
HK$1.71 per share. 1.71385T ©

2) The share options above represent personal interest held by 2) FtiiEREERAEES L EEEAER
the relevant Directors and employees as beneficial owners. A ANEAREARES -

3) All the outstanding share options were cancelled when the 3) A MARITEOERERN - RERESE

above optionholders accepted the Offers. NN E LIRS o
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Other details of the share options granted pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme |, Share Option Scheme Il and Share Option
Scheme lll are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

During the year, out of a total of 315,401,705 share options under
Management Options, Share Options Scheme |, Scheme Il and
Scheme lll, 264,320,873 share options were cancelled as a result
the acceptance of mandatory cash offer made by Mengniu which
was completed on 21 March 2017.

The related accounting policy for the fair values of the share options
are set out in note 3 to the financial statements.

The Company operates the Share Award Scheme which was
adopted by the Company on 9 September 2016. The goal of the
Share Award Scheme is to motivate the employees to maximize
the value of and share the results with the Company in order to
achieve sustainable development of the Group. During the reporting
year, the aggregate number of restricted shares of the Company
granted to selected participants was 35,969,000, representing
approximately 0.59% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at 31 December 2017. Out of the total shares granted, 13,274,000
award shares were granted to certain members of management,
which would vest in two tranches each on the second, and third
anniversaries of the grant date provided that certain performance
and service conditions are met. The remaining award shares of
22,695,000 were granted to the eligible employees. The granted
shares are subject to the terms and condition of the Share Award
Scheme and the fulfillment of all vesting conditions to the vesting of
the awarded shares in the Company on such selected participant
as specified in the rules of the Share Award Scheme and the grant
notice.

Further details of the share award scheme are also set out in note
33 to the financial statements.

Other than as disclosed under the section headed “Pre-IPO
Management Options”, “Share Options” and “Share Award
Scheme” above, at no time during the year was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors or chief executives of the Company to have any right to
subscribe for securities of the Company or any or its associated
corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other corporate.

RIBF AR 81 - BT &)1 KB E BIIR
th B R s HEE O Lt R B B B A5 AR I R3S

RERN - ARBSFIREMEHTERESBLEE
4 - H51315,401,70510 % 12 [ B A #E LA I B it e
FHEI -~ FTENRZETEIINT X 51264,320,873 15 i %
R - R EBEAN T —tFZA-F—
AR °

BN FEZABESFBREN PSRRI T
3 o

RAFEEER - ZE—XRNFABNBEMN—
R EEETE - RDRE SIS EREREES
BERRAFEIEEREBERERARDZRR -
NSAEEERAFERRE - RBREFR - K
AEIMEERZ2EERLORSMEROEE A
35,969,000/ + (h A RRIMN T —tF+=A
—+—HBEBEITRAL0.59% - RATA KRB G
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BREIS - HAEFEETRIRLREIEH - 5%
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DISCLOSEABLE INTERESTS AND SHORT BEBSRPERFANVKRRAETHE
POSITIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS UNDER THE #zZK#XE
SFO

As at 31 December 2017, the interests or short positions of WZE—+EFE+=-_A=+—H FERF(EEK
substantial Shareholders, other than the Directors or the chief AXAAFTFEITHABE REEZAMNEEABRIN R
executives of the Company and their respective associates, in the  ANA B EAEEE (T BEE R HEEFIEXV
shares, underling shares and debentures of the Company or its  ZB) IR « HBERD RESTEEIREE A R
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), & 1{&l 5336 K AL R R B MmERS A A I
as recorded in the register required to be maintained under Section T :

336 of the SFO were as follows:

Approximate
Number of percentage of

shares of shareholding
Capacity/Nature of interest the Company interest
B RnttE AAGRRGBEE BRESAEIL
China Mengniu Dairy Company Beneficial interest 1,317,903,000M(L) 21.49%
Limited BEaEn
MESAFLEER AR Interest in controlled corporation 2,407,866,4129(L) 39.27%
okl prNE s o
Future Discovery Limited Beneficial interest 2,407,866,412°(L) 39.27%
Bt
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Interest in “other” capacity under Part XV
PRESREBRETEAR of the SFO 363,903,000(L) 5.94%
RIEF S KRG IROIEXVERAT H At ] 689,438,782(S) 11.24%
SOFERER
Interest in controlled corporation (through 325,535,782(L) 5.31%

BOCI Financial Products Limited)
AR S GF B SRR
%nﬂaﬁ‘nnﬁ RAAE])

Interest in controlled corporation (through 1,500,000 0.02%
Nam Tung (Macao) Investment Limited)

it EE S GERRPI 3
ERREBRAR)
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
interest

RESNBE DL

Number of
shares of

the Company
ARARRMDEAE

Capacity/Nature of interest

510 REHtE

Bank of China Limited
FEIRITIRNDBRAF

Interest in “other” capacity under Part XV
of the SFO

IRIE B 5 R B RGI SEXVER AT E ] &
DRERNER

5.94%
11.24%

363,903,000(L)
689,438,782(S)

Interest in controlled corporation (through 325,535,782(L) 5.31%
BOCI Financial Products Limited)

Rt EEERE CERT IRERE R
EmARRR)

Interest in controlled corporation (through 0.02%
Nam Tung (Macao) Investment Limited)

Rt EE RS CERRPIFEBIER
KRERRRA)

1,500,000(L)

BOC International Holdings
Limited
hIREIR AR AR A A

Interest in “other” capacity under Part XV
of the SFO

RIRFE 5 N EHAE ERBIFEXVELLA [ H A
SOFERER

5.94%
11.24%

363,903,000(L)
689,438,782(S)

Interest in controlled corporation (through 5.31%
BOCI Financial Products Limited)
Rt EE R GERT IRERR 25

EmBRAT)

325,535,782(L)

Beneficial interest 325,535,782(L) 5.31%

Btk

BOCI Financial Products Limited
FIREBRSRERBRA A

Interest in “other” capacity under Part XV
of the SFO

IRIRFE 5 N S IR PIEEXVER AT E A |
SOFEER

363,903,000(L)
689,438,782(S)

5.94%
11.24%

(1) Among which up to 689,438,782 shares of the Company have been (1)  HER&%689,438, 7820 AR I ERIERSSF
lent to BOCI Financial Products Limited pursuant to a securities (fEBERAN)BREEERSHERABR AR ES
lending agreement dated 18 May 2017 entered into between Mengniu BRI VHBAE-—Z—+FRA A+ \BEE

as lender and BOCI Financial Products Limited as borrower.

B#ETHREEERERBRIR -

(2)  The interests refer to the same parcel of underlying shares in the  (2) Z# % 3ER —# &N QX F BB KD  Future
Company. Future Discovery Limited is the subsidiary of Mengniu. Discovery Limited B4 BB A7) -

(8)  (S) Indicates a short position. (3) (S)FEARE -

4) (L) Indicates a long position. @  ETE -

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of B FXIFETEEN R-ZE—+FE+=-_B=+—

any other interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares representing 5% or more of the issued share capital of the
Company or as recorded in the register required to be maintained
under Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 December 2017.

A AR R B AR Al BT AE%
A #0RRAR S AR BRLIR £0  S6 18 B
eI 53361 B B S F B #0282 PO R (T KAt
MRS AAR o




The Company started to sell raw milk to Mengniu Group in 2006,
and in 24 October 2008 following arm’s length negotiations,
Modern Farming (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Modern Farming”) entered
into an off-take agreement (the “Off-Take Agreement”) with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia
Mengniu”), pursuant to which the Company shall supply raw milk to
Inner Mongolia Mengniu.

Date:

Parties:

Nature of the
Transaction:

Committed
Purchase:

Right to sell to
other parties:

24 October 2008

(i) Modern Farming, a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company

(i)~ Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of Mengniu

Modern Farming shall supply raw milk to Inner
Mongolia Mengniu.

Both parties shall start to discuss estimates of
annual supply three months prior to the beginning
of each calendar year.

Should the parties fail to reach an agreed amount,
Modern Farming shall be entitled to require Inner
Mongolia Mengniu to purchase, subject to certain
limitations, all of its raw milk production in the
upcoming calendar year.

Modern Farming may sell up to 30% of its raw milk
produced daily at each dairy farm to third parties
at its discretion, except to two of Mengniu’s
competitors. Other than the aforesaid, the Off-
Take Agreement contains no other restrictions on
Modern Farming'’s sales of raw milk to third parties
or development of its own dairy products.
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Pricing:

Term:

The pricing of the raw milk sold to Inner Mongolia
Mengniu is determined through a formula which
is calculated with reference to a base price with
upward adjustment for meeting certain quality
standards, such as the level of fat and protein
content and other upward adjustments if the
Modern Farming’s farms are within an agreed
proximity to Mengniu Group’s dairy processing
plants. The base price is based on the price which
Mengniu Group at the relevant time offers to buy
raw milk from other mid- to large-scale dairy farms
(which can offer raw milk of comparable quality)
or, if there are no such mid- to large-scale dairy
farms in such region, other comparable dairy
farms in nearby regions with adjustments (reflecting
the prices in different regions).

The base price and upward adjustment payable
by Mengniu Group under the Off-Take Agreement
shall not be lower than the base price and upward
adjustment it pays respectively to other mid- to
large-scale dairy farms in the same region (other
than short-term reward programs offered to milk
suppliers that only account for a small portion of
Mengniu Group‘s total raw milk purchases). Inner
Mongolia Mengniu also grants Modern Farming an
option to sell to Inner Mongolia Mengniu the same
amount of raw milk at the same terms and prices
Inner Mongolia Mengniu offers to any third party
suppliers.

The Off-Take Agreement shall be for an term of
10 years commencing from 24 October 2008 and
will be automatically extend for another 10 years
upon expiry in the absence of any force majeure
or events of default.

Details of the Off-Take Agreement have been disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 23 May 2013.

The aggregate sales amount pursuant to the Off-take Agreement
during the year ended 31 December 2017 amounted to
approximately RMB3,304,833,000 (2016: RMB2,349,781,000).

EfE ARNRERFHERDNERTS
B - 2BETEERE(WER
rFEAZEKRFF)RN LA
i b 58 (R 3R AR (R B M BUS
BE 7R 5 A4 5= 18 5L am D0 TR EY 165 7€
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REIFE RIS ) AT R ) E A A &
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INFHE AR BR T R R B 1S -

54 BRI AR It R A
MERER R EANSERESD
Bl 1) 4 7] 4 18 P B EL At KR AL &
BB RERER R LR - I
A4 23 FE P 1R 0 2 HR () B 5
EHRTRERYRBARED
NERDIBRON e ARERFIME T
BRBE(RE) —HEEE - U
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B2 (4 SR 40 A9 A (R 1R 3K K% (B AR 1)
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Modern Farming, a subsidiary of the Company, after entering
into the Framework Supply Agreement dated 16 June 2017 (as
amended by the Amendment Agreement to the Framework Supply
Agreement on 28 November 2017 (collectively the “Framework
Supply Agreement”) with Inner Mongolia Fuyuan International
Industrial Corporation Limited (“Fuyuan” together with its
subsidiaries “Fuyuan Group”), could secure stable and high quality
Feedstuffs supply from Fuyuan, which are more cost effective and
could alleviate Company’s production cost.

Date:

Parties:

Duration:

Principal
Terms:

Pricing:

Effective Date:

16 June 2017 as amended on 28 November
2017.

(i) Modern Farming as the buyer; and (ii)
Fuyuan as the seller.

For a term commencing from the effective date
of the Framework Supply Agreement to 31
December 2019.

Pursuant to the Framework Supply Agreement,
(i) the Modern Farming agrees to purchase the
feedstuffs that meet the quality requirements of
the Modern Farming which are delivered to the
relevant farms of the Modern Farming, and (ii)
the Fuyuan Group agrees to sell and deliver the
feedstuff for dairy cows, which meet the quality
requirements of Modern Farming, to the respective
farms of the Modern Farming.

The price payable and other payment terms by
the Modern Farming to the Fuyuan Group shall
be determined by reference to the lowest quoted
price and other payment terms at which the
Modern Farming could obtain the same type of
feedstuffs from independent third party (whether
local or overseas); for this purpose, the Modern
Farming will seek quotations from at least two
independent parties offering the same type of
feedstuffs each time.

The Framework Supply Agreement is effective on
the date it was signed.
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Annual
Capacity:

The purchase of feedstuffs under the Framework
Supply Agreement for the periods:-

1. commencing from the effective date of
the Framework Supply Agreement to 31
December 2017: RMB180 million;

2. From 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018:
RMB230 million

3. 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019:
RMB230 million

Details of the Framework Supply Agreement, please refers to the
Company’s announcement dated 16 June 2017, 4 August 2017
and 28 November 2017.

The aggregate purchase of feedstuff for the year ended 31
December 2017 from Fuyuan amounted to RMB 106,519,000.

By entering into of the Framework Supply and Processing
Agreement dated 16 June 2017 (as amended by Amendment
Agreement to the Framework Supply and Processing Agreement
on 28 November 2017 collectively the “Framework Supply and
Processing Agreement”) with Inner Mongolia Mengniu, together with
its subsidiaries (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu Group”) could enhance
brand awareness of the Group’s products, capacity utilization,
market share and could result in greater economic benefit and
maximization of synergy effect with Mengniu Group.

Date: 16 June 2017 as amended on 28 November
2017.
Parties: (i) Inner Mongolia Mengniu; and (ii) Modern
Farming.
Duration: For a term commencing from the effective date of
the Framework Supply and Processing Agreement
to 31 December 2018.
Principal (a) the Inner Mongolia Mengniu Group agrees
Terms: to purchase the milk products (including pure

milk, yogurt and pasteurized milk) that meet
the quality requirements of the Inner Mongolia
Mengniu Group from the Modern Farming; and
(b) the Modern Farming agrees to sell and deliver
the milk products (including pure milk, yogurt
and pasteurized milk), which meet the quality
requirements of the Inner Mongolia Mengniu
Group, to the Inner Mongolia Mengniu Group;
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Pricing: The price payable by the Inner Mongolia Mengniu
Group to the Modern Farming for the supply of
milk products should be determined on the “cost
plus 3%” basis.

Effective Date: The Framework Supply and Processing Agreement

is effective on the date it was signed.

Annual
Capacity:

Annual cap for each of the periods

a) commencing from the effective date of
the Framework Supply and Processing
Agreement to 31 December 2017:
RMB239.8 million;

b) 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018:
RMB240 million.

Details of the Framework Supply and Processing Agreement,
please refers to the Company’s announcement dated 16 June
2017, 4 August 2017 and 28 November 2017.

The aggregate supply of milk products to Inner Mongolia Mengniu
Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 amounted to RMB
239,307,000.

On 21 May 2013, the shareholding interest of Mengniu in the
Company increased to 10% or more, meaning that Mengniu
became a substantial shareholder of the Company, and thus a
connected person of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules
with effect from 21 May 2013. As Inner Mongolia Mengniu is a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of Mengniu, it also became a connected
person of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules with effect
from 21 May 2013. As a result, the transactions contemplated
under the Off-Take Agreement and the Framework Supply
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with effect from
21 May 2013. Mengniu further increase its stake in the Company.
As at the date of this report, Mengniu holds 60.76% of the issued
share capital of the Company.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the above
continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

2. on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable
than terms available from independent third parties; and

3. in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
and on the terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”), the Board engaged the auditor of the Company to report
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified letter
containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group in the page above
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the
auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to Hong Kong
Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other connected
transactions of the Company that are subjected to be reported in
the annual report in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The Group adopts a comprehensive risk management framework.
Risk management policies and procedures are regularly reviewed
and updated to react changes in dairy product quality, food
safety, production, animal disease, market developments and
financial risks. The Audit Committee reviews risk-related policies
and scrutinizes that management has performed its duty to
have effective risk management and internal control systems
necessary for monitoring and controlling risks arising from the
Group’s business activities, changing external risks and regulatory
environment, and report to the Board on the above.
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The Directors maintain a strategic plan based on the knowledge on
the dairy industry. The Group will invest in good grass plantation,
good dairy cows, quality milk production and promotion of
integrated operation that based on the strategic plan in order to
cope with the market demand and expectation. The Group will
closely review and monitor its short and long-term strategies and
strives for the best interests to its shareholders.

Operational risk is concerned with possible losses caused by failure
of internal processes, people, system or external events, such
risk is mitigated by and controlled by establishing sound internal
control, setting out clear lines of responsibility, proper segregation
of duties and effective internal reporting. Management regularly
reviews the Group’s operations to ensure that the Group’s risk of
losses, whether financial or otherwise, resulting from fraud, errors,
omissions and other operational and compliance matters, are
adequately managed.

The principal financial risks are set out in Note 35 and 36 to
the consolidated financial statements headed “Capital Risk
Management” and “Financial Instrument”.

The Audit Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway and Mr. Kang Yan
and one non-executive Director, Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul.
The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, and
discussed the risk management and internal control systems and
financial reporting matters including the review of the audited
results for the year ended 31 December 2017.

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws in the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of the significant events after 31 December 2017 of
the Group are set out in Note 46 to the consolidated financial
statements.

AUDITORS
The financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2017
and 2016 were audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire as auditors of the Company
and, is eligible to, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board
LU Minfang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2018
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL & GOVERNANCE REPORT

7B i35

#HBEREREWE

1 RESPONSIBILITY MANAGEMENT

1.1

1.2

Compliance Operation

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd (the “Company” or
“Modern Dairy”) and Modern Farming (Group) Co.,
Ltd (“Modern Farming” together with subsidiaries,
the “Group”), abides by the Company Law and other
national laws and regulations as well as various
regulatory requirements in both Hong Kong and
mainland China, establishes a relatively complete
internal management system, formulates a rigorous
work flow to ensure compliance and orderly business
operations.

The Group fully implements the requirements of strict
governance for enterprises, abides by the national laws
and regulations, such as the Anti-Unfair Competition
Law of the People’s Republic of China ( {h#EARH
MBI R TE#EFE) ), Interim Provisions on Banning
Commercial Bribery ( (BN IFEBERRITARNE TR
7€) ), adheres to the principle of law, conscientiously
implements the fundamental work systems, regulations
and measures based on honesty and integrity, conducts
research on self-disciplinary and self-awareness, issues
work instructions on clean governance, etc., constantly
strengthens the management’s awareness of leading
all Group’s systems, establishes an outstanding and
honest working culture within the corporate. In the
meantime, the Group utilizes the typical cases of the
nation and enterprises in combination with videos to
systematically, comprehensively and continuously carry
out education on corporate culture and professional
ethics for management personnel of all units. The Group
has set up a monitoring mechanism, offering a smooth
complaint and reporting pipeline to fully accept and
investigate all reports made by the people, so that all
reports will be handled, investigated, led to results, and
led to penalties.

During the reporting period, the Group was not involved
in any corruption cases.

Sustainability

With the issuance of the “No.1 Document” by the
central government in 2017, China’s agricultural supply-
side structural reform has also entered a period of deep
implementation. The Ministry of Agriculture has also
deployed the “Top Five Actions” to revitalize the modern
milk industry, namely “planting good grass”, “breeding
good cow”, “producing good milk”, “establishing
brands” and “telling a good dairy story” to speed up the
development of modern farming industry.
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DR BRYE -
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Under the macroscopic background of rapid EHFRNESRER KTEBENER
development and significant advancement of dairy BEST (ERTPENHESIEE - 1]
industry in China, as a leader in dairy industry in RBE(EE) B HETELERS E
China, Modern Farming continues to explore based TEHHRZR  BEGECERES T
on an advanced model, adheres to the concept of [PERKA » EEREINNIEIERE
green development by implementing the internal MR EHERREERE  ABBETA
management strategy of “lowering costs, reducing AtEEINRE - TEHIRSEE
production capacity”, strengthening the management REM GG - BLRKPER
of sustainability, proactively implementing corporate % EREEBHE-

social responsibility, while continuously improving
the environmental and social benefits of the Group,
establishing the image of large corporate and realizing
the value of the Group.

° Building the world’s most advanced farm, producing world’s
best milk, achieving harmonious development between
humans, cows and nature

o Realizing the goal of “world-class scale, international brand,
sustainable industry”, becoming the leader of “Integration of
Intensive Farming and Processing”

o RIRERKENNS  EEERKEENTY  BRAMA

N EARBE

BRER o  ER[HABEERE  mEEERY  EXAFHEINBER KA

[SEACEBEMT 8L INRIRITESIRE

Long-term vision

o “Digitized standards, visible quality” requiring ourselves to be
supervised every day
Corporate responsibility ° Leading the industry change of “intensive farming and

processing integration”, which is a big burden, but also a
great responsibility.
o [EBFORE FRAENREIERAD RREXEE
hEEME e SIETEIEAEEENI-BEINEE  ER—BAE
B ER—BKEMF-

o Scientific farming, well-treated cows, producing the world’s
top-quality milk

o Applying the industry’s advanced management facilities and
technology to provide the most trusted source of safe milk

s  MERE BEHHNT LEEAKELTY

Corporate mission

BRRE o ERTEEENTERENRN  RESESERNE2NE
° Milk source is milk quality’s first line of defense
Management mindset ° Visible quality with digitized standards to ensure every drop of
milk is fresh
e «  MRRAMRENEENE
BIEER

o EMAME - BECHRE - BRET BN
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° Pure: From the cow’s nipple to the mouth of the people, “zero
additives” guaranteed to the pure product

o True: Talk the honest, do the earnest, providing the product’s
most truthful information to consumers

o Fresh: The lower the microbial indicators of milk, the fresher
the milk is, quantitative standards of Modern Dairy is visible
freshness.

° Living: Milk from the cow’s nipple to the processing in shorter
time is more living, Modern Dairy takes only two hours to
complete the entire process

o A eFRFLEERI B AR QBERI TR - MBIEMRBR

Marketing philosophy

mn—
O H: GEHR NES EEMREENEEREFEES
HiEm S o B AUINMAEMERBEETE  RRKRESCARES R
ERA A
o UEAMNILERMTREREEMEE  RRKRERBAMNREE
With the goal of “creating the most advanced farm and QETDA(’E‘J%?%ZEE@W% EEXEEHN
producing top-quality milk”, the Company performs stringent FMIBER  RBLEE - BEHE %
gatekeeping on careful breeding, scientific feeding, epidemic 2HEEHFEBRSITEHE - Eﬁ&ﬁ)ﬁ*%i%ﬁ%
prevention, etc., focusing on the healthy, safety and BRHEE 22 HSE  BRESNETR -

comfortable aspect to each stage of cows to ensure a high-
quality milk source.

]
MODERN FARMING

BB

HX
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2.1 Devoting to Cow Breeding

The Company has formulated the “Compilation of Calf
Breeding Core System” (B4 FAEHROLHIEELR)) to
regulate the training program of calves. The Company
has set up a file for each calf before it is born in order
to keep a record of its breeding and management
throughout its “lifespan”. After its birth, the Company
will ensure the calf’s growth and development properly
in respect of delivery room management, colostrum
management, mature milk (% %1) management, etc.

The Company attentively considers and builds up a
comfortable and safe environment for delivery from
different perspectives, strictly regulates the delivery
management operation, and set up the temporary
stored areas for the new born calves, to guarantee a
smooth delivery.

As the calves can only have breast milk for a certain
period of time after its birth, the Company refines breast
milk into colostrum and mature milk to ensure the safety
and health of breast milk. Colostrum focuses on the
brix of the emulsion to ensure adequate nutrition for
the new born calves, while mature milk emphasizes on
controlling daily intake and feeding interval to ensure the
healthy development and growth of calves.

At the same time, the Company set up detailed
requirements on the calves’s diet after lactation, and
make planning for the quality, temperature, cleanliness
and nutrition of the diet to ensure the smooth transition
of the calves’s lactation.

Selection &£ Optional &£E Gestation E Ik
® Best bull
ESEI=VAE
e High technology and
high success rate

Optimal dairy breed
REBIHSmiE

21 BLEB
NAHECEFREROFIEERIHR
HEFNIEERF - BALHERN 2
AIFMRE S BUER - WELRSEHE
[—H WIS ERER  BF LR
RARERERE - VIAEE - BAE
BEFBREEFRITNERES -

RAZHEEEE - BOUOITEFELZ R
MORIRE  BRAREEEER
- WREBFEBETENRE - RED
R NERITERK, °

BrHAEN —BEREARELEERS
A RERSINLZEZRE - 2R
FIMBECR/MIAMEL - MFLELI
BREBFE - ARERFEETAIER
FRMES  FIHAEHERTHE

REMERMR H BRETREER
DLSRIVNCIEag 3 il AR 3:0

BRI THBNRE  ECRRNE

E-RE CFBRBN - ERBREFN

T8 - RE A I A0 IR
B -

Parturition 2 Nurture iZ58

e Clean and safe
BEZE

e Dedicated caring

A



Annual Report 2017 —2—+&&% @ 093

Environmental, Social & Governance Report B8 - # @R ERHRE

2.2 Conducting Scientific Breeding 22 REBGREE
With a strong emphasis on the health management RAEEERNFNRERER BV
of cows, the Company establishes and improves a VTEETH BENEEREEEE
comprehensive and strict system of health breeding - BINMAIREEENEEIRE &
management system for cows to provide high-quality EE IR REFFOEEKE -

accommodation for cows, selects high-quality feeds, to
ensure the healthy growth of cows.

Providing high-quality environment RMUEBERE

With a strong emphasis on the management of NEERHEHENTEEERE A7
comfortability of cows, the Company has high ESTEETEERHMIEREARE
requirement on the design and management of BLE  FNERKYE  RRZE
the cow-houses in order to ensure safe and clean ET U4 ERTEHERRISE
accommodation conditions for cows at the farms with K e

high breeding density.

° Individually feeding: Outdoor islands for calves, indoor
houses for calves
Construction of cow-houses . Herd farming: Different materials are selected according to

the temperature, environment and waste material processing
capacity of each farm
s  ERFE: BIMEFS  ERETW
Hdgsen o  HERIN  SHSRERARE BERRREREET
A 2kt

o Bedding materials: the appropriate selection of types and
thicknesses of materials before and after weaning

AR &T 382 o BAUREM : SHHETNARO BB/ ERHBRKEERE

Bedding comfortability

° Ventilation and air exchanges: Reduce ammonia
concentration in the cow-houses to reduce the incidence of
respiratory diseases

° Coprodeum bedding: clean up the coprodeum timely to
reduce microbial growth and prevent the incidence of
digestive diseases

Ventilation and coprodeum

i B3 S o BEER : BREFFAKRERE  BAOWRBRBER
o EERMR - REBIREEEAKR - B MAEYRLE - BAEE
BIRRER

° Sterilize the beddings of cows, and wash and dry milk tanks
timely

R TER R B o HIMFBRUREITES - REABIH

Preventive services and cure
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Selecting high-quality feed

The Company has formulated strict quality control
policies for feed, established a complete feed quality
control system, which covering nine systems including
sensory testing, and capacity and weight testing. It
strictly controls various aspects from raw material
procurement to cows feed to ensure the quality and
nutritional standards of feed.

° Raw material quality control

The Company has formulated corresponding
standards according to the quality control of
different feed ingredients, established a strict
feed selection and control mechanism, stipulated
and explained various admission control and
management standards, guided relevant
personnel to enhance the ability of monitoring and
controlling, and accurately identified unqualified
products to ensure the high quality of raw
materials.

At the same time, the Company strictly controls
raw materials suppliers of feed, giving priority to
select suppliers with stable quality and the ability
of conducting inspection, or quality control system
to be certified by third parties as our partners.

° Feed allocation and processing

To meet the nutritional needs of cows in different
stages, the Company uses the world’s most
advanced cows formula software, CPM-Dairy,
to classify such feed formula according to their
physiological nutritional needs, reproduction
performance, lactation pattern and specific
physiology, and adjust the nutritional composition
of the formula according to the actual conditions
of cows.

wE

mESEAR
REIFIEEBH AR EEEEER -
BYTENFHEEEEER  RE
BRERA  FERAFNENE B
R R E SRR P AF 6 & (IR 8 AR
e REAHNEEREFHKYE -

o REEEES
RAMRB TR AR 0 E 842
BIFIE T AREIRE - BT BAR
R ERRLERAE  SEHIG] - HZ IR
NIGES - EERELETTRE
HEA Sl HBABNMAE
ENE - EIRHENERN T AR
i AEEREMNSME

R - 2 BB AE L RR £ R R A
fEm o BAEREERTE BB
Hisminee ) HEEEEER
BEE=TRENHEBERE
TERHE

e FNFERENT

BRETEEBEDFNEESE
Sk R ENE AR AR
& AH(CPM-Daliry) » &A1 H
EREBEREENR  £EMRE
FLIR R R T I A 5 AT
DEE - WRBFBEOERBR
Wl EERDHETHE -
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o Feed delivery and storage
In order to ensure the high quality and extend
the shelf life of feed, after completion of feed
production, the Company screened feed
repeatedly in the feeding process, and focused on
the management of the storage environment.

The farm combined with the formula of lactation
cows, and based on the proportions of each raw
material in the formula and the ingredients of the
raw materials themselves, to identify substance
in the raw materials, which are easy to get moldy,
as the key monitoring subject, so as to identify
and handle the faulty feeds on a timely manner to
prevent cows from eating, and hence, affecting
their health.

In order to timely understand the quality of
the feed in the process of storage and identify
the storage problems, the farm conducts key
inspections against the inventory of feed on a
daily basis. If any feed is identified as unqualified
during the inspection process, the nutrition center
will issue their opinion based on the result of the
inspection. Once an indicator is shown abnormal,
we will stop using the feed immediately.

2.3 Safety and Epidemic Prevention

The Company strictly abides by the laws and regulations
under the Animal Epidemic Prevention Law of the China
(hEZE AR LR YIBG %)), the Animal Husbandry
Law of the China (R ZEARKEFBEEHE)), and the
Administration and Measures of Animal Quarantine (&)
PR B IR PEE)). Following the principles of “prevention
comes first, and to prevent is more important than to
cure”, we implement the management concept of “cow-
centered safety first, epidemic prevention is important,
the environment is safeguarded” to conduct epidemic
prevention and ensure the safety and health of cows.

o HRHRIRER
R BT IR 7%{% HEm
g EREAMMREY TE&
MERBIZFREMS - WIS
HEFHRENER -

HIZBRERMILFET - RIE
FRBHER DT PG LA R R
BERD @ BEFHEMEEN
REHESBREZHR - M
B REZREELDEN B
FRREERERE -

%&Hi*i)éﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁfﬁiﬁﬁqﬂﬁ’ﬂ

HERN BRARHER  B5
FREEFEMHRAETES
ERPEEESRRTREE /T
AR RIBEEERBE
ROHAERER - —BEBE
REE > ZEFIEEM -

23 ZEE

RAERET(PRARLMES Y
PiRE) (P EARKMEEHBE)
KB RRERIEIRERERE
Ko ARZ[EHAE  HERARINR
A BBIAFAR  Z2FE— R
BEZ REERINEEES  ETH
BRI - REDHF L2 RBEE -
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Management of health assessment

Combining years of experience in cow farming, the
Company has formulated an easy-to-operate program
of health assessment plan to regularly assess the health
of cows through the observation and inspection of
cows’ facial features, body temperature, excrement,
etc., and to initially determine treatment program for
the sick cows based on the assessment results. The
health assessment program not only enhances the
health management of cows, but also provides detailed
and convenient management guidelines for grass-root
breeders.

Enhancing the control of epidemic

The Company strictly manages the environment of the
farms, emphasizes on disease prevention of cows,
formulates and improves the systems including the
Administrative Systems on Epidemic Prevention (F55&
fh#EEE | ) and the Administrative System for Staff
Protection ({ A BB ERHIE)), to refine the entry-
exit management of farm, the epidemic prevention
management at production areas, standard clothing
and personnel management. We quarterly arrange the
body check-up for breeders to prevent cross-infection
between humans and animals.

The Company has formulated the plans for immunization
and quarantine, and regular health care for cows. In
addition to daily routines on disease treatment and hoof
trimming, we regularly conduct vaccinations and regular
physical examination for cows. In the case of sudden
outbreak of epidemic, the Company will strengthen
its management, prevention, and control on epidemic
prevention of animals, eliminate animal epidemics and
safeguard public health.

During the reporting period, the coverage rate of
vaccination against foot-and-mouth disease for cows
was 100%.

REFREE
REGEEEFNTRAELER  FIET
SINRIENREFN D TR - BBEHY
FHE BA EMEIEOaER
ERIE - EMY N ETRERND
WIARE D BR BBV T HEE BB
FHORENER - REND TETEM
BRTPHAHNREERE  LAEEME
ABRHBTHAERNEEES -

iERmEE

REBRERBUSRE  ERNFR
RIARE - HE I S BB R o E
B (ABHEEEBHEISHE - A
EBUSHAERE  £ERHEHEE
B BEZRIARAZER  8FE
ZHAEERR  BHABRBNR

RBRBYFHIE RRRAR BN E R
REREFE - BRBERKBLAE &
BRENBEITEIN  TH/TRE
TREERBMERER HBRER
BIER - RES IR EB YRR
BEEE - A - 25 EREBmE
"o EEAREERR -

HREHAN NFOBEEEBEXR
100% °
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Appropriate disposal of culled cows
In order to control the culling rate of cows, the Company
has formulated the Administrative Measures on Cull
and Dead Cows (4 REKKRILT-EEHE)) and the
Standards on Determination of Culled Cows ((Y&3K4
HATEZAEY), to regulate the use and management of
approval form on culled cows and the guarantee bills to
culled cows, to enhance the supervision to the culling of
cows. The Company divides the culling into fragmented
culling and collective culling, and propose a declaration
plan in accordance with the procedures to cows culling.
For the culling cows which have passed the physical
examination and have passed the quarantine with
the local animal husbandry, they will be sold through
bidding. For the cows died from diseases or with
unknown death cause, under no circumstances will they
be sold, transported, processed and eaten, and they
will be treated at no harm.

HIGH QUALITY - TASTE OUR
DISTINCTIVE MILK

As the largest dairy farming enterprise and a supplier of
high-quality raw milk in China, Modern Dairy adheres to the
philosophy of “future standard for today’s dairy industry, and
to become a global leader in industrial integration”, links its
advanced technology, first-grade management level, high
quality milk source together, to optimize management system
and professional level, to maintain the nutritious ingredients
and active substances in the milk as much as possible,
and to provide delicious, nutritious and healthy, distinctive
milk for our customers, and to continuously enhance the
competitiveness of products to improve its position in the
international industry on behalf of dairy industry in China.

BEEBHAG
BEHFRIAE - RRHIECHRE
ARFLTERIE) - CAKFRHAE
=AY BREEATERRABA S8
EEENERMER - IR ERTt
TENEBNE - RAEEAD AT
BOER R HL 208K - WIRBR A R
IR AR EBRATE - HRERB
BABEEARE  BEEHERE®R
BEKE  RRAHHEBETREDE
R ERILE T - RRSE
RABEE - T&%H - THI - TR
o W EEITEE(CERE -

EmE - AEEE ZH0

ERBINAEG AN NG SEECERERE
EILEIER - BB ERETARRIZEM
SRIILE - MEX-—BE2HSIEEINY
B HaRENEN - —RNEEKTE -5
EENMR=FMES  BILEREBRNK
FKFE - HEREE LRBIFDPRE %ﬁi
MEMYE - REBEREREORLE &8
(2R - MEHZNIER  TEHRAERE
FH o REPENE  REEBRRTERS
HOAL ©
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3.1

3.2

Pure - Assurance of Delicate Taste

In order to ensure that our dairy products are healthy,
the Company is in strict compliance with relevant
laws and regulations of food safety, such as the Food
Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China (1 ZE A
REMBERMAEZE%)), Regulation on the Supervision
and Administration of the Quality and Safety of Dairy
Products (FlmEBEZ 2 EBEEHIE)), and has set
up nearly 500 standards on the planting, breeding, and
processing, and has established a sound management
and supervision system to regularly review the suppliers.
In the process of production of raw milk and branded
milk, the operations are strictly in accordance with the
production standards and controls, and all parts in all
branded milk production are controlled and supervised.

The Company achieves efficient production through
“integrated” mode and “2-hour” production line,
cherishing the active substances in the milk, ensuring
that all of our products under “f&fZJ&” have met the
international advanced level to provide consumers with
“zero additive” products, and enjoy the pure substance

of milk in a safe and healthy way.

True - Assurance of Care

The Company adheres to the service philosophy of “tell
the truth and do the deeds” by relying on the quality
of the products themselves to build a real, reliable,
responsible and good corporate image.

In order to safeguard the authenticity of the product
information conveyed to the consumers, and ensure the
timely communication and exchange with the consumers
on product information, the Company has established,
and continuously improves, the publicity channels and
after-sale service system. The Company has created
Modern Dairy’s official website and the WeChat account
of “IRAHZE” to timely show the new trends of milk
products for consumers; proactively conducts research
on consumers’ satisfaction, and actively understands
their demand for our dairy products by the consumers,
and makes specific improvements.

The Company has formulated the Administrative
Measures of Product Complaint and Inventory
Replenishment ({ERISFAEEIEHE)), and strictly
follows such administrative measures upon receiving
complaints from consumers about our products and
services.

3.1

3.2

HeHyEF

ANRBEREBT(PEARENER R
ZEE) (LREELZEEBEEE
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EIZE . BFY T REMERHEEREE
R THYEEEETESRED
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The Company pays great attention to the privacy
protection of consumers. In the process of
communicating with customers, consumers’ information
are strictly kept confidential to prevent adverse
consequences incurred for consumers due to privacy
leaks.

Fresh — Assurance of Quality

The Company has developed strict quality control
policies for the process of production of raw milk and
branded milk, and established a quality control system
throughout the entire process. The Company always
adheres to the management philosophy of “visible
quality, digitalized standards, and ensuring the freshness
of every drop of mik (B& RmE - EhLAIFE - R
BRI EBETEE)” to ensure that high requirements for
milk products quality provides consumers with nutritious
and healthy milk.

Raw milk quality control

The Company provides good raw milk for a number
of dairy product enterprises. When producing its own
branded dairy products, the Company also fully utilizes
its self-produced raw milk produced from its own farms.
In its own regulated farms, the daily living of cows are
carefully taken care of by professional staff. Information
system is used to monitor the real-time growth condition
of the cows and their milk production, such that all
parts along production process of milking, refrigeration
and processing of raw milk are completed under the
monitoring facilities. While ensuring the quality of raw
milk products, it will further provide protection for the
quality and safety of its own branded milk.

3.3

RETEHBEENRLRE  EEE
FBRXREERET HREEER
SBETEBRT HBEEBMEES
REEERBTRERNEBEE
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NEE RN G E Y EEBED B
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g BFENERE - BRS RN
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MEER  REEERHEELER
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REEEE
RAREZFEPHmEEREHEER
P ARELEEAEmEDERK D
TENAEAALBSTEENAE
R - EFEARBIEHEER  BHEX
ABRBLBRHDHFNERELE - FA
ERILAREREENFLERSE)
MENE  ERHEEY - 8L RN
THEEREREROEEN EER
BTIEX  ERERNEREENR
B E—TRmRnEEaReRH
RIS o

Production

o Formulating the Administrative System for Production
Processes by Milking Department (I E8FI 4 E R 2 E
HEH|E) ) to establish strict quality standards for raw milk
and quality control inspection system, regulate the process
of milking, the milking parlor equipments cleansing, etc.,
ensuring the quality and safety of the raw milk products
during the production process.

o HIE(EPHIFIEEREERHE)  BEYBRRHRNESRE

M RESEGIRAER - REENERE  NBREEESRE -

RELEBEPRINNGHNEELS -

Transportation

&

& BEZ -

° Checking the passing rate of cleanliness of the milk truck
before unloading and loading the milk to make sure that the
milk truck is clean.

o HHY  KMAWHEFREEDBETEBERA - RED
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° Formulating the Sales Management System of Raw Milk (R
MIHEEIEH|EZ)) and the Handling Process of Raw Milk
Rejection (EYRIIFEIRRIZ) ) to maintain the stability of
the sales of raw milk by projecting the balanced output, such
that the sales of each farm will be balanced.

° Conducting quality control inspection before the raw milk
leaving the factory and being delivered to the customer’s
plant.

o HIECRIHEERHIE)RCGEWREIRRIE) - WBIEBIF
BESE  HRNEEHERT  SEMEHLDIFE -

o TERYIHEAT - AR IIRAT © 9 BIESTRIEROA

Sales

o Processing the raw milk products that have not met the
Company’s internal benchmark according to the inspection
results, and directly disposing the products that have serious
problems and proceeding with harmless treatment. The
products with general problems are used to feed calves
in farms or to be sent to the spraying powder plant with
spraying powder treatment.

o BAFERRAIMERNRIERBIBRBREETRE - 1§
PIRBEMEMNE QBRI IETEE(LER - BEE—RK
A RE A 2 m A NBUS R B S B E D RCETEN R IR -

Recycling

@l 4

AAMBERAERREER  2F
ABERPEELE2EHWERE - RYE
W 1{£0.33% °

During the reporting period, the relevant items subject
to inspection in terms of toxin, residue of veterinary
drugs, drug residue and contaminants in raw milk were
passed. No accidents in respect of quality and safety of
raw milk were occurred during the year. The rejection
rate of raw milk was only 0.33%

Micro-
organisms

HED
(cfu/ml)

Protein (%)
BRE(%)

Fat (%)
FEM5 (%)

Somatic cells

B4am

National standard <2,000,000 / >2.8 >3.1

BRFE <2008 / >2.8 3.1

EU standard <100,000 <400,000 / /

BEBRE <108 <408 / /

Quality of raw milk of Modern Dairy 0.59 ten thousand  17.98 ten thousand 3.38 3.75

BRUERNEE 0598 17.988 3.38 3.75
Quality control of branded milk mENEEEE

REGIECREEESE) - CEFEER
HE)  (FARHMEERE)  CRE
FLRES ~ B ERIRZE) ~ ([2/) 6 JB
KBREAILEmMFEEGF)  (RAE
BHE)  (RRERERHIE)EL R
MESHIE - 4 G R g (e M RHR I B X
EHBEFHOEBRETRE

The Company has formulated a number of internal
systems including the “Administrative System of Raw
Materials” (CJREHEIEHIE ) ), the “Administrative System
of Auxiliary Materials” ((EHEEEHE)), the “Quality
Standard of Raw Material at Room Temperature” (&
BEFREHRERZEY)), the “Standard of Using Sterilized
Raw and Finished Products” (CREZLEL « B mIE
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FZ4EY), the “Standardized Document of “2-Hour” R VER AR EITEAZ AT S - ER
Pasteurized Milk Products” ({*2/ "B KR B ZLE WmiZ BE—AERSNEE  HEHELZ S
(L)), the “Cost Management System” (kA& 12 WA T  BEEEREDWEERD
#IZ)), the “Transportation System of Low-temperature IHEM ©

Products” (K REmESFIE)) to regulate the entire
process from receipt of the materials of branded milk to
delivery to consumers, and conducted assessment and
control of the operating costs, to ensure that, subject
to quality, hygiene and safety of each production stage,
consumers are provided with affordable and good dairy
products.

According to the relevant systems including “Management System
of Raw Materials”, we strictly regulate the quality standards of
Receipt of materials raw milk, raw materials and auxiliary materials, strengthen the
monitoring and supervision efforts, and accept only the raw
materials that have met the quality standards.
e RIB(REERGIE)EHEGE - URRY - JE - SBHNEER
MR EETRBIAE « WNREENE - RERE AT EEEO R -

Conducting standardized requirements for the operations in respect
Production of the placing and use of materials, the use of equipment, and

sanitation during the production process.

HREEBBRPIOMBNERER  REFER - HEESEIEN
tE B ITIRELIRE -

Conducting system regulation for the placing and use of packaging
materials, the preservation of remaining materials and processing,
in order to avoid polluting the products by the improper packaging
and wasting unnecessary redundant materials of packaging.

iy HRBEEMHORE - £F  SRRFEERRERESE T EETHE
2 WE - BREOREIBRETESRES RETUENELRE -

Package

Adhering to the Transportation System of Low-temperature
Products (IR E SME& $IZ) ), and setting up requirements

in respect of basic facilities, loading and unloading, protection,
transportation and operations of vehicles.

= BEAERERTIE)  HREWMERRN - RH - 1#E - E#&
a YRS T EEITALE ©

Transportation

Actively accepting customers’ after-sales feedback. If feedbacks
Sales in relation to quality are received, the reasons will be identified in a
timely manner, handled and improved.
. WEETHEEEERE  SENERRENE  REEHRRE
e EITIRID RBE -

Following the “Management Procedures for Unqualified Products”
({TERMEEER)) to deal with unqualified products.
El KT ERMEBIRT)  HTERMETTRE -

Recycle
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3.4 Living - Assurance of Health 34 FeE@EE

For milk, the shorter the processing time, the more
beneficial to retain the active ingredients in milk. In order
to provide consumers with nutritious milk products
that retains the maximum level of active substance, the
Company implements and continuously improves the
“integration” model and the “2-hour” production line to
complete the entire production process in a short period
of time. At the same time, these advanced production
model continually provides the Company’s production,
operation and sales with vitality, becoming the solid
foundation for the Company’s continuous improvement,
breaking output and sales.

“Integration” model and the “2-hour” production
line

The company develops the integrated production mode
of “planting forage grass — cows breeding — processing
products”, and carries out planting forage grass and
dairy cattle breeding in its own farms to ensure the
quality and safety of milk sources.

During the manufacturing of dairy products, the cows
are led to the milking parlor for automatic milking
through advanced milking equipment. The raw milk
being extrude will then flow to the production line for
processing. In order to shorten the transportation time
and to maximize the retention of active substances in
milk, the Company has made special construction on
production bases. In the production bases, one side
housed the milking parlor, whole the other installed
the milk processing production line. For the milk just
produced, after passing the test, will be passed through
the sealed pipelines to the production line. Through the
integrated production model with zero distance, the
whole process of raw milk from nipples to completion of
processing will be achieved within 2 hours.

@

HREMmE - MIRNEEE  8E
MR P RE LR D © BAH
BERUEALER RKANBERHT)

HWENFPER  ARBETLRE
BRHE — BB (C IRV B 2/ Ny J R AR
EEREATKEREESBE [
B BUEEENEERABARAN
HE BZ - HERRTE &R XE
N AERRBNE R - REE -
HEESXEMNREAR -

[—B EXE 2/ [EER

ANRERIMERE-NFEE-Em
MT - EMEEER - EFRERS
RETHERE  PFERE - RED

EETNEREERER  TEAEB
A4 S| A K EE - 386 S A IR
MRBER BB ROHEEL
BREEELETINT - AFECESR
B RARE LRBF DT HEE
YE - NEIHREEREME BEkRE
Ko EAEREMT  —BEEBEHKA
2 S—2RRFNMNTEES - [
MIEHMSD  &nBhaikEi - D@
BERHEEEEAES -  RATHEN
H—EELAEERESN  BRE2/NFRT
AR B ELER I TR i 2 SRiBIE -

MODERN FARMING

BRI
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HIGH SPECIFICATION - LOOP
CONSERVATION TO SAVE GREEN

The Company is in strict compliance with laws, regulations
and standards, such as the Environmental Protection Law of
the People’s Republic of China (% A R XM IRE (R E
%)), Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China ((FF#EE AR EMEI AR5 24
%)), Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste (9
#= AR BERE Y5 A IR B A L)), implements the
management concept of “protecting the environment,
reducing costs and being energy efficient” through the top-
level design of “integration of planting and breeding”, the
Company builds up an eco-friendly farm and constructs a
green environmental recycling farm to realize the harmonious
coexistence between man and nature.

On 20 June 2017, Modern Dairy’s pioneering top-level design
in China — “integration of planting, breeding and processing”
model, officially passed the Swiss SGS certification, becoming
the only enterprise in China that its integration production
model is recognized by SGS. It suggests that the advanced
production model of Modern Dairy has reached the world-
class high standard after being strictly tested by international
authoritative testing organization.

B E 0 e 21455 L
TR EEY

BACHOE (SFR) ATRAT
A b R BN LAl
BAeEol (1L Aima
oA TSR A T

P PRI * D" LRI (B4 XOMYZVS N R, P& R 1
SRR W NN, AR L RATIRA, PR,

sy AL VNP S ). 0D R

AR B

/

Fere]
505 REHWARRI. Wik, MARAERN, REREARARBAGEN, HBLNA -4
@ R A

2018 % 641 16 11, FIEWH RARMESRENNY.
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4.1 Reducing pollutant emissions 4.1 BRIKSSHBEK
The Company has actively responded to the call of NAEBRERBREEERNTAR
national green development by focusing on the recycle HIRERE EENREEEEYD -
treatment of pollutants such as greenhouse gases, B BEEHRYHEIYGERE - Hl
hazardous and non-hazardous waste, biogas slurry and T I mE K E IR E)S RIS
biogas residue. It has also formulated strict emission WY ERSIE REIWERSE - LA
management systems and recycle management EISARBER - BITHEEE -

systems including “waste oil recycle management
system” to reduce pollution emissions and fulfill social
responsibilities.

During the reporting period, the utilization rate of biogas WEEAR - REHNERERICT AR E
slurry reached 100%. 100% -
In 2017, major emissions and its amount from the 2017 F NAEIAEBN EEHE YR
production units of the Company are as follows: e
Emission Figures
BER L6
Total emissions of greenhouse gases (tCOz€) 902,706.57
BRI 8 (1CO2e)
Emissions of NOx (ton) 59.19
NOxBEM & (1)
Emissions of SO; (ton) 141.33
SO HERE (1)
Emissions of soot (ton) 319.30
TEEEHERE (R )
Output of hazardous wastes (ton) 240.07
fElREEYEES ()
Number of Cow treated at no harm 14,409
BECRIEH AR (ER)
Output of wasted packing materials (ton) 158.03
FEEEM B E A+ 2 (HF)
Discharge amount of wastewater from liquid milk companies 259.00

(ten thousand of cubic meters)

BRI R EREKBERE (BILTK)
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Modern Dairy places emphasis on environmental
impact of production emissions, and tries to build a
multi-pipeline emission reduction system. First of all,
we try to improve from the source by replacing the old
resources that might produce polluting emissions with
more environmentally friendly new energies. Secondly,
for the waste emission that is already generated, we
adhere to the concept of turning waste into treasure by
giving priority to its recycling value and then conducting
detoxification treatment to it. Finally, for those cannot
be used or handled by enterprises, they will be sent
to companies with recycling capabilities for proper
treatment.

Specific measures to reduce emissions

BB A B

ARBREEREENRERENT
E EAZREBERNSFER - B
5 WRSBETHCE - BARREL
ARFHANERRER RERRRD
R B SREKELNER
MHR > BREEELSENER - BX
ERHEBRNAEE  ARBETE
FERIE - &% BREEEENA
MEER  KBARLRKEEN AR
HERRE -

Reducing the emission of greenhouse gases

MR E RS

Reduce the emission of Coal-fired boiler ash

PR SRIE RS
non-hazardous waste °
WAOBEEZEYHER Sewage .

757K .

Medical waste and
testing agent bottles

L used in laboratories
Reduce the emission of

hazardous waste jﬁ%ﬁ&{tﬁﬁﬁ%
ROBEBEEDHENR T .
Waste oil
B

Reduce the emission of biogas residue
A BB

Utilize new energy to replace old energy sources
with high level of greenhouse gas emissions
ERFERERNAEREBENSNERR

Utilize ash to fill the road of farms or potholes of
place

MR DCBEF 5 B S5 L E R EE
Control water consumption

THIFAKE

To be handled by third parties
REE=FETRIE

Formulate and implement the “Management System
of Waste Oil Recycle” ({ B [ Y & 32 4 E )
51l 7 7 2 e e [ A TR 1L )

Biogas residue from farms are used in bedding
calves when the standard moisture content is
reached
BHOSRBHHEES
7

In 2017, the Company achieved zero biogas residue
discharge

2017TF RABERTRBEHEM

2K

S EBRANG REAKS
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4.2 Reduce Resources Consumption 4.2 E"%’Jﬁ}‘ UHFE
In order to reduce resources consumption, the NEIRBEHNERBRE  HK- F -
Company has revised the special appraisal system k% HEERFELHEETE
for resources such as water, electricity, coal and iR ERERE - & AHEITEE
gasoline, examined the amount of resources used, and Lt - BFEEREPOSETE R E
conducted monthly appraisal to supervise the use of HER -

resources efficiency in farms.

During the reporting period, the resources consumption WEHR - AAIAEEEMHERBRE
from the production units of the Company was as £
follows:
Resources consumption Figures
ERHE &
Total consumption of electronic power purchased (ten thousand of kWh) 24,874.00
INEFREEE (BT RRE)
Fire coal (ten thousand of tons) 0.86
PRI (B WE)
Natural gases(ten thousand of cubic meters) 548.41
RAR(BILAHK)
Diesel (ten thousand of liters) 546.94
sem (&)
Gasoline (ten thousand of liters) 20.08
m (&)
Consumption of marsh gases (ten thousand of cubic meters) 13,964.00
BROBFEE (B K)
Total consumption of comprehensive energy (ten thousand of tons of standard coal) 15.07
FEREEES (BIIRE)
Total water consumption (ten thousand of tons) 1,005.75
k@ E(EW)
Total consumption of packing materials of branded milk (ten thousand of tons) 0.25

miE N BEOBREM e E (BW)

The Company continues to improve its conservation ’RﬂT%ﬁiﬂ HAOXEREBR i
management system by implementing the RBUCEAR - RBBRAERIE - B
transformation and upgrade of equipment, regulating REEBER - ARBERREE
the operations of equipment, updating the energy Y75 & 77 bAsk & KPR [E Hb B& 1K & R OB
sources for driving of equipment, adjusting the demand %o

structure of equipment in order to reduce resources
consumption to the maximum extent.
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Energy-saving measures

EIRETE e

Energy-saving performance

B RE A

Electricity

==
==A

Coal

Diesel
S

° Promoting altered LED lighting in
Bengbu Farm

o TEHIEHUSHEELEDR A/ HEE

° Using air-cooling device for milk pre-
cooling in Shuangcheng Farm

o ERBRHSERRALSKBEETTNESL

o Reduce coal consumption by gradual
replacing coal boiler with biogas, gas
boiler for heating

o FHUSERLBUAKRIKLIRE - SRER -
RARRER—E - RHERKKERE

° Using solar power to replace steam-
heating domestic water

o KIGRBRETMEAEMAK

o Unified diesel management by
implementing one-car-one-card to
strictly control the consumption used
by vehicles

o MLOMEIRE BIT-E—K BBE
HIEEAHE

o In Shangzhi Farm, outdated vehicles
were used and feeding trucks and
manure suction cars with larger
capacity were used to reduce number
of transportation

o EMEHST  MREAEZEER - &
AAREE AR EREMRES - B
N

° An annual electricity saving of
280,000 kWh

s  EEFHNEE28B TR

° Monthly reduction of electricity
consumption for coolers of 27,000

kWh

e HFAFWRLRLHEFEEE27,000T
FLEF

° In 2017, the actual coal

consumption was 8,555 tons, a
saving of approximately 5,407 tons
from expected

e 2017TFERAKER8,555M &
TR H 87495,407W7

. Possible monthly saving of 100
tons of coal

e T HTAIEIKIAK100ME

° Monthly saving of 600 litres of fuel
consumption
e B HFEEFME600TT
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4.3 Protection of ecological environment 4.3 REERIRET

As an environmentally friendly enterprise, Modern
Dairy always considers the protection of the ecological
environment is an integral part of an enterprise, and is
committed to carry out environmental promotion, such as
constructing ecological environment protection system
and building up environmentally friendly farms.

The Company’s farms has formulated relevant systems
on the selection of sites for new farms, with “cherishing
the use of lands and reducing the negative impact to
the environment during the Company’s production
and operations” as the core aspect, while taking into
account the environmental factors that we need to
consider during site selection, such as terrain and
topography, surrounding environment, water source,
and quality standard, etc.

The Company proactively participated in green
development action. As a pioneer, Bengbu Farm created
a sample plate of modern ecological civilization farm
where humans coexist with the nature harmoniously. In
initial period of construction, Bengbu Farm was injected
with RMB40 million for building facilities such as sewer
lines, biogas slurry pools and biogas power generation,
while equipped with cow dung treatment facilities, which
can dispose all cow dung generated from cowsheds.
Cow dung after fermentation generated marsh gases,
biogas residues and biogas slurries. Marsh gases were
used for power generation producing steams, which
provided energy protection for farms. Biogas residues
after recycling were used to underlay beds of cows.
Biogas manures were sold to the local farmers for
fertilizing silaging lands surrounding to the farm. Cyclic
utilization was realized comprehensively to promote
green development.

RABEERBRRIFADE - 1B

HREEERRBEACETTHE K

—Hn  WENHRRRESEIIE -

iz;iaf_;.xf RIRBREGE - ITERR
7~ °

NRHIE] T AR RS R IR IER
HIE - ABERMBLH - B RAFE
ELLERHRENTREE | Bzd
ERERETEIRTEENRER
= MM - FBIRIE - KIRK

BimES .

NATEBRZEEEERITE - AR
HIGRTHE - FTEANEE AL
HIR A A RE SCRBUS AR » IR
SRR AT 40008 7T 0 AR
ERTKEE  BROIBREES
& RS HEET FEREIER
M AINEETEELENMBLE -
SEKBEBRELAR BB A
B OBRANRBEERT - RPUGER
HEERIRIZ - JRB B AR sHE A
REANK - AICHEZEWRFE - AR
HWSEEFI LG - 27 UER
BIRFA - REREEE -

SR T ZEE

Waste treatment flow chart
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5 HIGH WELFARE - ACHIEVING COMMON
DEVELOPMENT WITH EMPLOYEES
5.1 Safeguarding the Rights and Interests of

Employees

According to the relevant laws and regulations of
the nation, such as the Labor Law and Employment
Contracts, the Company has formulated the systems,
such as the Compilation of Human Resource System
((ANEREIEIELR)) and the Employees’ Code of
Conducts ((B T&RXEAI)), prepared the Employees’
Fundamental Management Manual ({8 TEMERETF
fit)) and the Operation Manual on Resignation ( {BfE% %
{EFAH)) to improve the employees’ induction process
management, and regulate the employees’ contracts
filing management, standardize the requirement on
process such as remuneration, dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, and prohibit child labor or forced labor.
The Company has formulated a clearly articulated
attendance and annual leave system and fully protected
the resting and vacation rights of our staffs. The
Company pays great attention to the diversity of the
team building and the equality of our staffs, strictly
prevents the occurrence of unlawful incidents, such
as sex discrimination. While safeguarding the rights
and interests of employees, we maintain the order of
production and work, and promote equality among
employees as well as the harmonious and stable
development of labor relations.

Ratio of employees by gender

Ratio of employees by position

5 SEAN-EBFEITHKE
51 #EETRER

REBER(EEE) - (BBERIE)F
BZZERER - RRAIBIECADE RS
ExHm) (BITRERADEHE - &
SCETEMEETM)  (BERRET
fit)  TERBTARBRIREE  RHEB
TARERER  HNFMEER -
BELEFZBEETRE(CER
HEFERETRBHMBIL - REIHE
BHAENZEHMARGIE - TOMR
R TS MREER - ARIEE MK
ZCERBEETFEN - BEHE
MR FRREL - ERFEBET
MR - #EEERFET K
Fro (RE B TRHFE - SEEEN
IS EEE -

Ratio of employees by age groups

BHR D ENWE T A BRI BENET LA BERROENE TS
EOIESI?* 55 and apove
Adminstrative/\ 4;:] . \ 50-54 55%;;21%,{_\
position N 50-54%F — . .
TR

7%

As at the end of the reporting period, the total number
of employees of the Company was 5,097, and the
annual staff turnover rate was 2.50%. There was no
employment of child labor or forced labor during the
year.

Management
position
BB

24 and below
245 RIAT
11%

13%

Hae®EHR - AalB THEH5007
AN FEEITRKkR250%  2FK
BHEETNEEHLTHNAIBR -
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To safeguard the safety and health of employees during
the production process, the Company has formulated
internal systems such as the Safe and Civilization
Management System ({Z & XFAEEH|E)), the Safety
Production Accident Management System ((Z &4 E %
HEIEHIE)), the Employee’s Body Check-up System
((BIBm%IE)) under the guidance of national laws
and regulations of the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on Work Safety ((FEARKXMBLEEE
7&)), the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases ({/
= ARFEMBIB RN A5)), the Regulations on the
Reporting, Investigation and Disposition of Work Safety
Accidents ((EELZZ2EWREMFATZIEBIEG)).
The Company has established regulation standards to
categorize and classify the grading of production safety
accidents, and investigate the cause of accidents and
rectify them in a timely manner, and prevent similar
production safety accidents from occurring repeatedly;
to regulate the matters such as wearing and disinfecting
protective equipment when our employees interact with
cows, so as to mitigate the risk of jeopardize the safety
and health of our employees by cows. Meanwhile,
the Company has expressly stipulated the types and
frequency of employees’ body check-up to enhance
guardianship management of employees’ occupational
health.

During the reporting period, the body check-up
coverage rate of the occupational disease of the
Company was 100%, the supplementary commercial
insurance coverage rate was 100%, and supplementary
medical insurance coverage rate was 94.90%.

ﬁ%?al&i?ﬂ&#%y EAf#
R RARE(REARANMBEZ 24
B (PEARAMBEBERA
FEY AEEREERRENAETERRE
BEONEBEZEEEROESIT - HIE
(ZEXHEEBHE) (L2EESZW
‘E@%ﬁ» <;Iﬁ“Aﬂf> *B
yi%&Lﬂ“@ﬂﬁﬁi&%“'
NEEREEENRELENR - Bt
FELtEL2ENRERLE  YET
HAEQBAEQCHENAME BHE
SEPETRE  BREFRLEYETL
PREELELCENRAR B Q8
ﬂEI LR FE R R SAINHETT T%ﬁﬁ
CIMGE T B R EEE

wWEHA
R 3Z 100% -
= 100%
94.90% °
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MABERREERE
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5.3 Contributing to Employees’ Growth and 5.3 B AR
Success
The Company has established and improved the talent NAENWTEEAAIEE S AR5
training system and job promotion mechanism, on the B ERBETIFSEHEMZH
basis of ensuring employee’s equality and diversity, we MEER L BREREETRERAE
proactively promote the exploration of our employees’ N2 SBEIELEATREL.
individual potentials, and encourage our employees to EZFZNRE - ETEARS - Bl
enhance their capability and skills while participating in HIRT EHALATHEENL =
the Company’s ordinary production and construction, to ELERE -

promote the vocational and professional development of
our internal talents.

Career Development RERE

The Company has formulated the systems such as NAFIECANERIEEFHIRIE
the Assessment Plan of Human Resources Work ({ A HE BUREMNETIEAHG - &
NEBRIVEZFEITE)), established a comprehensive HWARSEMEE THETZEEF KR
employee’s promotion mechanism, which formulates ITEZBENEISEAEREYS R
various promotion paths for employees at different BTRBANETIEANRAFEMBER
positions, and creates a multi-channeled promotion 15 o

development platform for employees, ensuring equality
and competitiveness on promotion among different
types of employees.

Path for Managerial Excellence

EEER
Ordinary .
employees Groﬁgﬁhead Supj??isor
—ET &

Path for Technical Excellence

T 4%
Ordinary Vice- . Technical Center
employees supervisor Su F;;‘Qsor Manager
—MRET BlEE = it o Ep &

Path for Sales Excellence

HER R

Salesman City Manager

%758 T AR IR

Employees’ training a1
The Training and Assessment System (%312 5F 4 NEHIECENETHEY  BEEZ
f€)) formulated by the Company has constructed a %  DEHIEIEZ - REATE
diverse and comprehensive training system, regulated BIBTE - BBRALIZIES - 12T
the Company’s training management, and proactively ETEAESN 258 THEMK -

organized training activities to enhance employees’
individual capability and increase their production
efficiency.
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For different types of employees, the Company has
carried out professional training sessions emphasized
on different focuses. During the reporting period, the
Company has conducted a total of 1,270 professional
training sessions, 47 management training sessions, of
which 22,374 employees participated in professional
training sessions and 27,519 employees participated in
management training sessions.

6 HIGH VISION - PROMOTING THE
INDUSTRY AND COMMUNITY
DEVELOPMENT
6.1 Achieving Win-win Results with Partners

Building a responsible supply chain

Modern Dairy, as China’s largest supplier of raw milk,
has always been committing to building a responsible
supply chain. Through strict quality control over raw
materials for feed, packaging, logistics, etc., we
supervise the agricultural enterprises in the place
where it operates to ensure the health of cows and milk
quality. Through the promotion on the use of alfalfa and
straw, we deepen cooperation mechanism among the
upstream and downstream of the industry and promote
the stable, healthy and prosperous development of the
industry.

The Company has established and improved the
supplier management system, strengthened the
supervision over the process of bidding and price
comparison, optimized the suppliers team of the
enterprise, and increased the purchase quality and
efficiency. We have also formulated the Management
System of the Standard to Purchase of Silage Corn (&
87 EKUBIZEE R4 E) to standardize the process
of purchasing raw materials, and ensuring a safe and
environmentally-friendly purchasing process; revised
the Supplier Access and Withdrawal System ({{£FE
EEAELFIE)) to establish an evaluation standard
for suppliers and a catalogue for suppliers of materials,
and we regularly select and evaluate the suppliers in the
catalogue. We have enhanced the communication and
exchanges among suppliers, increasing the supplier’s
basic rights while protecting the quality of products, to
share the development results and achieve the win-win
results under the cooperation of both parties.

wE

HRARBEUNET - AF#ETTT
FEIZEMEEEI - FEHR - 2
AT EEE I, 270K - BRI
ATIR - HApEEEI2 8 A R22,374
NIR o EIBEEHII2 8 A R27 519K ©

ERE -RITRHEERE

6.1 BFEBHHAR

BESEHERE
tERFBESANRDHER - WK
RIGRBONBRAEEHER - &%
BEHE/RMY  BEK VRFEE
MERIEE  BREZMELER
EMNEE  BRPOFEEESDS
B ARELEERENRBMEMNGE
A RMEERETHAERS - HB
TIRIBE - f25F - EREE -

REBYMEEHEREEEBR - 0
BRTHHERLEBENEENE &
fEEENHEBEML  ReREEE
MREE : GIEK B ERRBRERTE
BED)  RECRMBREERE - BIR
WEBRELE BER EFI(HER
ENERFIE) - 27 ARG
SELEYRHHEERE & WHBER
B (e T A 1T R H AR B R 5 0o
HERZEHNBBRN  EREE M
HEMARET e EmNEARE
@ HERRKR  BREMTAERL
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The Company promoted heavy use of alfalfa to drive
the construction of alfalfa bases of domestic large-scale
grassland companies, which played a crucial role to the
development of domestic alfalfa industry. The Company
embraced the development need of integration of forage
grass planting, cow breeding and milk processing and
adhered to boosting innovation on grassland industry
by innovation of breeding to enable domestic alfalfa
industry to accelerate the establishment of enterprise-
oriented scientific and technological innovation
system and to drive the growth and development of
technological level and economic level industrialized by
the enterprises.

The Company promoted reuse of straws to accelerate
agricultural recycling economy, to improve production
and living conditions of rural residents and increase
incomes of farmers. At the same time, reuse of
straws reduced soot from straw burning released to
air, resulting in reducing air pollution and protecting
ecological environment.

Selection of quality suppliers

As at the end of reporting period, the Company
has worked with 672 suppliers, including 17 foreign
suppliers. The Company has actively cooperated with
large domestic feed companies, participating in the price
analysis and market competition in the industry while
ensuring the quality of raw materials. The Company has
signed contracts with local feed companies for long-
term cooperation, in order to secure high-quality and
stable supply at low transportation cost while actively
boosting the positive development of local economy.

NEMEEBENAEER  FF7
BARBELEXAREREMNE
R REANEEEEENEREDT
EHEENER - AREZEEM—
BIENERFTE  BRUREAFY
HEXAF  ERERNEBEETEM
REBEUCEDSTOBKRAIFER
HEED 1D 3 B AL R BUK F A B K F
BB RMER -

REEERREENE  MRTEE
BREE  RERNEREELEK
- BMERWEA - AR - BREAS
AR T RE R PR g 1) 22 SRR B A
BEE - [FRZERITHR - RELERIRE -

RREEEHAER
BERSHR - 2R HAFEHERE72
K EPESMUER17E - REER
HERAE R EESE  ERER
HEENRF  BE2ETEARNNE
B kWG HF o 2 EE R
TERZRIRAGIEAR @ MEESH
RAESSEERTHRER  FESY
REEMNEERRED T HEBOE
ﬁHO

Number of suppliers by category

ZEER D N HERRE

Labor insurance,
IR 120 2%
Service, fR7% 5 1%

Quality control,
mi%E - 35 5%

—/\

Drugs,
machinery,
frozen semen,

Small materials,
VK89
13%

Beddings,
- 69 -
10%

W | R 27 4%

Bulk feeds,

KRR

344 51%
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6.2

The Company actively takes up its social responsibilities,
and works together with suppliers to standardize
operation and achieve development. The Company
strengthens communication with suppliers through
various channels to safeguard their basic rights and
boost the development of industry chain. In the
meantime, the Company invites its suppliers to involve
in its inventory adjustment strategy. Through changing
the short-term mind-set of procurement to the change
of long-term strategic supply chain management, we
have achieved win-win cooperation with suppliers.

The Company has formulated a strict system for the
access, withdrawal and management of suppliers.
During the process of materials inspection, only
suppliers with compliance certificates and a full
production system will be taken into consideration. In
accordance with the internal Supplier Management
System ((HEREEHIE) ), the Company has carried
out the management of suppliers at different levels
and periodically conducted sampling and evaluation
of quality, giving feedbacks on existing problems
and supervising the rectification. Suppliers that failed
the inspection will be suspended, entered into list of
alternative suppliers, and if no improvement is made,
they will be blacklisted.

Benefiting People’s Livelihood Through Public
Welfare

Three rural services

In 2017, fully capitalizing on its influences and
advantages in terms of production chain by its own
operation and based on its management characteristics,
the Company continued to implement its three rural
services deployment and help the development in rural
regions.

During the reporting period, the Company signed
a contract to plant silage corn with an area of over
400,000 acres, and acquired more than 730,000 tons of
silage corn, using organic biogas fertilizer in the planting
base and reducing the amount of chemical fertilizer
by 20-25kg per mu. It has solved the environmental
contamination caused by incineration of straw and
achieved the green agriculture economic cycle model
of “cow-fertilizer-grass”, bringing more than RMB300
million of direct benefits to farmers. It has improved rural
environment, promoted agricultural development, and
achieved the good interaction and win-win development
between dairy industry and agriculture, enterprises and
communities.
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Public charity as a priority

The Company adheres to the corporate objective of
“not only making a brand but also pursuing a good
reputation.” While pursuing product quality and gaining
consumer trust, it values the fulfilment of corporate
social responsibility, and actively participates in
charitable and volunteer activities. Through its product
and care, the Company gives back to society and build
a corporate image that cares for people’s livelihood and
takes responsibility.

On 21 February 2017, China Dairy Association released
the D20 corporate milk school sponsorship action plan.
Modern Dairy successively donated pure milk which
was worth RMB3.85 million, totalling 64,107 boxes or
nearly 800,000 packets to 115 elementary schools in
the action.

DEET

REFOR] MERMamhE - T BREK
HORINEERE HEKEmm
G BEHBEEEENRAR  ERE
ThEEMEER  BHRLHEQATES
MEBEES  LERME O OIS
g BMYTHORE REBEMND
KPR -

“E—+FE-_/-+—8 HEHE
e MO0 EF NN E R 1TE
FE  BREETREESF A115FT
NEEEIEE T EBEISE T - R
64,10712 ~ FT80E BHA A1 -




116 @& China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. " EBEAKEZERER A 7

Environmental, Social & Governance Report 3815 - @ RERRE

TABLE OF KEY PERFORMANCE EARERR
Key performance indicator Figures
ARENIEE 2z
Emissions of greenhouse gases from farms (1CO.e) 358 = FEE BE 2 (tCO2e) 881,079.79
Emissions of greenhouse gases from raw milk unit output R 287 2 &8 = A& E (1COe, W) 0.75
Emissions of greenhouse gases from liquid milk companies (tCOze) R A 718 = .52 HE i & (tCOse) 21,626.78
Emissions of greenhouse gases from branded milk unit output (tCOze/ton) 0.30
mhE A B i A R E R BB B2 (106, W)
Direct emissions of greenhouse gases (tCOze) R EREE E & M E (tCO2e) 721,868.52
Indirect emissions of greenhouse gases (tCO»e) /& = R A8 M BEME (tCO2e) 180,838.05
Total emissions of greenhouse gases (tCOze) JB = R EE HEMARE (1COe) 902,706.57
Emissions of SO; (ton) SO, & (W) 141.33
Emissions of NOx (ton) NOxBERE (1) 59.19
Emissions of soot (ton) /ZEEEBEmE (18) 319.30
Output of medical wastes from farms (ton) 35 & By F = A4 & (1E) 93.69
Output of hazardous wastes (ton) /& EEE Y E 4+ & (IF) 240.07
Number of cows died from diseases and cow undergoing harmless treatment 14,409
ARG SRS R LR R M) AR SRS (FR)
Output of wasted packing materials (ton) BEE 2 i1 #LEE 4 = (18) 158.03
Output of biogas slurry (ten thousand of cubic meters) JBRE L E (B3 )7K) 572.77
Outward transport of biogas slurry (ten thousand cubic meters) BRIMNEE (B2 7 K) 586.61
Output of biogas residues (ten thousand of tons) YAEE 4 £ (BE) 183.18
Output of coal cinders (ton) EEE A= (HE) 8,549.55
Discharge amount of wastewater from liquid milk companies (ten thousand cubic meters) 259.00
RYYA RIEEKBEME (B 5K)
Utilization rate of recycled biogas slurry (%) SB/&E RALFI K (%) 100
Total consumption of electronic power purchased (ten thousand of KWH) SMNERE 48 (8B T L) 24,874.00
Consumption of fire coal (ten thousand tons) KA EEE (BE) 0.86
Consumption of natural gases (ten thousand of cubic meters) KA FIEREE (B K) 548.41
Consumption of diesel (ten thousand liters) £¢5i S (B7) 546.94
Consumption of gasoline (ten thousand liters) /i EFEE (BFt) 20.08
Comprehensive energy consumption of purchased energy (ton of standard coal) 51,044.05
SNEREIRAR B BEFEE (MEIZ A
Consumption of methane (ten thousand of cubic meters) AR EEE (B3 5 K) 13,964.00
Power generation capacity of methane (ten thousand of KWH) SBR#EEE (ET ) 6,118.00
Quantity of steam generated from methane (ten thousand tons) JARE 4R Z5E () 72.40
Total consumption of comprehensive energy (ten thousand tons of standard coal) 15.07
AR EBERE (BIEE)
Comprehensive energy consumption of raw milk unit output (ton of standard coal/ton) 0.12
RINENESLRA EE (MIZE1E)
Comprehensive energy consumption of branded milk unit output (ton of standard coal/ton) 0.11
RIS BN E LA B E (MIIZE 1E)
Total water consumption (ten thousand tons) FA7K#£ 2 (EE) 1,005.75
Water consumption of raw milk unit output (ton/ton) R &7 EEFE/KE (E,1E) 8.10
Water consumption of low-temperature milk unit output (ton/ton) K& J B 1 & S 77Kk & (1) 6.67
Total consumption of packing materials of branded milk (ten thousand tons) 0.25

SRR B B EREM R A (BE)
Total number of staff 8 T428¢ (A) 5,097
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Key performance indicator Figures

RREMER g

Number of staff and ratio (%) by region

iR E D 8 T ABCA) KRLLHI(%)

Ma’anshan 5 #L 349, 6.85% Hongya 7 156, 3.06%
Bengbu 8 947, 18.58% Tongshan LU 9,0.18%
Hefei &2 470, 9.22% Helin Ak 195, 3.83%
Wenshang 73 _E 243, 4.77% Shuangcheng 3 260, 5.10%
Chabei 221t 601, 11.79% Shanghe &7 420, 8.24%
Saibei 21t 709, 13.91% Chengdu Ak #P 3, 0.06%
Tongliao #BE 179, 3.51% Wuhan & & 3, 0.06%
Shangzhi & 159, 3.12% Jinan g 2,0.04%
Baoji E# 346, 6.79% Nanchang & 43, 0.84%

Tai'an &% 1,0.02%

Hong Kong &% 2,0.04%

Number of staff and ratio (%) by employment type RIE{EIEA I DRI E T AE (N) KRB (%)

Managerial position & 12 @z

Professional technical position 22 £ 17 iz
Manufacturing position 4 iz
Administrative position 77 f&fiz

Other positions H ftb =67

639, 12.54%
2,109, 41.38%
1,761, 34.55%

358, 7.02%
230, 4.51%

Number of staff and ratio (%) by age group L FE:4ARIEI 5 M E TEHE (A) KA (%)

Aged 24 or below 24 B E AT

Aged 25 to 29 25-29 5%

Aged 30 to 34 30-34 7%

Aged 35 to 49 35-49 5%

Aged 40 to 44 40-44 3%

Aged 45 to 49 45-49 3%

Aged 50 to 54 50-54 5%

Aged 55 or above 55 s & IA E

Number of staff and ratio (%) by gender Male 5
ZHERIBIDHE TAZA) R H(%) Female %

559, 10.97%
933, 18.30%
908, 17.81%
797, 15.64%
729, 14.30%
764, 14.99%
320, 6.28%
87,1.71%
3,419, 67.08%
1,678, 32.92%

Annual employee turnover rate (%) 8 THFERKE (%)

Coverage rate of physical examination for occupational diseases (%)
BEREREE R (%)

Number of people for training #3I A% (A)

Number of training sessions & 3l3% /% (%)

Number of training hours 531 £k (/)\e)

Number of average training hours of staff & T #5523l B 28 (/] Nk )

Coverage rate of supplementary medical insurance (%) {7t B & RBEE R (%)
Coverage rate of supplementary commercial insurance (%) 75 £ /RB B & K (%)

Total number of suppliers £t fEE 428 (&)

2.50
100

49,893
1,317
987.75
7.34
94.90
100
478
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Key performance indicator Figures
BREMIEE i
Number of silage supplier by farm No. No.
RHISEID NS P EREE (@) #H £ gE!
Shangzhi & & 10 Saisi ZE Y 10
Shuangcheng 3 15 Chabei 24t 18
Tongliao @& 13 Hengsheng 185% 17
Helin FI#k 17 Hefei & A2 15
Baoji E# 17 Bengbu 18 31
Hongya 37 6 Ma’anshan 55 %211 15
Saier ZE— 10 Wenshang 3 _E 5
Saisan ZE= 10 Shanghe &1 15

Total &5t 224

Number of suppliers domestically and overseas

BRSNS EEEE (E)

Domestic B A 461
Overseas B 9p 17
Total &5t 478

Number of suppliers by category
Za B D e e EE (fF)

Bulk feed AR A%} 344
Paddings ##} 69
Little raw materials /)\} 89
Medicines, instruments and frozen semen 91
i o B RKE

Quality controls gz 35
Services fR7 5
Labour protection #{% 12
Materials #7%} 27
Total &5t 672
Reject rate of raw milk (%) 0.33
JRIHIE UL (%)

Number of training of occupational ethics 19
SRS =R A

Number of participants for training of occupational ethics 460
BEBEREI2EAH

Number of juridical cases for corruption 0
BEBBAVERUHE (1)

Donation amounts (ten thousand dollars) 385
BEEE(ET)

Number of community volunteers 100

28R EREE AR(AR)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Ms. GAO Lina (Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. HAN Chunlin (Chief Operation Officer)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LU Minfang (Chairman)
(appointed on 29 March 2017)
Mr. YU Xubo (resigned on 29 March 2017)
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Mr. ZHANG Ping
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Mr. LI Shengli
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Mr. KANG Yan
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Mr. ZHANG Ping
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B B

Deloitte.

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA MODERN DAIRY HOLDINGS LTD.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 130
to 273, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter
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BREREE®

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

MRELEE

BMEBERTEERRELSBENT

Fair value of milkable cows
Py A FE

We identified the fair value of milkable cows as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the balance on
the consolidated statement of financial position at 31
December 2017 and the significant degree of estimates
made by the management in determining their fair
values.

The Group reported milkable cows of Renminbi (“‘RMB”)
5,337 million as at 31 December 2017. These biological
assets are measured at fair value less costs to sell at the
end of each reporting period.

As disclosed in notes 4 and 38 to the consolidated
financial statements, fair values of milkable cows are
determined by using the multi-period excess earnings
method, which is based on the discounted future cash
flows to be generated by such milkable cows. The
management’s estimation is primarily based on the
discount rate, the estimated feed costs per kilogram
(“kg”) of raw milk, estimated average daily milk yield
at each lactation cycle and the estimated local future
market price of raw milk. The Company has engaged an
independent valuer to assist it in assessing the fair values
of milkable cows.

Details of milkable cows and the related estimation
uncertainty on their fair value are set out in notes 4, 21
and 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

BASDHTRFESBARREZER - DHRNZ
E—tE+ A=+ BNGEMBRAREHRNEER
AR EREENEE R A HERETREERREMNME -
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REPNE A A ARKEHPHE - ARFDRES
M EE B E AR IR FE

MERBBEATFENGT RANEG BN GRS M ER
KUF5E4  215%38 o

Our procedures in relation to the fair value of milkable
cows included:

° Testing the Group’s internal controls over the fair
value determination of milkable cows;

° Evaluating the independent valuer’s objectivity,
qualifications and competence;

o Utilising our internal valuation specialists to assess
the valuation methodologies and the discount rate;
and

o Assessing the reasonableness of key assumptions,
including the estimated feed costs per kg of raw
milk, estimated average daily milk yield at each

lactation cycle and the future market price of raw
milk by comparing to historical and industry data.

B ENF A FENZEFRE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BERELER

HAREZEE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMEBKTRERRELSENT

Impairment assessment on goodwill allocated to ADH CGU (as defined below)

SECEADHE & E L BB R A B E G (EE R TX)

We identified the impairment assessment on goodwill
arising from acquisition of Asia Dairy Holdings and Asia
Dairy Holdings Il (“ADH Companies”) which is a cash-
generating unit engaged in dairy farming operations (the
“ADH CGU”) as a key audit matter due to the significant
degree of estimates and underlying assumptions made
by the management in determining the recoverable
amount.

The Group reported goodwill of RMB1,114 million
relating to the acquisition of ADH Companies as at 31
December 2017.

As disclosed in notes 4 and 16 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group determines whether
goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating units to
which goodwill has been allocated and the Group
determines the recoverable amount of units based on a
value in use calculation. The management’s estimation
is primarily based on the cash flow projections and
the discount rate. The Company has engaged an
independent valuer to assist it in performing the goodwill
impairment assessment.

* F9 85 &= £ B U B Asia Dairy Holdings & Asia Dairy
Holdings II(TADHR A |) - EAKEMFBEEBKNR S
EEBM([ADHR&EA BN ) mENREN R A
BREXER DAREEEREEANE S HEEET
HERE - RBERE -

R-EBE—+F+-_A=+—HH S£EEREFHUKE
ADHARIMEEABARE1114BETT °

iR WIS IRAR M T4 R 16FTIRE -
=L RER -
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FREFESERENRSELEMDN
BEEEENERAEEFEEEEMMNA

WESHE - BEBRITOEIEBERRSREM R
B - AREEEBBYHEHEIETHEREST
fh o

Our procedures in relation to the goodwill impairment
assessment on goodwill allocated to ADH CGU included:

o Testing the Group’s internal controls over goodwill
impairment assessment;

o Evaluating the independent valuer’s objectivity,
qualification and competence;

o Utilising our internal valuation specialists to assess
the valuation methodologies and the discount rate;
and

° Assessing the reasonableness of the future cash
flows by comparing the estimated revenue as well
as gross operating profits against historical data
and the data used in the prior periods’ impairment
assessment.

B D L EADHR & EA B AERENENREFE
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Key audit matter

ARELEE
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BREREE®

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMEERTRERRELRSENG X

Impairment assessment on trade receivables
JEWE BB E S

We identified the impairment assessment on trade
receivables from certain distributors of the Group’s
liquid milk products (the “Distributors”) as a key audit
matter due to the impairment loss recognised involved a
significant degree of estimates and judgements made by
the management in the estimation of future cash flows.

As disclosed in note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group discontinued its direct
cooperation with the Distributors, following a change
in distribution channel during the year. The Group
reported trade receivables of RMB1,070 million due from
the Distributors and recognised an impairment loss of
RMB488 million as at 31 December 2017.

Details of the estimation uncertainty of the estimated
impairment of trade receivables are set out in note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
on trade receivables included:

o Testing the Group’s internal controls over the
impairment assessment on trade receivables;

o Obtaining and checking the relevant agreements
with respect to the collaterals of trade receivables;
and

o Evaluating the appropriateness of the management’s
basis used in the impairment assessment which
considers the fair value of the collaterals and the
estimated repayments from the Distributors.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE

FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)
Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is LUNG, Wing Hung, David.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 March 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT QF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeBEmRAMEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &2 —Z—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE

2017 2016
—E—tF —ZE—RF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
et AR®T T AREFIT
Revenue WA 5) 4,783,801 4,862,311
Cost of sales before raw milk fair value B FE AR
adjustments BRI (3,352,957) (3,258,127)
Raw milk fair value adjustments included 5t ASEER AN R KL
in cost of sales NEEFEE 7/21 (1,228,046) (1,116,860)
Loss arising from changes in fair value AR EEERILF
less costs to sell of dairy cows HEKRANEANER 21 (868,337) (1,058,928)
Gains arising on initial recognition of raw R REHURIERIZ A E
milk at fair value less costs to sell at BB B A AN 1R TE SR EE
the point of harvest R 21 1,228,046 1,116,860
Other income EH U A 6 51,832 69,860
Selling and distribution costs HE NS HEAX (372,602) (786,929)
Administrative expenses TR (356,486) (274,210)
Share of loss of an associate FE(L—fEIH & R B)E 18 (205) (1,616)
Other gains and losses, net Hitpl s R 518558 7 (531,097) 125,554
Other expenses HAx 6 (20,428) (94,324)
Loss before finance costs and tax FREE KA R BRI E 1B 7 (666,479) (416,409)
Finance costs BhE AR A 8 (328,395) (368,582)
Loss before tax bR AT EE (994,874) (784,991)
Income tax credit (expense) FrisfiEe () 9 27 (504)
Loss and total comprehensive FAEBEREHERAY B
expense for the year (994,847) (785,495)
Loss and total comprehensive AT & FAREEEIER
expense for the year attributable to: ZHEF X ERE
Owners of the Company RAFRAEA (975,116) (742,103)
Non-controlling interests JEIERRRERS (19,731) (43,392)
(994,847) (785,495)
Loss per share (RMB) FREE(ARE) 13
Basic HAK (16.19) centsz  (13.99) cents?

Diluted g (16.19) cents®  (13.99) cents%
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A BRI R R

As at 31 December 2017 R =Z—+F+_-_A=+—H

2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENREZE 14 4,698,736 5,075,030
Land use rights T A 15 125,802 126,679
Goodwill (RS 16 1,424,539 1,424,539
Interest in an associate R—REEE R T MER 17 - 1,887
Available-for-sale equity investment A ERERE 18 12,934 24,955
Biological assets EMEE 21 7,751,070 7,602,959
14,013,081 14,256,049
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 22 848,635 980,515
Trade and other receivables and FEU R 2 BR 3k I B Ath FE UK
advanced payments FIELA R FE B 23 1,022,069 1,348,480
Land use rights TP 15 4,106 4,012
Other financial assets Hthep&EE 19 31,704 11,236
Pledged bank balances and BEE IR TR R A E
non-pledged bank deposits RITER 24 131,467 356,624
Cash and bank balances R RIRTTES 24 666,519 851,788
2,704,500 3,552,655
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables JERTE BRI E AL FERS
FRIA 25 2,019,466 2,781,727
Tax payable fERFRIB 2 57
Bank borrowings — due within one year RITER R —FAEIH 26 1,564,228 3,278,325
Short-term debentures SHIES 27 = 799,425
Medium-term notes R ERZE 28 1,198,922 -
Other borrowings — due within one year HiEm— R —FRE|H 30 1,103,799 38,527
Other financial liabilities HibemaE 20 - 927,058
5,886,417 7,825,119
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAETE (3,181,917) (4,272,464)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBEME
LIABILITIES 10,831,164 9,983,585
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As at 31 December 2017 (continued) R - ZE—+FE+-A=+—H(#)

2017 2016
—E—tF —ZERF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
M ARET T AREFIT

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEAXREE
Share capital R& AR 32 526,058 452,959
Share premium and reserves [ w8 M (7 32 6,443,064 6,568,554

Equity attributable to owners of RATHA ARG ER

the Company 6,969,122 7,021,513
Non-controlling interests JEIE PR RE RS 119,307 101,383
7,088,429 7,122,896

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Bank borrowings — due after one year HFITER— R —FRIE 26 1,913,029 607,500
Medium-term notes FEIE IR 28 599,458 1,796,605
Corporate bonds NEfEH 29 1,045,761 249,020
Other borrowings — due after one year HA sk — R —E % 5 30 - 36,962
Deferred income FIEUTA 31 184,487 170,602
3,742,735 2,860,689
10,831,164 9,983,585

The consolidated financial statements on pages 130 to 273 were #H RN FE130E273EME AV BHEN T — N
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 HF=A -+ NHKES S ERBETETRE

March 2018 and are signed on its behalf by: #=F:
LU Minfang GAO Lina
EHM =EMR
Director Director

EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
MRERRBE R

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ2 —Z—+tF+-A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company
KNTHEARL

Shares
held under

Share Share  the Share Non-

Share
capital

k%
RMB'000

ARRTR

Share
premium

&R
RMB'000
AERTT

Other
resenve

AR
RMB'000
AE®TR
(note 32)

(Hits2)

options
reserve

BREdE

RMB'000
AE®TT
(note 33(a))

(HiiF33a))

award
reserve

RhZBEE
RMB'000
ARMTT
(note 33(b)

(H330)

feikR
ARBTR

Award  Retained controlling Total
Scheme earnings interests equity
RA%A
SHEET

Sub-total

REEA it
RMB'000  RMB'000
ARRTT  ARETR

FERER &if

RMBI000 RMB'000

ARBTR

RMB'000

ARET T
(notes 32

and 33(o))

(%2
J33(0))

Balance at 1 January 2016 RZF-7E-A-RAfiR 45299 3292068 1585752 75,078 - - 2316040 7781897 168135 7,950,082
Loss and totd comprehensive EMEERZERRLE
ex0ense for e yer - - - - SRy R B %M
Share purchase for the share awrd ARAREENRAEE
scheme note 33() (B33 - - - - Pl i - Ay
Recogriton o equiy-seted ERRELE R R
share-based payment (ot 33(3) 33 - - 43143 = = = 43,143 - 43143
Transfer due to forfature of share REBR BN ENER
opfions after vesting = = (1,019) = = 1,018 = = =
Dividend peid to non-controling interests ERFERERRE - - - - - - - (25,200 (25,200
Capita contrbution from HihERLE
non-controling interests - - - - - - - 1840 1840
Balance at 31 December 2016 REE-RETZAZT-AA

33 452050 3,292,088 1,585,752 117,206 - (61424)  1,634952 7,021,518 101,383 7,122,89%
Loss and tota comprehensive FREERRERLE
expense for the year - - - - - - (om5,116)  (o75,116) (19,731)  (004,847)
Shares st for settment of HEESAREMEANRE
contingent considerations (note 20) (F20) 43157 807,037 - - - - - 850,194 - 850,194
Shares issued for acquistion of FhEHIRERTE IR
non-controling nerest (H34m)
(ote 34e) N2 MM () : - - -6 (gm 17
Deemed acauistion of on-contrling RS (Hasb)
interests (note 34(o)) - - (50,502) - - - - (50,502) 50,502 -
Share purchase for the share award SRASEENRAEE
scheme rots 330 (zz3310) - - - - > ) - (r) = (k)
Recogniion of equity-setted shere-Dased payment B RBEEN R
transactons FABERS
otes 33¢) and 330 (HiEs3a Raan) - - - - AT -0
Transfer due to cancellaton R EhEngs
ofshare optons (note 33(a) (Hisasa) - - -y = - W4 : : 2
Capita contrbution from HilhERLE
non-controling interests - - - - - - - - 1,960 1,960
Balance at 31 December 2017 WF-tE+ZAz1-AA

o 526,058 4,641,066 979,053 5,286 14517 (62,137) 864979 6,969,122 119307 7,088,429
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—tFE+-A=T-ALEE

2017 2016
—E—tF —T—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREFT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETH
Loss before tax BRTi A& B (994,874) (784,991)
Adjustments for: BATERZ
Depreciation of property, plant AABRNYE  BE
and equipment charged to profit or loss REETE 7 344,722 318,736
Impairment loss on property, mE - BELKXERERE
plant and equipment 7 - 69,061
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables  [EULE 5 B8R 7 1% H i e ik
FIEERERE 7 495,381 1,589
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value — #&1F SR E AJ &35 FE 7 - 9,701
Impairment loss on available-for-sale (‘AFS”) AMEHE(TAEBEE ]
equity investment BRI EREEE 7 12,021 =
Impairment loss on goodwill EEYEREY i 7 - 16,955
Release of land use rights 1 b {5 PR AR R 7 4,106 4,658
Bank interest income RITRIBMA 6 (8,166) (15,322)
Government grants credited to income ABRRARA BB R G 6 (17,844) (41,741)
Finance costs BUE KA 8 328,395 368,582
Share of loss of an associate FE(E—TEEE S A B EiE 205 1,616
Loss (gain) on disposal/deemed HeE /BIEHERESNT
disposal of interest in an associate A EE () 7 239 (1,462)
Fair value loss (gain) on foreign currency forward — SMNEREIR A FEEE
(Was) 7 1,949 (11,236)
Fair value gain from contingent considerations SIARERAFEME 7 - (228,540)
Fair value loss from settlement of 4 H#YWHE Fiis
contingent considerations ANFEEE 7/20 15,361 -
Loss from disposal of inventories HEFEEE 7 5,134 -
Loss from disposal of property, HEWE - BE&EER
plant and equipment &1 7 11,268 7,257
Gains on derecognition of financial liabilities FUBER S A EmERE 7 (57) (303)
Net foreign exchange (gain) loss from borrowings 3 & {& 0 RIIME (Uezs)
BB (13,580) 11,660
Equity-settled share option expense HERELENBRERS 7 92,623 43,143
Share award expense B SRR R 7 14,517 =
Loss arising from changes in fair value HFAFEEESFIF
less costs to sell of dairy cows HERARE LN ER 21 868,337 1,058,928
Operating cash flows before movements in M@ﬁ@ """ FERREER S
working capital RE 1,159,737 828,291
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERA(18m) 100,667 (112,772)
Increase in trade and other receivables and EWE 5 R M E A R
advanced payments T8 DA R B 5 FRIE 10 (182,836) (348,448)
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables &2 5 BR 5 K& H b fE T 2%
18R ) hn (576,683) 770,967
Cash generated from operations EBEENRS 500,885 1,138,038
Income tax paid B FEH (28) (728)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETEHFMEREESTE 500,857 1,137,310
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 8B &RER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 (continued) B2 —Z—+&F+-_A=+—HILtFE (&)

2017 2016
—E—tF —T—RF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
i+ AR®ETR AREFT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETD
Interest received B UERFIS 8,716 16,537
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BAYE  BE &K (387,941) (404,231)
Investment in an associate KBS ARNRE - (1,920)
Proceeds from liquidation of an associate H—fBE AR EEMN
FiiSsE 1,443 -
Addition in biological assets EYEERE (1,215,777) (1,347,733
Addition in pledged bank balances EERIRITE N (112,244) (124,874)
Release of pledged bank balances BERIRTTERIRR 120,651 183,664
Addition in non-pledged bank deposits with REHABA=EAN
original maturity of more than three months EIRIRIR TR AN (15,000) (231,750)
Release of non-pledged bank deposits with REHBABB=EAMN
original maturity of more than three months IR IR TR R R 231,750 350,202
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEME - BE KRR
equipment FTS 58 15,849 5,284
Purchases of land use rights BE A (3,323) (10,984)
Proceeds from disposal of dairy cows HEI ERERE 434,254 525,878
Settlement of cash portion of BEIARERS
contingent considerations i 20 (92,099) -
Net cash received from HINGE 32 B AT U ER
foreign currency forward Re#E 9,287 -
Government grants received BERBT 8L 31,729 70,519
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES ®REZEMABESFE (972,705) (969,408)




136 @& China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. #EBEAKEERER A 7

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 8B E&RE %

For the year ended 31 December 2017 (continued) B2 —Z—+&F+_A=+—HILtFE (&)

2017 2016
—E—tF —T—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREFT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEED
Interest paid BERFE (340,468) (257,275)
New bank borrowings raised HESBTER 3,350,066 3,443,611
Repayment of bank borrowings EREEIE (3,711,270) (5,216,697)
Proceeds from issue of short-term debentures BITHHESMERE 500,000 1,300,000
Proceeds from medium-term notes RS 5IR - 1,600,000
Proceeds from corporate bond RNEEEFSHIA 800,000 250,000
Proceeds from other borrowings H A G RETERIE 1,105,400 96,250
Payment of transaction cost for XAHRITRR - RHES R
bank borrowings, short-term debentures, HHZERAREHFAR
medium-term notes and corporate bond DTN (40,939) (9,825)
Repayment of short-term debentures RHRERERTE (1,300,000) (900,000)
Repayment of other borrowings BB H AR (79,257) (20,761)
Payment for repurchase of ordinary shares [ T A% M 3R (713) (61,424)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests IR T IR R AR S = (25,200)
Capital contribution from non-controlling interests ~ JE#5 iz 5 & 1,960 1,840
Cash acquired from acquisition of W BE FEIE R I e O FT 15
non-controlling interests Re 34(a) 1,800 -
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BRETDAERLSEE 286,579 200,519
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE INCASHAND B4 RREZEM(HL)
CASH EQUIVALENTS BN (185,269) 368,421
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FINEERELEEY
BEGINNING OF YEAR 851,788 483,367
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EXNRERASEEY
AT END OF YEAR,

Represented by cash and bank balances B & RIBITRBES 666,519 851,788
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—Z

1.

—tEF+-A=T-ALEE

GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company and its shares are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 26 November 2010. The registered office of
the Company is Maples Corporate Services Limited, PO Box
309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KYI-1104, Cayman
Islands. The principal place of business of the Company is
located in Economic and Technological Development Zone,
Maanshan City, Anhui Province, the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”). As at 31 December 2017, China Mengniu
Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Mengniu”) and its wholly owned subsidiary
together owned 60.76% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and its subsidiaries are mainly engaged in production
and sales of milk. The Company and its subsidiaries are
hereinafter collectively referred to as the Group.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the principal subsidiaries of the Group
operate (the “functional currency”).

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

In preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2017, the directors of the Company
(the “Directors”) have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group in light of that the Group incurred a net
loss of RMB994,847,000 for the year ended 31 December
2017 (2016: RMB785,495,000) and, as of that date, the
Group’s current liabilities exceeded its total current assets
by RMB3,181,917,000 (2016: RMB4,272,464,000). Having
considered the available credit facilities of approximately
RMB6,306,479,000 which remains unutilised as at 31
December 2017, the Directors are satisfied that the Group
will be able to meet in full its financial obligations as they fall
due for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis.

1.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. EAHTIRKZETERUMEHRSE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING X8| ([EFRBIEHRE 2R ])

STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)

(a)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following amendments to
IFRSs for the first time in the current year.

RAFEBRHERNE R BRE
RIS
AEBNAEE B IRERIATBEERE
B EERNER] -

Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative AR astEl]  RBREFM
FTIRIEE]

Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Bl | TR EIREE
Assets for Unrealised Losses F12MIEE] ERIBEE

Amendments to IFRS 12 As part of the Annual BRI BHmE (EFREBRMBRE
Improvements to IFRSs ARIFE125%  ERIFENE(ZE
2014-2016 Cycle BIEET —EE_E—REF

AEE—F D
Except as described below, the application of the B T SCRTat &SN - AN E E FE F B R

amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The Group has applied these amendments for the
first time in the current year. The amendments require
an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. In addition, the amendments
also require disclosures on changes in financial assets
if cash flows from those financial assets were, or future
cash flows will be, included in cash flows from financing
activities.

B 5 s 2R E T I B R R B R
FELBEFENTBERE MK
%/ Sz Eh5E WS mRAE A
BEMBREATE -

e —

BT ERET R E XS ENEET
AEEERAFETBREAZE B
Bl c REBII AT ERERERUE
WMEAETHREETHSEHEEE
g BRESEPHNIFRCEE - It
I REEFIMHATE  ERFeHE
ENRERECEHERRELSRE
Besrt AREEZHNRETEN &
BREBREEHUCRHEENED -

Specifically, the amendments require the following to BEBmME ZFBITHRERETYR
be disclosed: (i) changes from financing cash flows; T (PREREREREWES ; (i)K
(i) changes arising from obtaining or losing control BEEESRAENB R A S EMERD
of subsidiaries or other businesses; (iii) the effect of %;%MEE’]“@J (iii) NS [ SR B Y 57
changes in foreign exchange rates; (iv) changes in fair & (VAT EEZE  Kv)EhE

values; and (v) other changes.

A reconciliation between the opening and closing
balance of these items is provided in note 37. Consistent
with the transition provisions of the amendments, the
Group has not disclosed comparative information for
the prior year. Apart from the additional disclosure in
note 37, the application of these amendments has
had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

% F IR B BV EIH R B R A o 2 B B
FREOMIFES7 - REZFEFTNBE
X =8 AEBEYEFERBEFE
L BB R - BRI EES7T B IMNK R
S - FERRZ IS R] I 4 B K 5% [ Yy i
BB HMRERTE
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effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments'

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments’

IFRS 16 Leases®

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transachons and
Advance Consideration’

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments®

Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions'

Applying IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with IFRS 4
Insurance Contracts'

Amendments to
IFRS 2

Amendments to
IFRS 4

Amendments to Prepayment Features with Negative

IFRS 9 Compensation

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
IFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
IAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
IAS 19 Settlement?

Amendments to Long-term Interests i in Associates
IAS 28 and Joint Ventures®

Amendments to Transfers of Investment Property’
IAS 40

Amendments to As part of the Annual Improvements
IAS 28 to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle'

Amendments to
IFRSs

Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle®

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2018

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021

—tEF+-A=T-ALEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSS”) (continued)

(b) New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet

g
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A
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2.
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

P97 5T J% 545 5T B 01 76 R 25
B (T ERPE Bt 35 3 52 R

B
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@

STANDARDS (“IFRSS”) (continueq)

(b)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Except for the new IFRSs mentioned below, the
Directors anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to IFRSs and Interpretations will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities,
general hedge accounting and impairment requirements
for financial assets.

Key requirements of IFRS 9 which are relevant to the
Group are:

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of IFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured
at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt
investments that are held within a business model
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows,
and that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding are generally measured at amortised
cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods.
Debt instruments that are held within a business
model whose objective is achieved both by collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and
that have contractual items that give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding,
are generally measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”). All other financial
assets are measured at their fair value at subsequent
accounting periods. In addition, under IFRS 9, entities

(b)

€ 28 5 1 e oK A S AY HTRT B ARRIERT
B PR Bt 75 3 o5 22 B ()
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SHEERELT
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RenERtESRHEENEBKRN
FRANEBIA  RAEKNKERSRH
HERRNELMNBSREE/EER
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G HREERFIN - BREREL TR
BMEHEZAREMEZEBARNZS
BERE (LIERIEEE) A FEER

Sm

NN

may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent mEE > MESREIA—KRNIER
changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that FRRER ©

is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income,
with only dividend income generally recognised in profit
or loss.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2.
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSS”) (continued)

(b) New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet (b)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—Z

& PR A 15 R A R AT R AR E R

effective (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS
9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed
to an incurred credit loss model under IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The
expected credit loss model requires an entity to account
for expected credit losses and changes in those
expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other
words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to
have occurred before credit losses are recognised.

Based on the Group’s financial instruments and risk
management policies as at 31 December 2017, the
Directors anticipate the following potential impact on
initial application of IFRS 9:

Classification and measurement

o Debt instruments classified as loan and receivables
carried at amortised cost as disclosed in note 23,
these are held within a business model whose
objective is to collect the contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal outstanding. The Directors do
not expect that the Group will continue to accept
bills receivable as settlement of trade receivables
in the future. Accordingly these financial assets
will continue to be subsequently measured at
amortised cost upon the application of IFRS 9.

I3 P Bt 75 3R 5 22 Bl ()
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSS”) (continued)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

(b)

Equity securities classified as AFS equity
investment carried at cost less impairment as
disclosed in note 18: these securities qualified for
designation as measured at FVTOCI under IFRS 9
and the Group will measure these securities at fair
value at the end of subsequent reporting periods
with fair value gains or losses to be recognised as
other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the investments revaluation reserve. At
31 December 2017, the Group performed
an impairment assessment and recorded an
impairment loss of RMB12,021,000, therefore
the Directors consider the fair value of the AFS
equity investment of the Group approximate
its carrying value at 1 January 2018 and no fair
value adjustment would be made to the Group’s
investment revaluation reserve at 1 January 2018
upon initial application of IFRS 9.

All other financial assets and financial liabilities will
continue to be measured on the same bases as
are currently measured under IAS 39.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2.
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSS”) (continued)

(b) New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet (b) C BN RERBH R RIEET

effective (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Impairment

In general, the Directors anticipate that the application
of the expected credit loss model of IFRS 9 will result
in earlier provision of credit losses which are not yet
incurred in relation to the Group’s financial assets
measured at amortised costs and other items that
subjects to the impairment provisions upon application
of IFRS 9 by the Group.

Based on the assessment by the Directors, if the
expected credit loss model were to be applied by the
Group, the accumulated amount of impairment loss
to be recognised by the Group as at 1 January 2018
would be increased as compared to the accumulated
amount recognised under IAS 39 mainly attributable
to expected credit losses provision on trade and other
receivables. Such further impairment recognised under
expected credit loss model would reduce the opening
retained earnings at 1 January 2018.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
and the related Amendments

IFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting
for revenue arising from contracts with customers.
IFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition
guidance including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11
Construction Contracts and the related Interpretations
when it becomes effective.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2.
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

FH%E%T&%M%%TF% B 7% 3R &
B ([ BEIPR B B sk 5 22 Al 1) )

i Tt

STANDARDS (“IFRSS”) (continueq)

(b)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
and the related Amendments (continued)

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
Specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step approach
to revenue recognition:

° Step 1:  Identify the contract(s) with a customer

° Step 2:  Identify the performance obligations in
the contract

° Step 3:  Determine the transaction price

° Step 4:  Allocate the transaction price to
the performance obligations in the
contract

° Step 5:  Recognise revenue when (or as)

the entity satisfies a performance
obligation

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.
Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in
IFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore,
extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 15.

In 2016, the IASB issued clarification to IFRS 15 in
relation to the identification of performance obligations,
principal versus agent considerations as well as
licensing application guidance.

The Directors anticipate that the application of IFRS 15
in the future may result in more disclosures, however,
the Directors do not anticipate that application of
IFRS 15 will have a material impact on the timing
and amounts of revenue recognised in the respective
reporting periods.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

2.

STAN DAR DS (“ I FRSS”) (continued)

(b) New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 will
supersede IAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

IFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled
by a customer. Distinctions of operating leases and
finance leases are removed for lessee accounting, and
is replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all
leases by lessees, except for short-term leases and
leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and

€ 28 i 1 e R 42 SRR RY R RT I
BB PR Bt 75 % 15 22 B (4
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EREEENRERAELRERIZ

subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain RS (REBEEFHINMER) B EE T
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and ENBEEETSE  BEMNHEEAERE

impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of
the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured
at the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability
is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as
the impact of lease modifications amongst others. For
the classification of cash flows, the Group currently
presents upfront prepaid lease payments for land use
rights as investing cash flows while other operating
lease payments are presented as operating cash flows.
Upon application of IFRS 16, lease payments in relation
to lease liability will be allocated into a principal and
an interest portion which will be both presented as
financing cash flows by the Group.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2.
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSS”) (continueq)

P ¥ 5] B AR A 5] Bl R B A s
A ([ ERR B B3R EZE R ) )

i Tt

(b)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Under IAS 17, the Group has already recognised an asset
for prepaid lease payments for land use rights where the
Group is a lessee. The Group’s prepaid lease payments
cover the entire lease terms of the respective land use
rights. The application of IFRS 16 may result in potential
changes in classification of these assets depending
on whether the Group presents right-of-use assets
separately or within the same line item at which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if
they were owned.

Upon application of IFRS 16, assessing whether the
transfer of the assets is a sale under sale and leaseback
transaction will be based on the requirements of IFRS
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS
16.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has non-
cancellable operating lease commitments as lessee of
RMB11,893,000 as disclosed in note 40. A preliminary
assessment indicates that these arrangements will
meet the definition of a lease under IFRS 16, upon the
application of IFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect
of all these leases unless they qualify for low value or
short-term leases.

(b)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EESIHBER

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for: (i) biological assets,
which are measured at fair value less costs to sell, and
(i) financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”), which are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are within the scope of IAS 17 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 Inventories
or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transferred at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that the results of the
valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

3.
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o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active o FHBMABEREEN:TE=BHA
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity LEEMEREEXBENERTIES
can access at the measurement date; HRE (R AE)

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including structured
entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

(i) has power over the investee;

(i) is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

(i) has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specially, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
controls until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components of
equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently whenever there is an indication
that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an
acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit,
the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit, and then to the
other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating
units). Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly
in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is
not reversed in subsequent periods.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements
of an associate used for equity accounting purposes
are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those
of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the associate. Changes
in net assets of the associate other than profit or loss and
other comprehensive income are not accounted for unless
such changes resulted in changes in ownership interest
held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an
associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes
an associate.

The requirements of IAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect
to the Group’s investment in an associate. When necessary,
the entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS
36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate and the retained interest
is a financial asset within the scope of IAS 39, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the associate
and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing the relevant interest in the associate is
included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal
of the associate.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that
are not related to the Group.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for goods sold in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described
below.

Revenue from sales of milk produced is recognised when the
milk is delivered and title has been passed.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue
from operating leases is described in the accounting policy for
leasing below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leasing

An arrangement that involves a legal form of a lease is not, in
substance, accounted for as a lease if:

° the Group retains all the risks and rewards incident
to ownership of an underlying asset and enjoys
substantially the same rights to its use as before the
arrangement;

° the primary reason for the arrangement is not to convey
the right to use an asset; and

° an option is included on terms that make its exercise
almost certain.

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring
land held under operating lease, are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Land use rights

Land use rights represent the Group’s prepaid lease
payments for leasehold interest in land. The Group assesses
the classification of the leased land as a finance lease or
an operating lease based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of the leased land have been transferred to the Group.
Based on such assessment, the Group’s land use rights are
accounted for as operating lease. Land use rights are stated
at cost and released on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms. Land use rights which are to be released in the next
twelve months or less are classified as current assets.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

In preparing the financial statements of individual entities,
transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional
currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the
end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Borrowing costs directly attributed to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing cost eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and the grants will be received.

Grants relating to biological assets

An unconditional government grant related to a biological asset
measured at its fair value less costs to sell is recognised in
profit or loss when, and only when, the government grant
becomes receivable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Government grants (continued)

Other grants

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss
on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Where government grant takes the form of a transfer of a
non-monetary asset, such as land or other resources, for the
use of the Group, the non-monetary asset and the grant are
recorded at a nominal amount.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit under
the state-managed retirement benefit schemes in the PRC
are charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contribution.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another IFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in
the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.
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China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. FE RN EZEREGR LT

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options and award shares granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
of all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve or
share award reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve
or share award reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to retained earnings.

When the award shares are vested, the amount previously
recognised in share award reserve and the amount of the
relevant treasury shares included in equity under the heading
of shares held under the share award scheme is reversed and
the differences arising from the reversal is adjusted to retained
earnings.

If a grant of equity instruments is cancelled or settled during
the vesting period (other than a grant cancelled by forfeiture
when the vesting conditions are not satisfied):

° the entity shall account for the cancellation or settlement
as an acceleration of vesting, and shall therefore
recognise immediately the amount that otherwise would
have been recognised for services received over the
remainder of the vesting period.

o any payment made to the employee on the cancellation
or settlement of the grant shall be accounted for as the
repurchase of an equity interest, i.e. as a deduction
from equity, except to the extent that the payment
exceeds the fair value of the equity instruments granted,
measured at the repurchase date. Any such excess
shall be recognised as an expense.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Income tax expenses represent the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from the amounts as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
an associate, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction in
progress) including buildings held for use in the production or
supply of goods, or for administrative purposes, are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply
or administrative purposes (classified as construction in
progress) are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment
loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified to
the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of the reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an asset individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the assets
is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEEHBEw
(continued)
Impairment on tangible assets (continued) BREERE @

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Inventories 78
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable FE TR ANE T SIS HERE R SREE
value. Cost is calculated using weighted average method. BIBE o B AN(E AR INEE I AT E o BRI

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Biological assets

The Group’s biological assets comprise dairy cows. Dairy
cows, including milkable cows, heifers and calves, are
measured on initial recognition and at the end of the reporting
period at their fair value less costs to sell, with any resulting
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss for the year in which it
arises.

The feeding costs and other related costs including staff
costs, depreciation charge, utility costs and consumables
incurred for raising of heifers and calves are capitalised, until
such time as the heifers and calves begin to produce milk.

Agricultural produce

Agricultural produce represents raw milk. Raw milk is
recognised at the point of harvest at its fair value less costs
to sell. A gain or loss arising from agricultural produce at the
point of harvest measuring at fair value less costs to sell is
included in profit or loss for the period in which it arises.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into the following
specified categories: financial assets at FVTPL, AFS financial
assets and loans and receivables. The classification depends
on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
asset is (i) held for trading or (ii) it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial assets
and is included in the “other gains and losses, net” line item.
Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 38.

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as AFS or are not classified as (a) loans and
receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial
assets at FVTPL.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of each reporting period.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including trade and other receivables, pledged
bank balances, non-pledged bank deposits and cash and
bank balances) are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate, except for short-term receivables where the recognition
of interest would be immaterial.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continuedq)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial assets, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

° breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest and principal payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments
in the portfolio past the credit period of 30 to 360 days, and
observable changes in national or local economic conditions
that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of
return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will
not be reversed in subsequent periods.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EESHBE®@®
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) E@MITAR@HE)
Financial assets (continued) ﬁﬁﬁg(ﬁ)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) ZEEEE ()

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade and other receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade and other
receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.
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For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a RIRE KA ENSREEMS » HRE
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases BHME - BEEBENSRELEIRRD  MEZ

and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset
at the date the impairment is reversed do not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continuedq)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis
other than those financial liabilities classified as at FVTPL, of
which the interest expense is included in net gains or losses.

3.

BEESITBER @)

E@IT AR

SHMEERERE)

T A

BT HEEFRAENREaGERAEEN
BEMFSESNTMELH - AREETH
BRI EERNBREERTRA RN KRS
FIBRER °

BOARAARF R T AEENER AR
REIR - FERBEAEER - hE - &
TTREHAR B ARG B s T AR K
=SB

BEFE%

ERFMZRTESRAB ENEBHRAAR
REBRPREDEMNBFRZNITE - BERAN X
DA ENEFFHI(ER) BE
HIR S At R R 2 MR (B EERERA
EARAIHBREO N — BN RE B RIE
D RRA R E MG BT ) ERERLIR
EY R REFENT X -

MERXRERNZORER - O BEREA
FEFABSNEBBERN - ZF2HA

EHYFE SR A et B HRIF AR o




China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. FE RN EZEREGR LT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %4 B iR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BE T —+F+-_A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is (i) held for trading, (i) contingent consideration that
may be paid by an acquirer as part of a business combination
to which IFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss includes any interest paid on the financial liabilities
and is included in the “other gains and losses, net” line item
except for that the net gain or loss of the Group’s interest rate
swap is recognised in “finance costs” line item. Fair value is
determined in the manner described in note 38.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, bank
and other borrowings, short-term debentures, medium-term
notes and corporate bonds are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss immediately.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continuedq)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire
or, the financial assets are transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the financial assets to another entity. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognised the financial assets
and also the associated financial liabilities.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the consideration received
and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

When the contractual terms of financial liability are modified
such that the revised terms would result in a substantial
modification from the original terms, after taking into account
all relevant facts and circumstances including qualitative
factors, such modifications is account for as derecognition
of the original financial liability and the recognition of new
financial liability. The difference between the carrying
amount of financial liability derecognised and the fair value
of consideration paid or payable, including any liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4, HETHEEHENEERR

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the Directors are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

The Group’s biological assets are measured at fair value less
costs to sell at the end of each reporting period. The Group
uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not
based on observable market data to estimate the fair value
of biological assets. For heifers and calves, the fair value is
determined based on the 14 months old heifers’ local market
selling prices and adjusted by estimated feeding costs for
heifers and calves older or younger than 14 months. For
milkable cows, the fair value is determined by using the multi-
period excess earning method with key inputs including the
discount rate, the estimated feed costs per kilogram of raw
milk, estimated average daily milk yield at each lactation
cycle and the estimated local future market price of raw milk.
Any changes in the inputs may affect the fair value of the
Group’s biological assets significantly. The carrying amount
of the Group’s biological assets as at 31 December 2017
was RMB7,751,070,000 (2016: RMB7,602,959,000). Further
details are given in notes 21 and 38.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAI NTY (continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated, which is based
on its value in use calculation. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected or when there is a
downward revision to the estimated future cash flows due to
changes in facts and circumstances, further impairment loss
may arise.

As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of goodwill
was RMB1,424,539,000 (2016: RMB1,424,539,000), net of
accumulated impairment loss of RMB111,347,000 (2016:
RMB111,347,000). Details of the recoverable amount
calculation are disclosed in note 16.

Estimated impairment of trade receivables

When there is an objective evidence of impairment loss,
the Group takes into consideration the estimation of
future cash flows. The amount of the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at original effective interest rate of
the trade receivables. Where the future cash flows are less
than expected, or being revised downward due to changes
in facts and circumstances, a further impairment loss may
arise. As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of trade
receivables was RMB897,380,000, net of allowance for
doubtful debts of RMB495,167,000 (2016: carrying amount
of RMB1,216,017,000, net of allowance for doubtful debts of
RMB1,589,000).
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4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U NCERTAI NTY (continued)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables (continued)
As disclosed in note 23, the Group discontinued its direct
cooperation with certain major distributors, following a change
in distribution channel during 2017. The Group reported trade
receivables of RMB1,069,543,000 due from these distributors
as at 31 December 2017 which had been overdue. The Group
performed an impairment assessment on such receivables
and recognised an impairment loss of RMB488,489,000 at 31
December 2017 after taking into account of the fair value of
the collaterals and the estimated repayments. Details of the
impairment assessment are set out in note 23.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the chief operating decision maker
(the “CODM?”) for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on the type of
goods delivered. No operating segment has been aggregated
in arriving at the operating and reportable segments of the
Group.

Specifically, the Group’s operating and reportable segments
under IFRS 8 Operating Segments are as follows:

o Dairy farming — breeding dairy cows to produce and sell
raw milk.

° Liquid milk products — producing and selling processed
liquid milk.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5- ﬁJ Bﬁ*ﬂ'(?ﬂﬁ)

Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities DEUA - EiE - EEREE

Inter-
Dairy  Liquid milk segment
farming products Subtotal elimination* Total

nHEE RENER Mt ABEES £
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTR ARETR ARBTR AR®TR ARWT:R

For the year ended B2-Z—tE+=R
31 December 2017 =+—-HIEE
Segment revenue AEBUA 4,399,358 664,609 5,063,967 (280,166) 4,783,801
Segment cost of sales before raw  REHA A FEFLFIH
milk fair value adjustments HEHEKA 3,031,208 604,629 3,635,837 (282,880) 3,352,957
Reportable segment profit (loss) ] £ H A& F (E18) 791,894 (727,560 64,334 2,714 67,048
Loss arising from changes in fair A A FEEEF L
value less costs to sell of HERAEERNER
dairy cows (868,337)
Share of loss of an associate FE(L— M2 A R ER (205)
Unallocated other income ROBEMUEA 898
Unallocated other gains and losses 7 7 Bt E ft i & 318 (34,372)
Unallocated expenses ROWHE (159,906)
Loss before tax BRELATEE (994,874)
As at 31 December 2017 R-Z—t&
+=A=+-H
Segment assets DEEE 14,761,917 893,749 15,655,666 (6,682) 15,648,984
Unallocated assets AOREBE 1,068,597
Consolidated assets AHEE 16,717,581
Segment liabilities NHEE 8,661,962 934,280 9,596,242 (1,027) 9,595,215
Unallocated liabilities APEBE 33,937
Consolidated liabilities EHAR 9,629,152
* Inter-segment elimination represents the elimination of sales * WEB R SHIE LA B FE D EB MR RE AN E @
of raw milk from dairy farming segment to liquid milk products A ELSHE R ELFERE R EDER B RS o
segment and related current accounts.
Segment revenue of dairy farming segment included inter- LA EBED B D FIRA BB R BELAA
segment revenue of RMB280,166,000, which are charged K #5280,166,0007T * Jhik 7L 4 &IE D S &R
at internally agreed prices with reference to the local market AL BB PS8 2 M 7 T B K PO 28
prices between dairy farming segment and liquid milk P TE (B AGULER o

products segment.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq) 5. 7HER @)
Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities AEEA - EE - BEEREE®@®
(continued)
Inter-
Dairy Liquid milk segment
farming products Subtotal elimination® Total
HHEE  REDEM N REDREEE st

RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTE ARETT ARETE ARETT ARETE

For the year ended BE-Z—E+=A

31 December 2016 =+—BLFE
Segment revenue DEHA 3,088,043 1,478,744 5,466,787 (604,476) 4,862,311
Segment cost of sales before raw  REHF A TFEFLFIR

milk fair value adjustments A EPSHERAR 2,763,230 1,099,127 3,862,357 (604,230) 3,258,127
Reportable segment profit (oss) 7] 2BRH I FI(EiE) 501,238 (355,719) 145,519 (246) 145,273

Loss arising from changes in fair ~ ZL4AFELERHILF
value less costs to sell of dairy HERAELRNEBE

COws (1,058,928
Share of loss of an associate fﬂﬂi =Nl g (1,616)
Unallocated other income DEEAMUA 10,577
Unallocated other gains and losses 7 ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂ”&ﬁn&}éﬁa 229,228
Unallocated expenses AAEAX (109,525)
Loss before tax BRERIEE (784,991)
As at 31 December 2016 RZE—RF

+=A=+—
Segment assets DEHEE 16,153,073 1,894,221 18,047,294 (942,720) 17,104,574
Unallocated assets AOBEE 704,130
Consolidated assets aHEE 17,808,704
Segment liabilties HEEE 8,847,228 1,804,468 10,651,696 (934,350) 9,717,346
Unallocated liabilities AoEEE 968,462
Consolidated liabilities BHEE 10,685,808
* Inter-segment elimination represents the elimination of sales * REB I EH B IL A R D 20 M N TR D
of raw milk from dairy farming segment to liquid milk products EmoEpEeE RN AR R E R IR
segment and related current accounts. H o
Segment revenue of dairy farming segment included inter- ;Ldié’jﬂ"*llﬁ’]"%HM\@%W*BF‘EJH&)\A
segment revenue of RMB604,476,000, which are charged R #604,476,0007T © )R FEHE S B
at internally agreed prices with reference to the local market TR AE I E & 7 B8 2 PR 22 % 1 75 T (B A
prices between dairy farming segment and liquid milk NI EERILEL o

products segment.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁlﬁl—(gﬁ)
Other segment information HibpIpER
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or HENHEMNXEBIOHLEERIT ANS
segment assets: 2E

Dairy
farming

4+ &E

RMB’000
ARBTR

Liquid milk
products
REIE M
RMB’000
AR®T T

Subtotal
N
RMB’000
ARETR

Unallocated
items
AAEER
RMB’000
ARET R

Total

st
RMB’000
ARET T

For the year ended BZE-_Z-tH+=8

31 December 2017 =+-HIEE
Additions to non-current assets  JEREIEERE (M)

(note i) 1,631,441 43,194 1,674,635 403 1,675,038
Depreciation and release of FABROTER

land use rights charged to TR FRERRRR

profit or loss 273,349 73,578 346,927 1,901 348,828
Impairment loss of trade and REREREWE S

other receivables recognised in - BE 2k % E i FEULEIE

profit or loss fREEE - 495,381 495,381 = 495,381
Marketing and promotion FTASHE R A

expenses included in seling and &N E @AY

distribution costs (note i) (P& - 92,504 92,504 = 92,504
Loss on disposal of property, HEME  BEREE

plant and equipment B E1E 7,983 311 8,294 2,974 11,268
Interest income FIEMA (819) (196) (1,015) (7,151) (8,166)
Finance costs BMERAK 322,103 6,292 328,395 - 328,395
For the year ended B2-F—~F1+=A

31 December 2016 =t+—HLEFE
Additions to non-current assets  3ERENEERE (M)

(note i) 1,790,846 87,584 1,878,430 1,527 1,879,957
Depreciation and release of STABENITER

land use rights charged to T R

profit or loss 253,960 65,261 319,221 4173 323,394
Impairment loss of trade RERHERNERE S

receivables recognised in ERRERE

profit or loss 1,589 - 1,589 - 1,589
Impairment loss on goodwill HEFEER 16,955 = 16,955 = 16,955
Impairment loss on property, 0¥ - BEREERE

plant and equipment BB 69,061 - 69,061 - 69,061
Write-down of inventories to net  FEMIRZE AT 23 FE

realisable value 9,701 - 9,701 = 9,701
Marketing and promotion FTABHE RO HEAR

expenses included in selling and &8N EER S

distribution costs (note ii (B ki) = 507,781 507,731 - 507,731
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BE KR

plant and equipment iof g 5,861 411 6,272 985 7,257
Interest income FEMA (4,786) (337) (5,123) (10,199) (15,322)
Finance costs MEKAK 339,943 28,639 368,582 - 368,582
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq) 5. 2EER @
Other segment information (continued) Hith 5 & L @)
Notes: P e

i Additions to non-current assets comprise biological assets,
property, plant and equipment, and land use rights.

ii. Marketing and promotion expenses are incurred for the
purpose of promoting the Group’s liquid milk products. The
Group underwent a reform of its distribution networks to
deal with the market competition during the year ended 31
December 2016. Since May 2017, the majority of the Group’s
liquid milk products were sold to Mengniu and its subsidiaries
(“Mengniu Group”) and no marketing activities were carried out
thereafter.

The accounting policies of the operating and reportable
segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in note 3. Segment profit or loss represents the
profit earned by or loss incurred from each segment without
including loss arising from changes in fair value less costs
to sell of dairy cows, fair value gains/losses from financial
assets and liabilities at FVTPL, share of loss of an associate,
corporate bank interest income, and other head office
and corporate income and expenses that are not directly
attributable to operating segments. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

° all assets are allocated to operating segments other
than AFS equity investment, interest in an associate,
corporate cash and bank balances, other financial assets
and other head office and corporate assets; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating and reportable
segments other than tax payable, other financial
liabilities and other head office or corporate liabilities
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Other segment information (continued)

Revenue from major products

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its
major products:

2 2B E R )

Hithp &R (@)
FEERHWRA
AEBTEERHBASTOT :

2017 2016
—E—+F ZE-RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Raw milk B 4,119,192 3,383,567
Processed liquid milk T REELD 664,609 1,478,744
4,783,801 4,862,311

Geographic information

Since all revenue from external customers is derived from
the customers located in mainland China and all of the non-
current assets are located in mainland China and all the
segments are managed on a nationwide basis because of
the similarity of the type or class of the customers and the
similarity of the regulatory environment in the whole region, no
geographic information by segment is presented.

Information about major customers

Included in revenue arising from sales of raw milk to external
customers of RMB4,119,192,000 (2016: RMB3,383,567,000)
are revenue of approximately RMB3,304,833,000 (2016:
RMB2,349,781,000) and RMB572,271,000 (2016:
RMB62,204,000) which arose from sales to customer A
and customer B. During the current year, the Group also
sold liquid milk products of RMB239,307,000 (2016: nil) to
customer A. No other single customer contributed 10% or
more to the Group’s revenue for each of the two years ended
31 December 2017.

35 & R

AR REINFFEHRATIREFEA
HMHEFBEMEERBEEHURFEA
T ATA 2B AR e R F A s kE R
RO R EBERIEMAUE MR B EE
ETER AW WEZHIES EE D a i
BH o

ERXEEFHNER
NBEFRDEEKRAARE
4,119,192,000 T (ZZE—"NF : AR%
3,383,567,0007T) BEMEFAR T FBH
EEEMRALHARES,304,833,0007T (=
T—XF : ARM2349,781,0007T) & A
R#¥572,271,000c(ZZE—RF : ARK
62,204,00070) - RAFE » REFTAE
FAH SR E S AR 239,307,000
(Z2—REFE B) - HEZZT—tF+=A
—t+—HIEMEFESFE  WEEME—F
PRAREBSEN10%aIA FKA -
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6. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER EXPENSES 6. HE#tW AR HMBEX
Other income Hag A

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZEREF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBFIT

Bank interest income HITHEHA 8,166 15,322
Government grants related to AT SR LB BATHEES |

— Biological assets (note i) — W& E (KT - 20,720

— Other assets (note 31) —HibEE(KIFE31) 17,844 21,021

— Income (note ii) — YA (Bt &) 19,714 10,238

37,558 51,979

Others Hith 6,108 2,559

51,832 69,860

Notes: Ptz -

i. These government grants are unconditional government i. ZEBT MM AN EBENE BB IPIUK
subsidies received by the Group from relevant government B E (ST MEL - S S ANEEE
bodies for the purpose of supporting the Group to purchase BIG -
dairy cows.

ii. These government grants are unconditional government i % E BT H L AR S B 1Y A B BT 8P U
subsidies received by the Group from relevant government BEES R TREL  SEAREENS
bodies for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to SEIR BN I S 4 o

the Group’s operation.
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6. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER EXPENSES 6.

(continued)

Other expenses

Hab A R E AR X @)
Hapix

2017 2016
—B—tF A
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TF R ARBTT

Loss from sales of milk powders (note) HENMEERE) 9,081 71,956
Donation expenses B > 1,733 8,456
Others Hith 9,614 13,912
20,428 94,324

Note: st -

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group dehydrated
some of its raw milk into milk powders which were intended for
feeding calves. The Group sold the milk powders to third parties,
resulting in a loss of RMB9,081,000 for the year ended 31 December
2017 (2016: RMB71,956,000), being the excess of the carrying value
of the milk powders over the proceeds received.

BE-_Z—+HF+-R=+—HILFE &%
By REDBEARSDY - HARAEE
FoARBEERBENETE=T  BHEE
TEtEF A=+ -HUEFEBEARE
9,081,000 (=& —/<XF : AR 71,956,000
Jt) - BNV REES RS FIRMER S
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7. LOSS BEFORE FINANCE COSTS AND TAX 7. RBREIEMARBIEAEE
Loss before finance costs and tax is arrived at after charging MR EK AN R IER ER TG (GTA) 5
(crediting): BIHEEBHERSD
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE-RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AREFIT
Cost of sales before raw milk fair value BRI A T EFAZRTE
adjustments SHER AR
Breeding costs to produce raw milk HEREBHDEEBER A 2,828,951 2,339,029
Production costs for liquid milk products R REY) E h Y A EE AR 524,006 919,098
3,352,957 3,258,127
Gains arising on initial recognition of raw milk FAUTERFZ AT ERHE
at fair value less cost to sell at the point of S 1 #1522 FUEH
harvest ELEfkE 1,228,046 1,116,860
4,581,003 4,374,987
Other gains and losses: H s RE1E -
Fair value gain from contingent SARREMEER
considerations (note 38) N AW S (FzE38) = (228,540)
Loss from settlement of Modified HEBERISEIRERN
Considerations (note 20) E518 (B sE20) 15,361 -
Loss (gains) from disposal/deemed HE EIEHE—M
disposal of an associate B & A AR A 1R (Uas ) 239 (1,462)
Net foreign exchange (gain) loss SN (W as ) B 1R FRE (10,199) 11,424
Loss from disposal of inventories HEFEER 5,134 -
Loss from disposal of property, HEME - HE K
plant and equipment RiEEE 11,268 7,257
Loss arising from closure of a dairy farm: FEEAPUIS E £ R EIE ¢
Impairment loss on property, W - BB MEERE
plant and equipment (note 14) EE(MiEE14) = 69,061
Write-down of inventories to net FEMBMZEEIR
realisable value FE = 9,701
- 78,762
Impairment loss of trade and other FEUE 5 B 3k B H A R W sk
receivables: EREEIE
Impairment loss on trade receivables R ZERFOBERE
(note 23) (Pff5E23) 495,271 1,589
Impairment loss on other receivables E At e IR R E R 18 110 =
495,381 1,589
Impairment loss on AFS equity investment At & IR HEIRE
(note 18) BEEEB(MFE18) 12,021 -
Impairment loss on goodwill SR SR - 16,955
Fair value loss (gain) on the foreign currency  #NE = B A (& E B (Uzs)
forward (note 19) (FFE19) 1,949 (11,236)
Gains on derecognition of financial liabilites EUHMER S B & ERUES (57) (303)
531,007 (125,554)
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7. LOSS BEFORE FINANCE COSTS AND TAX 7. BBERARBIIEAEIE @

(continued)

2017 2016
—E—+5F —E—REF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARKETTT
Depreciation of property, M - BE REEITE

plant and equipment 586,283 552,306
Less: capitalised in biological assets W EMEEEANMEERE (241,561) (233,570)
Depreciation charged to profit or loss FTABETE 344,722 318,736

Equity-settled share option expense ARG A E m BB AR R I =2
(note 33(a)) (Fff5E33(a)) 92,623 43,143
Share award expense (note 33(b)) % 15 82 B 5 2 (B9 7+ 33(0)) 14,517 =
Other employee benefits costs Hife EEFREX 478,750 449,382
Less: capitalised in biological assets B EMBEEEARN LS (113,903) (121,616)
Employee benefits charged to profit or loss 5t ABZ=HAEEEF] 471,987 370,909
Auditors’ remuneration ZE AT BN & 2,700 5,000
Release of land use rights + b {5 R RE AR 4,106 4,658




180 & China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. #EBEAKEERERA 7

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &4 B &R &K sE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &2 —Z—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BB

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZEREF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBFIT

Interest expenses on: FEBHAX :
Bank borrowings RITIE 162,453 230,012
Short-term debentures SRS 28,496 43,529
Medium-term notes hEIRE 93,675 71,624
Other borrowings HAb AR 25,588 5112
Corporate bonds NEES 47,508 5,263
Total borrowing cost EEIp Nk 357,720 355,540
Less: amounts capitalised for construction & : BEREME  HE&
of property, plant and equipment BENENr &5 (537) (3,033)
Cost of discount of bills receivable eI E B TR A 2,965 15,949
Fair value (gain) loss on interest rates swaps | &5 A F1(E (U5 ) B8 (31,753) 126
328,395 368,582
For the year ended 31 December 2017, the borrowing cost BE_Z—tH&F+_-_A=1+—"BILFE ' &
was capitalised based on the terms of the general bank A R TIR IR —RRERTTE SRV IRER
borrowings in respect of construction in progress. The BRI o —REZOIMEFLIHER LR A
weighted average capitalisation rate on general borrowings is BES46%(ZZF—RF : BF5.46%) °

5.46% per annum (2016: 5.46% per annum).
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9. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE 9. FIBH(ER)BEX

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Income tax recognised in profit or loss: RIBEENERRFTEH -
Current tax: BIEAFRIA

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax R ZERTIERT 156 504

Over provision in prior years: BEFEHBEERE
The PRC Enterprise Income Tax HR BT EE PSR (183) -
(27) 504

The tax charge represents income tax in the PRC which is
calculated at the prevailing tax rate on the taxable income of
the subsidiaries established in the PRC.

The PRC subsidiaries are subject to the PRC Enterprise
Income Tax at 25% for both years. Taxation arising in other
jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant
jurisdictions.

Dividend income of Aquitair Holdings Limited (“Aquitair”) from
Modern Farming (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Modern Farming”), a PRC
subsidiary of the Group and the holding company of other
PRC subsidiaries of the Group, is subject to Irish Income Tax
at 25%. As at 31 December 2017, the aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings
of Modern Farming was approximately RMB1,153,383,000 (31
December 2016: RMB1,562,974,000). No liability has been
recognised in respect of these differences because the Group
is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that such differences
will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.

PR R SRR P B A SZ BV Ff /B A 3] 0 FE AR
BRARBRITHEAENFBAEH -

o B P 8 2 B A R 8 6 FE 7R R 25 % M B R 48
MR BIR RSN - RMADARRELNR
BTSR AR R AR ARITHEAE -

RARERTEMBARZAEB TR
MEARIMZERATBREARKE(ER)BRA
AI(MEHERHE(EE) ) BAquitair Holdings
Limited ([ Aquitair | ) K9 i% B U A ZB#4925%
WERBRAEN RZ2FE—tF+=A
=+—H BERAKE(EER)RSIKAF
RE RSB REEA B ARY1,153,383,000
T(ZE—RF+A=+—8: AR¥
1,562,974,0007T) ° BB g% & = B IER T
RIAME « RE RN B AT ) e 2= 58 a9 18
B - Mz EE2EEN A AR e~ g
#EE o
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9.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

According to the prevailing tax rules and regulation of the
PRC, 18 subsidiaries (2016: 16 subsidiaries) of the Group are
exempted from enterprise income tax for taxable profit from
the operation of agricultural business in the PRC for the year
ended 31 December 2017.

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the
Group’s income neither arises in, nor is derived from Hong
Kong.

The tax expense for the current year can be reconciled to loss
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

FBH(ER)BEX @
BEBEFERTRBHURER  BEZZT
—+tF+ A=+ HIFEAELEEF18K
WEBAR(ZZ—RF  16RMEBLRT) R
Bl R EEBELENERTRFNER R
MISZERTSH

WE BB VAL G - RESAREER
FRWEELWATEREBEE WA -

UTRAFERAMX B Ra hEME
T e R PIRR A AT ES 1R A0 SRR

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREF T
Loss before tax BrFR AT ES 18 (994,874) (784,991)
Tax at applicable income tax rate at 25% RE RS %E25%
(2016: 25%) STEMTIR
(ZF— 7?&5'25%) (248,719) (196,248)
Effect of tax exemption granted to BRETREFGBNTE
agricultural entities (40,689) (76,682)
Effect of losses incurred for agricultural BEERELEIE &Ei\’r@
business and other non-deductible TAHMBAZHTE
expenses 249,422 121,007
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERGEEENRGETE 40,190 152,427
Utilisation of tax losses previously not AR ARERTIBEE
recognised (48) -
Over provision in respect of prior years BEFE 2 HBEERE (183) =
Income tax expense FriS stz (27) 504

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s PRC subsidiaries had
unused tax losses of RMB307,528,000 (31 December 2016:
RMB146,963,000) incurred by non-agricultural business in the
PRC. These unused tax losses as at 31 December 2017 will
expire in year 2018 to year 2022 if not utilised. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in relation to such tax losses
as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

RZEBE—+E+-FA=+—H KEEH
FENBARMTEMNEREERELEN
REABIEEE & A R 307,528,0007T
(R—ZB—RE+-A=+—HB: AR
146,963,0007T) ° W —FE—+F+ = A

=t+—BRSEAAREERRESH K
ﬂ%#:f NEE-ZT - —FFGEm e aia
T SRESERTEN M B AEREE -
H%Iﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%FLMEé
E‘_o
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 10. EERFTETHAEME
EMOLUMENTS
Details of the directors’ and the chief executives’ emoluments BEEREBITRABMEFBOT ¢
are as follows:

2017
—2-tf

Equity-

Salaries, settled
allowances share  Retirement
and  option and benefits

Directors’ benefits- share award scheme
fees in-kind expense contributions
RRELE
e 2R BRERRS RARERI
E=Hd ENEF REEX SRR ok
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR%®Tn AR%®Tn AR%®Tn AR%Tn

Executive directors WIES
Ms. Gao Lina S e - 2,412 9,656 25 12,093
Mr. Han Chunlin BEMRAE - 1,516 4,817 25 6,358
Non-executive directors FRTES
Mr. Lu Minfang (note i) & ks A (B3 - = = - -
Mr. Wen yongping (note ii) KT 5 A (B3R = = - - -
Mr. Yu Xubo (note i T 18 5 A (B =) = = - - -
Mr. Hui Chi Kin Max (note i B A (W3 - = = - -
Mr. Zhang Ping REFAE = = - - -
Mr. Sun Yugang (note iv) HEM £ () = = - - -
Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul%t &£ = = - - -
Independent non-executive BUENITESR
directors
Professor Li Shengli ZTRHANHER 200 = - - 200
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway TRERAE 208 - - - 208
Mr. Zou Fei (note i B (i) 50 s - - 50
Mr. Kang Yan FREESAE 200 - - - 200

658 3,928 14,473 50 19,109
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 10. EERFETHRAEME @)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

2016
—ERF
Salaries, Equity-
allowances settled Retirement
and share benefits
Directors’ benefits- option scheme
fees in-kind expense  contributions Total
e 2Rk EREEER RGBT
EEHe BN BRERX ATl e

RMB000 ~ RMB'000 ~ RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTR ARETT ARETE

Executive directors WTEE
Ms. Gao Lina =ERzL = 2,041 5,760 25 7,826
Mr. Han Chunlin BEMEE - 1,231 4,126 25 5,382
Mr. Sun Yugang (note iv) HEBEE (M) - 375 3,057 8 3,440
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Yu Xubo T EE - = = = =
Mr. Sun Yugang (note iv) HEBEE () = = - - -
Mr. Hui Chi Kin Max FEREE = - - - -
Mr. Wu Jingshui (note iii) REKEE (M) = = - - -
Mr. Zhang Ping (note iii) o 3 5 A (P &) = - - - -
Mr. Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul = = = - -
bt
Independent non-executive directors B JEHITEE
Professor Li Shengli R FIHR 200 - - - 200
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway FHEEE 200 - - - 200
Mr. Zou Fei BREE 200 - - - 200
Mr. Kang Yan FREESA 200 - - - 200
800 3,647 12,943 58 17,448
Ms. Gao Lina and Mr. Han Chunlin are also the chief SEMZ T REEMREENARATINTE
executives of the Company. The emoluments disclosed above THAE - FXFHEBEHITE=EMEREIE
for executive directors were for the management of the affairs RNARIEANEBEBHME @ IITEE IR
of the Company and the Group. The executive directors RN BB IR R s 2 K2 B (0 2E Bh T 2 e IR AR
were also granted share options and share awards under the REHE N2 B9 B2 B - BEPARHE ST 2] K2 I& 1) 22 Eh 5t
share option schemes and the share award scheme of the 2B ENMIEER3 -

Company. Details of the share option schemes and share
award scheme are set out in note 33.
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 10.

11.

E M 0 LU M E NTS (continued)

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

Notes:

No directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: nil).

ii. Mr. Yu Xubo and Mr. Hui Chi Kin Max, non-executive directors,
resigned from their office with effect from 29 March 2017. Mr.
Lu Minfang and Mr. Wen Yongping were appointed as non-
executive directors with effect from 29 March 2017. Mr. Zou
Fei, an independent non-executive directors, resigned from his
office with effect from 29 March 2017.

iii. Mr. Wu Jingshui, a non-executive director, resigned from his
office with effect from 22 March 2016, and Mr. Zhang Ping
was appointed as a non-executive director with effect from the
same date as a replacement of Mr. Wu Jingshui.

iv. Mr. Sun Yugang, an executive director, who resigned from his
office and was appointed as non-executive director with effect
from 1 October 2016. Mr. Sun Yugang subsequently resigned
from his office as non-executive director with effect from 29
March 2017.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 11.
Of the five individuals with the highest remuneration in the
Group, two (2016: three) are directors of the Company whose
emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 10 above.

Details of the remuneration of the remaining three (2016: two)
individuals for the year are as follows:

EERFTETHAEME @

EXFRIEILIFATERTOME ARENER
ARBEZHNREME

p

R

BHE-_ZT—tHF+-A=+—HLEE -
MEEENEIRAERECAHS (=2
—RNEFE)

i ERTEETREERFERELS -
TLEZATARRER  BEUE
ERBKFRLEE-E—LF=A= A
BREEEAFNTES - BUIFHTE
EBRELE_F—tF=A-ThBR
B -

i. JFRITESREKELEB-ZT—RF=A
Tt AR MRFELEBRBEY
RRJKELEBZERIFRTES -

v. HITEFREREER -_T-—RFTA—-
HEFRILERERFRTES - Hik
BE-_ZT—tHF=A=-TNBEEEIHR
TEERS -

TERESHMAL
AEBNEASSHMALTHOEARTY
MEEE(—T—AE  =%) HMEBE
R EXIHE10 - U TRENER=EESH
BAL(CE—AE  WR)HME S -

2017 2016
—E—t& L
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARST R ARET 5

Salaries and allowances e KoERh 3,028 1,382
Retirement benefits scheme contribution RIRER IR 69 50
Equity-settled share option expense EREEEERERS 11,000 3,913
Equity-settled share award expense RIREEE RN REIFRX 1,682 -

15,779 5,345
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11.

12.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continueq)
No remuneration was paid by the Group to the Directors or
the five highest paid individuals as inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2016:
nil).

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
Directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands
in Hong Kong Dollar (‘HK$”) is as follows:

11.

FERSHMMA @
AEFBHERNESEN AL EaTMA T
ERIENE - 1EA DN R AR [E 8 N2 1% /Y 42 B
SEAERME(ZZE—RF &) -

BABTE (87T )) SHEM BS B U T Em 3
EESEHMESABMT

2017 2016
S =

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000

2,000,001/ 7T % 2,500,000/ 7T
3,500,0018 7. E 4,000,000/ 7T

I
—

HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,0018 7% 4,500,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 6,500,001 7T % 7,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 7,000,001 7T % 7,500,000/ 7T 1 -

3 2

Certain non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees were granted share options and share awards, in
respect of their services to the Group under the share option
schemes and share award scheme of the Company. Details
of the share option schemes and share award scheme are set
out in note 33.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend (2016: nil) was paid or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company during 2017, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period.

12.

RIBARR B RORE I E S K I 22Bh T 8
ETHEFERFETRITRABNESF ME
B it HL S 7R 6 8 Y R 95 A O e v e £ 8%
B o BERRHE ST 8 AR (0 B2t B S BB
733 -

3N

Tmph—T— L FMERARTLBRK
REMAREBRM EABE(ZT—AF
m) MRS AR ERRR AR -
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13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. BREE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share RABHEHEARMSRERNEEEETIIR
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the BUATEURTE -

following data:

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZEREF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETT

Loss fE518
Loss for the purposes of basic and ARETESREARNES
diluted loss per share EEMEE (975,116) (742,103)
2017 2016
ZE—tF ZEAF
Shares Shares
B& %
Number of shares b gE]

Weighted average number of ordinary shares FRETE G BN & #5%
for the purpose of basic and diluted loss BR80T AR N I 8

per share 6,022,884,528 5,302,909,436

The number of shares adopted in the calculation of the FTEEREREBBERMNRNDEE RIKE
basic loss per share has been arrived at after eliminating the KRR EBEETEIE N RBHAR NGRS
unvested shares of the Company held under the Company’s BRHDEBEL - FEHEE_ZE—tFR %
share award scheme. The calculation of diluted loss per share —RNE+ A=+ HIEERNSREEE
for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 has not B A EH R AN 78 e K A 22 ) (4n3@
taken into account the effect of the share options and share RIMEE  JTHRBRRITELREEEEE
awards of the Company, as appropriate, since the assumed HREERD -

exercise and vesting would result in decrease in loss per
share.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. 1% - MERRERE

Motor Plantand Construction
Buildings vehicles  equipment  in progress Total

&2 RE BERRE ERIE asr

RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRE  AR®TR ARWTR ARMTR ARETR

Cost B
Balance at 1 January 2016 RZE-~E—A—BNES 4,909,023 27,143 1,897,718 163,977 6,997,861
Additions NE = 1,697 64,782 264,636 331,015
Transfer R 182,812 - 145,631 (328,443 -
Disposals e (11,859) (2,319 (59,170) - (73,342)
Balance at 31 December 2016~ M-—ZE—4F

+-A=t—BHEH 5,079,982 26,421 2,048,961 100,170 7,255,534
Additions ANE - 457 49,539 177,268 227,264
Transfer R 167,090 - 58,978 (226,068) -
Disposals HE (16,992) (4,011) (63,341) - (84,344)
Balance at 31 December 2017 MZZ—+4F

+TZA=+—HH%E 5,230,080 22,867 2,094,137 51,370 7,398,454
Accumulated depreciation BitiE
Balance at 1 January 2016 RZZE—A"F-A—BHEH (993,801) (9,697) (574,838) - (1,578,336)
Charge for the year ERFX (324,355 (2313 (225,638) - (552,306)
Eliminated on disposals of assets 1 & & &4 5,354 1,993 54,480 - 61,827
Balance at 31 December 2016~ MZZ—"4F

+-R=1—-RBt&Es (1,312,802) (10,017) (745,996) - (2,068,815)
Charge for the year FRRY (314,747) (1,752) (269,784) - (586,283)
Eliminated on disposals of assets {1 & & &l 8,591 3,383 48,952 - 60,926
Balance at 31 December 2017 WZZE—+4F

+ZA=1+—HHEe (1,618,958) (8,386) (966,828) - (2,594,172)
Impairment HE
Balance at 1 January 2016 R E-A—BNEH (41,528) (15) (1,085) - (42,628)
Charge for the year FRAY (62,652) (99) (6,310) = (69,061)
Balance at 31 December 2016~ MZ—ZE—4F

+-B=t-BHER (104,180) (114) (7,395) - (111,689)
Eliminated on disposal HEM 4,163 32 1,948 - 6,143
Balance at 31 December 2017 MZZE—+4F

+ZA=t—-BHER (100,017) 82) (5,447) - (105,546)
Carrying amounts FEE
Balance at 31 December 2017~ MZZE—+4F

+-A=t—HBHEH 3,511,105 14,399 1,121,862 51,370 4,698,736

Balance at 31 December 2016 RMZZE—7<F
+-A=1—-BW&Es 3,663,000 16,290 1,295,570 100,170 5,075,030
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ2 —Z—+tF+-A=+—HILFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% BERRE@®

(continued)

Certain of the Group’s buildings, plant and equipment with
an aggregate carrying amount of RMB93,877,000 (2016:
RMB107,782,000) have been pledged as security for other
borrowings (note 30) of the Group. At 31 December 2016,
buildings, plant and equipment with an aggregate carrying
amount of RMB133,734,000 have been pledged as security
for bank borrowings (note 26) of the Group.

Depreciation is charged using straight-line method over the
expected useful life, after taking into account its estimated
residual value, at the following rates per annum:

Buildings
Motor vehicles
Plant and equipment

Impairment losses recognised

Since November 2014, the Group’s operation of Modern
Farming (Tongshan) Co., Ltd (“Tongshan Farm”) was
suspended. In 2016, the management of the Company
determined that the operation of Tongshan Farm would not
be resumed in the foreseeable future. Management of the
Group carried out an impairment review of the recoverable
amount of property, plant and equipment in Tongshan Farm
and recognised impairment for property, plant and equipment
of Tongshan Farm and recorded impairment loss of
RMB69,061,000 in other gains and losses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2016.

AEBRMERREARK3,877,0007T (=
T —XE: AR¥107,782,0007T) & T
BF - ERERECDERBIERERASEEM
BR(HEE30) c R=ZE—R"F+-_A=+—
H - BRMEEBTEAAR133,734,0007TH
BF - E KRB RPIERRASERT
ER(MI5E26) °

FERBHA ERAFHAL A REGF RIS
EBERERBERER THIFEHEHEE -

[ 4.75%-9.50%
e 19.00%
R = K A% A 9.50%-19.00%

ERRBEER

BE-Z-OFE+—A% ARERKKE
(BLOBERAR(TRILBIS ] EEES -
“T-RE - ARFEEBREB BN
AEERRTEREEE - ARAEEEY
BILUBSNME - BE RREN KD S5
EITRER - YEBLKENME - BFE
MRiEHRARE  REE-ZT—RF+_-A
=t -RULEFEFEBEIAEMEEKER
MEMKSEMEETREREERARE
69,061,0007T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 &2 —Z—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE

15. LAND USE RIGHTS

15. L i fiE FARE

RMB’000
ARETT

Balance at 1 January 2016 RZE—R"E— A — B8 124,365
Addition NE 10,984
Release to profit or loss g = Fa (4,658)
Balance at 31 December 2016 RZE—R"F+A=+—A0N&E% 130,691
Addition INE 3523
Release to profit or loss G (4,100)
Balance at 31 December 2017 RN-E—+FE+-_A=1+—HH&EH 129,908
2017 2016
—E—+5 —T—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREEF T
Analysed for reporting purpose as: E/HTAT -
- Current assets —RBEE 4,106 4,012
- Non-current assets —ERBEE 125,802 126,679
129,908 130,691

IR B i TR A E R - A
B+ AR F20E504 ©

The amount represents the prepaid lease payments for land
use rights situated in the PRC. The leasehold interests in land
have lease terms ranging from 20 to 50 years.

RZB—+F+_A=+—H XEEWE
METRTEFEPEM L HERE( S
—7N4F - AR¥9,433,0007T) °

At 31 December 2017, no land use rights was pledged for
certain bank borrowings of the Group (2016: RMB9,433,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 2 T —+F+_-_A=+—HIFE

16. GOODWILL 16. &

2017 2016
—E—+tF —ZT—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AREFTT

Cost AR
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—-BEkt+t-A=+—H 1,535,886 1,535,886

Impairment VENIEL
At 1 January Hn—A—H (111,347) (94,392)
Impairment loss recognised in the year FRERRREBE = (16,955)
At 31 December R+ZH=+—A” (111,347) (111,347)

Carrying values REE

At 31 December wW+—_BA=+—H 1,424,539 1,424,539

The Group’s goodwill of RMB310,426,000 arose from
acquisition of Modern Farming in 2009 (the “2009 Goodwill”).
Accordingly, for the purposes of impairment testing, the 2009
Goodwill has been allocated to the dairy farming business of
Modern Farming and its subsidiaries at the point of acquisition
which are groups of cash-generating units engaged in
dairy farming operations (the “Modern Farming CGU”) and
represent the lowest level within the Group at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

The recoverable amount of the Modern Farming CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets of five years approved by the management and
discount rate of 12.7% (2016: 13.0%). Cash flows beyond
the budgeted period are extrapolated using a 2.50% (2016:
2.50%) growth rate. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculation related to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows
which include budgeted sales and operating expenses. Such
assumptions are based on the unit’s past performance and
management’s expectations for the market development.
Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of the Modern Farming CGU to exceed the
aggregate recoverable amount of the Modern Farming CGU.
No impairment loss was recognised for the year ended 31
December 2017 (2016: nil).

Zﬁ‘i@mﬁﬁéﬁ > 58 4 A R #310,426,0007T
AR ZZETNFWHEBRRBE(KE)MESE
([ZZZNFEE]) - Bt - ErTRER
B —EENFEERARAHERERK
BRACENTEBEEBNRSELEMNMA
AIMM B AR ([BRMERCEEEMN]H
M BEXR  TARNEBRRRIEIEE
R BSYE P B AR ©

RARKRERSEAEMA ARG S EIZRE
Jﬂﬁfﬂﬁ?ﬁm WA ER B EN TS
HAKE  RARSREWAEL - 8538
$7,%12.7%(_7 NI 18.0%) - TBEH
BIANIR @R EFEH2.50%( ZF—/<F
250% ) )MIEREEE - TEFRAEABENE
HEBRESREBRESFAFH(BIEH
EMRERTBE)NHRT - Z5BIDNE
RZBMHATRAREEEEMSEEN
B - BEEERA  ZEBRIAIEELEMNT
MEESH T EBIRNRERCELEM
MEREERBE KO SEMERE - HEZ
T—+F+ - A=+—RB It FETEREDR
EEB(ZE—XRF: &)
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HiEZ=F

16.

—tFE+-A=T-ALEE

GOODWILL (continued)

The Group's goodwill of RMB1,225,460,000 arose from
acquisition of the Asia Dairy Holdings and Asia Dairy
Holdings Il (the “ADH Companies”) in 2015 (the “2015
Goodwill”). For the purposes of impairment testing, the 2015
Goodwill has been allocated to the ADH Companies which
are groups of cash-generating units engaged in dairy farming

16.

BEm)

REERNSESTEAARE1,225,460,0007T
A =T — A F Y Asia Dairy Holdings &
Asia Dairy Holdings II([ 52 ZADHRA ] |) &
E((ZZT—RFHE]) #TRERRE -
“E-RFEHBBAZIADHAR] - HAK
EMEEBEBNIRSELBEMAR([ADH

operations (the “ADH CGU”) and represent the lowest level REEESEN]) WAREERGEABERE
within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for B ESIE R B A HEKFE o

internal management purposes.

The recoverable amount of the ADH CGU has been ADHIR € E 4 B /) ] Y Bl & RE 3% FR (F A

determined based on a value in use calculation. That

BEEBT  UUAKEEBIENTIFHHEE

calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial G AaKE  ERBRESARETEAEL - BRI X
budgets of five years approved by the management and B12.7%(ZZF—RF : 13.0%) - HEHR
discount rate of 12.7% (2016: 13.0%). Cash flows beyond AN & mEF A2.50% (—ZF—/NF
the budgeted period are extrapolated using a 2.50% (2016: 250%)MIEREEE - HEFHABEENE

2.50%) growth rate. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculation related to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows
which include budgeted sales and operating expenses. Such
assumptions are based on the unit’s past performance and
management’s expectations for the market development. The
management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate

{@IE{EJ*“,%/F&;‘Hﬁi,m]\/”lbtlj(@?ﬁﬁé}
ENREFTEE) O - RERRIDE
REEMHUERTAREEBETSERD
BH - EBERR  REBRAIEKLELED
THEEEHTEEHADHE CEL B
MAEREEBRA WD EAERE - BE
T +tF+ A=+ —BIEFEILER

carrying amount of the ADH CGU to exceed the aggregate AMEEBE(ZZE—NFE  REBBARK
recoverable amount of the ADH CGU. No impairment loss 16,955,0007T) °
was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016:
impairment loss of RMB16,955,000).
17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 17. A—RBE QR
Details of the Group’s interest in an associate are as follows: AEER B2 A RSB IT
Place of Proportion of
Name of company establishment Registered capital ownership interest Principal activities
RAER 3 R HRERENLLA IEEH
As at Asat
31 December 31 December 2016
2017 2016 %
“E-tf FF e N3
= HE ] T-A=t-H %
Modern Farming (Anhui) Ecommerce PRC RMB10,000,000 RMB10,000,000 N/A 45 Sales of mik online
Co., Ltd. (*MF Ecommerce’) hE AR%10,000,0007T  AK%10,000,00070 TER BEHED

ARUE(ZRETEBERAA
(RREEETER])
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ2 —Z—+tF+-A=+—HILFE

17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continueq) 17. R—EBE QA RERE @

The Group and two non-related individuals established RZE—RF » NEEERA IR E AKX
MF Ecommerce in 2016. The Group made cash capital VEHEAKESIFRHE AEEBNUESHFAH
contribution of RMB1,920,000, which accounted for 45% & ARYA1,920,0007T F HHERBRBES
equity interests in MF Ecommerce. MF Ecommerce was FREREH46%E - RRMESFRABAR
accounted for as an associate. In May 2017, MF Ecommerce Y EES AT c RZZE—+FRA  BRAK
was liquidated and deregistered. X BT EE R -

The summarised financial information in respect of the MF HRAMEEFEHENTBERBESE S0
Ecommerce is set out as below. e

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZEREF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETT

Current assets MENEE N/A T~EA 4,267
Non-current assets FERBEE N/A TEA -
Current liabilities mENEE N/A FE R (73)
Non-current liabilities JEMBAE N/A FEA -
Revenue WA 976 -
Loss and total comprehensive FREERE2ER Y BE

expense for the year (455) (73)

Dividend = - —
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17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continueq) 17. R—REBE AT ER @
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information B RSB R B BN S B SRR ERAR
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate REEE N RS R E SR

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2017 2016
—E—+tF —ZE-RF

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARETT

Net assets of the associate BE AR FEE N/A RE A 4,194
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEBRBERKREE FEB
interest in MF Ecommerce R R L) N/A RiE A 45%
Carrying amount of the Group’s AEBRBERKREETES
interest 